IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Retrospective Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

2001

The relationship between parental educational level and academic success of college freshmen

Yasan Gooding Iowa State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd Part of the <u>Educational Psychology Commons</u>, <u>Family, Life Course</u>, and <u>Society Commons</u>, and the <u>Higher Education and Teaching Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Gooding, Yasan, "The relationship between parental educational level and academic success of college freshmen " (2001). *Retrospective Theses and Dissertations*. 429. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd/429

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Retrospective Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digrep@iastate.edu.



INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality $6^{"} \times 9^{"}$ black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

Bell & Howell Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UM®

·

The relationship between parental educational level and

academic success of college freshmen

by

Yasan Gooding

A dissertation submitted to the graduate faculty in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major: Education (Higher Education)

Major Professors: George A. Jackson and Daniel C. Robinson

Iowa State University

Ames, Iowa

UMI Number: 3003243

UMI®

UMI Microform 3003243

Copyright 2001 by Bell & Howell Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. This microform edition is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

> Bell & Howell Information and Learning Company 300 North Zeeb Road P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

Graduate College

Iowa State University

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation of

Yasan Gooding

has met the dissertation requirements of Iowa State University

Signature was redacted for privacy.

Co-Majer Professor

Signature was redacted for privacy.

Co-Major Professor

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Major Program

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Graduate College

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	v
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
ABSTRACT	vii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION Statement of the Problem Purpose of the Study Objectives Hypotheses Significance of the Study Population Sample The CIRP Questionnaire Assumptions Limitations Definition of Terms	1 5 6 7 8 9 9 10 11 12
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW Parental Educational Attainment and Student Academic Achievement Parental Influence and Student Achievement Family Structure and Academic Achievement Socioeconomic Status and Family Structure Socioeconomic Status and Student Development Socioeconomic Status and Cognitive Development Socioeconomic Status and Academic Achievement Blacks, Socioeconomic Status, and Academic Achievement Non-Black Minorities, Socioeconomic Status, and Academic Achievement Internationals, Socioeconomic Status, and Academic Achievement Socioeconomic Status, Other Influences, and Academic Achievement	14 14 26 33 49 60 61 62 96 98 98 98
CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY Introduction Population of the Study Cooperative Institutional Research Program (CIRP)	103 103 103 104
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS Hypotheses Data Analysis	107 108 108

.

Analysis of variance	112
Grade point average	112
ACT scores	113
Income range	115
Findings	117
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	120
Discussion	120
ANOVA	120
Crosstabulation	124
Conclusion	125
Implications of the Study	125
Recommendations for Practice and Further Research	129
APPENDIX: COOPERATIVE INSTITUTIONAL RESEARCH PROGRAM QUESTIONNAIRE	(CIRP) 131
REFERENCES	136
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	156

·

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Mean, standard deviation, and minimum and maximum values for parents' education levels and the dependent variables	109
Table 2.	ANOVA for grade point average	113
Table 3.	ANOVA for ACT score	114
Table 4.	ANOVA for income range	115
Table 5.	Crosstabulation for parent educational attainment and marital status	116

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Parental educational level and student grade point average	121
Figure 2.	Student ACT scores and parental educational level	123
Figure 3.	Parental educational level and income	124

ABSTRACT

This study determined the difference in the level of academic potential/achievement across five populations of freshmen during an academic school year at Iowa State University. It examined students whose parents' highest education was: (1) high school diploma, (2) one or two years of college, (3) two-year associate or technical degree, (4) four-year degree, and (5) graduate or professional degree. Other factors that might impinge on student academic achievement are: poverty, socioeconomic status, and family structure/or marital status. The study investigated whether students whose parents attained higher levels of education beyond the high school diploma were more successful academically than students whose parents did not.

Eleven factors were used to analyze the relationship between parent educational level, and student academic achievement and performance. The findings of the study indicated that parent educational level, family structure/marital status, and income range have a positive influence on their student's academic potential and achievement. Students whose parents had higher educational levels performed higher on standardized tests than parents with lower educational levels. The results from this research showed that socioeconomic factors weigh heavily on the potential and academic achievement of first-time freshmen at lowa State University.

Vİİ

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

Summer is ending, and students A and B are recent high school graduates who are preparing to attend the same university. These prospective freshmen may be considered equal as they plan for higher education, but are they?

Student A's parents did not attend college. While getting their daughter ready for school they are not sure how or what to pack. They search through the university's admission packet for a list of clothes, toiletries and school supplies. When everything is purchased, the family still feels apprehensive because they have no idea about what to expect in a college environment in terms of academic requirements and the different student support services available to their daughter. They have no previous experience and there is no measure because their child will be the first person in their family to attend college. She will be a first generation college student.

On the other hand, student B's parents attended college. Upon acceptance to the university, they buy her a footlocker and pack it with books about study methods, prepaid phone cards, microwave meals, towels and sheets—items they know she will need. They even buy a computer with an e-mail account, a mini refrigerator and microwave. In addition, they open a local checking account in which they can deposit money when she needs it. Their child may have an advantage over the first generation student.

This study compared the potential success of these hypothetical students. Does a parent's previous college experience or educational attainment have a correlation to the academic success or grade-point average of their children who attend college?

The United States presents many dynamics of family development that take place based on cultural background, environment, and ethnicity, income and parents' educational attainment. Because backgrounds vary to a large degree across families, our nation's educational system—primary, secondary, and postsecondary—faces many unique challenges as it commits to providing equal opportunities to all students regardless of race, ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, or origin. These factors will heavily impact a student's educational opportunities.

Today, there are approximately 4 million babies born each year in the United States. One out of eight will be born to a teenage mother, one out of four will be born to a mother with less than a high school diploma, and nearly one out of three will have parents who live in poverty. In addition, one out of four will have an unmarried mother. These factors are linked in one way or another to children who experience problems while attending school, such as repeating a grade, requiring special education services, being suspended, or dropping out of school.

If one pays close attention to the demographics of families across the U.S., it is apparent that students from racial/ethnic minority backgrounds and lower socioeconomic levels are more at risk than white and upper-class students, and the numbers are increasing. Since the 1960s, researchers have attributed a correlation

between the educational disadvantage of minority students to a combination of outof-school factors. Those factors center on family characteristics, such as poverty and parents' education. One cannot begin to examine this topic without involving socioeconomic variables such as income, education, and the structure of the family unit. This study took an introspective look at these variables and how they impact students' academic performance.

It is crucial to understand several components of the family structure when determining the likelihood of academic success of students. Social factors that involve race, ethnicity, English proficiency, family income, parental education, and family are significant when it comes to educational opportunity and access to it. Other contributors to college student success include preschool and primary-level education. In addition, incidents of early childhood academic and behavioral problems, or the level of student achievement, dropping out of school, or completing high school and going on to college are each associated with social background factors. Because these factors are interrelated they cannot be overlooked when attempting to determine the relationship between any of the factors and education. Research indicates that when elements such as family structure, size, and parents' educational level are controlled, the variation in student academic performance disappears (Young & Smith, 1997).

Based on current studies, children of well-educated parents perform, on average, perform better on academic assessment tests than children of high schooleducated parents. In 1994, 13- and 17-year-olds whose parents had at least one or

more years of college had higher math and science proficiency scores than those whose parents did not finish high school (Young & Smith, 1997). In the same study, parents' educational attainment was positively related to reading and writing scores as well.

A discussion of parental educational attainment cannot take place without considering family income levels. Keeping these factors separate is difficult because both are used as proxies for socioeconomic indicators. However, the factors can also be studied independently of one another. For example, parents' educational attainment is independent of income because parents' level of education may influence the value that parents place on education, which could, in turn, influence their children's educational goals (Young & Smith, 1997).

According to Young and Smith (1997), since the 1970s the average educational level of parents has been increasing. This is an indication that there is a change in the family's ability to support and encourage education for their children. For example, recent statistics show the percentage of fathers with less than a high school education decreased from 43% in 1970 to 19% in 1990. During the same 20-year period, the percentage of students' fathers with a bachelor's degree or higher increased from 13% to 23%. The percentage of mothers with less than a high school diploma decreased from 38% to 17% between 1970 and 1990, while the percentage with a bachelor's degree or higher doubled. This increase had an impact on student academic achievement.

Young and Smith (1997) also found that on family characteristics and test scores parents' education was the family characteristic most closely related to student achievement. Despite an increase in the average highest education level, Black and Hispanic children remain less likely than White children to have parents who graduated from college. In 1995, 16% of Black and 27% of Hispanic children aged 3-5 had parents who had not finished high school, compared to 4% of their White counterparts.

Statement of the Problem

The purpose of this study was to discover the influences of parental educational levels on students' ACT scores, cumulative grade point averages, and parental income levels. The study was conducted to gain an understanding of the impact that different parental educational levels have on the three dependent variables. In addition to adding new literature to the field, it was expected that this study would spark more interest in how parent-student dynamics heavily influence student academic achievement.

Past research has shown clearly that parental possession of a college degree leads to higher incomes, higher educational attainment, and a choice of more selective colleges for their children (Gruca et al., 1989). It is hypothesized that student-parent dynamics are important to the success of a child's academic career in college. Currently, few studies specifically address the relationship between parental educational attainment and student academic achievement. Few retention

programs could ever substitute for a parent's influence on the likelihood of student retention. Parental educational level, parental marital status, and parents' socioeconomic levels affect students academically.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of the study was to examine the effects of distal variables (i.e., parental educational attainment, parental influence, achievement and socioeconomic status, poverty and achievement, and family structure), and proximal variables (i.e., home environment and parent-child interaction) on the academic achievement of freshmen students. Two other factors that might impinge on students' academic achievement were also examined: poverty and socioeconomic status. Specifically, the study was conducted to determine the difference in the level of academic achievement across five populations of freshmen during the 1998-1999 academic school year at Iowa State University. Students were categorized into five groups based on whether their parents possessed: (1) a high school diploma, (2) one or two years of college, (3) a two-year associates or technical degree, (4) a four-year degree, and (5) a graduate or professional degree.

Objectives

The objectives were to:

 Determine the level of academic achievement among freshmen, measured by their cumulative grade point average in an academic school year, compared to others.

- 2. Examine the percentage of freshmen whose parents either earned a high school diploma, attended college or technical school, or studied toward a graduate degree.
- Determine whether students whose parents attended college are more successful academically than students whose parents did not graduate from college.
- 4. Provide a demographic description of the freshmen subjects studied.
- Determine whether poverty, socioeconomic status, and family structure have an impact on the academic achievement of freshmen students at Iowa State University.

Hypotheses

The following hypotheses were formulated for the study:

- 1. Students whose parents obtain higher educational attainment past high school will earn a higher cumulative grade point average their first academic year than students whose parents obtained only a high school diploma.
- Students whose parents obtain higher educational attainment past high school will score higher on the ACT/SAT than students whose parents only attended high school without earning a diploma.
- Students whose parents have higher incomes will achieve a higher cumulative grade point average than will students whose parents who have lower incomes.

 Students who have both parents in the household will have greater achievement than students from single-parent homes.

Significance of the Study

This study has potential value to the field of higher education. Because there has been limited research on the impact of parental educational level on student success, the study sought to:

- Provide a measurement of academic success and insights into parent and student relationships.
- 2. Determine whether the educational level of parents is a significant factor in the academic success of students. If students whose parents had earned only a high school diploma achieved academic advances as great as students whose parents attended college, this would indicate that the parents' educational level would not be a factor in students' academic performance.
- 3. Indicate the role that poverty, socioeconomic level, and family structure play in the categories in which each student is classified.
- 4. Indicate how poverty, socioeconomic status, and family structure impact students' academic achievement at Iowa State University.

Population

The population of the study was comprised of 1,784 first-time freshmen who were accepted and enrolled at Iowa State University (ISU) in 1998-1999. Iowa

State University is a Big 12, Research Comprehensive University, located in Ames, lowa, in the Midwestern region of the United States. Ames is a predominantly White, middle-class, college town with a population of nearly 50,000, including lowa State University with a student population of over 25,000.

The participants in the study were classified into five distinct categories based on whether their parents received or completed: (1) a high school diploma or its equivalent; (2) one or two years of college; (3) an associate or two-year degree; (4) a four-year degree; and (5) a post-graduate or professional degree.

Sample

The sample of the study was comprised of 1,784 (48%) out of a total of 3,733 freshmen who enrolled for the 1998-1999 academic year at Iowa State University according to the Office of the Registrar's records and voluntarily completed the 1998 Cooperative Institutional Research Program (CIRP) Questionnaire administered in this study. Each student was classified into one of five groups based on his or her responses on the CIRP Questionnaire for the 1998-1999 academic school year.

The CIRP Questionnaire

The Cooperative Institutional Research Program (CIRP) Questionnaire is a widely-used instrument that has been determined to be appropriate for students in all institutions (Office of Institutional Research, 1998). The four-page survey instrument covers a broad array of issues:

• demographic characteristics;

- secondary school experiences;
- college finances;
- orientation toward college;
- expectations of the college experience;
- degree goals and career plans; and
- attitudes, values, and life goals.

The instrument repeats items from previous years to help institutions assess changes in the characteristics, attitudes, values, and aspirations of entering freshmen. At the same time, the freshman survey is revised annually to reflect the changing needs of institutional participants. Moreover, the survey form provides space for participating colleges to add up to 15 local option items to those that already appear on the guestionnaire.

Assumptions

The following assumptions were made concerning this study:

- The population would yield a fair representation of parents in each educational category (high school diploma; one to two years of college; associate, or two-year, degrees; four-year degree; and post, or professional, degree).
- Students accurately reported their parents' highest education completion level.
- Students answered the items on the questionnaire accurately, knowing that they would remain anonymous.

- 4. All information obtained from the Office of Institutional Research, the Office of the Registrar, and the Office of Admissions is correctly identified with the population of the study.
- 5. The parent with the highest level of education will be used in determining the classification category of the participant.

Limitations

Participants in the study remained anonymous due to the sensitive nature of data requested, such as the SAT/ACT scores, CIRP questionnaire responses, and personal expectations of first-year academic performance. It was necessary to rely on statistical data gathered from existing sources such as the university's institutional research, registrars, and admissions offices for accurate data.

Obtaining data by any other means would jeopardize the validity of the study and its findings. Information that students are required to supply when admitted tends to be more accurate and truthful than traditional interviewing techniques. Students' academic achievement was based solely on the results of standardized SAT/ACT examinations and students' cumulative grade point averages. However, grade-point averages and standardized tests are not always representative of the student's true ability because these tests do not measure non-cognitive and environmental factors that may contribute to achievement.

The results of the CIRP questionnaire from Iowa State University's Institutional Research Office are vitally important because students are grouped into this study's five categories based on students' responses. There are two questions students must answer to be classified: (1) What is the highest grade level completed by your mother? and (2) What is the highest grade level completed by your father? Other questions that are crucial to understanding the non-cognitive factors of academic achievement are: estimated income levels of parents, martial status of parents, race, and father's and mother's occupation. It is important that each student answers the first three questions regarding parents' educational level. If these questions are not answered, the students cannot be classified into a group for further analysis. Reasons why questions may not be answered include the following: students inadvertently may skip the question; the student is a non-traditional student, or the student does not know the highest grade level of completion for both parents. Other questions that are not answered will be handled accordingly, and adjustments will be made to the number of responses.

Definition of Terms

The following terms were defined for use in the study: *Academic achievement:* The cumulative grade point average (GPA) made during the 1998 fall semester and the 1999 spring semester based on a 4.0 grade-pointaverage system.

First generation: Students whose parents never earned a post-secondary degree. *Microsystems:* The inclusion of all the environmental factors that influence an entity, in this case, the student and the familial process (i.e., father, mother, relatives,

relationships between and among members of the immediate as well as the total family, the environment, and so on).

Parental educational attainment: The highest grade level completed by parents,

measured from high school to professional school.

CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

This study focused on parental educational attainment and student academic success. The literature review is divided into eleven sections that address factors related to parental and student relationships: (1) Parental Education Attainment and Student Academic Achievement; (2) Parental Influence and Student Achievement; (3) Family Structure and Academic Achievement; (4) Socioeconomic Status and Family Structure; (5) Socioeconomic Status and Student Development; (6) Socioeconomic Status and Cognitive Development; (7) Socioeconomic Status and Academic Achievement; (8) Blacks, Socioeconomic Status, and Academic Achievement; (9) Non-Black Minorities, Socioeconomic Status, and Academic Achievement; (10) Internationals, Socioeconomic Status, and Academic Achievement; and (11) Socioeconomic Status, Other Influences, and Academic Achievement.

Parental Educational Attainment and Student Academic Achievement

Dornbusch, Ritter, Leiderman, Roberts, and Fraleigh (1987) purport that parental education level affects parenting style which, in turn, affects children's academic success. Dornbrusch et al. added that families with higher educational levels are likely to be more permissive and less strict in parenting. According to Mullis and Jenkins (1990) and White (1982), parental education shows a strong correlation to students' academic achievement.

Other researchers have debated the correlation of parents' educational attainment and students' academic achievement. DeBaryshe, Patterson, and Capaldi (1993) argued that parental education is directly related to styles of parenting and not student's academic performance. In their study, parents with lower educational attainment used coercive strategies for discipline which, in turn, predisposed their children to antisocial and abnormal behaviors. Such children performed poorly in the lower grades (DeBaryshe et al.).

Melby and Conger (1996) found that a mother's and father's educational attainment link positively to parenting and adolescents' academic performance. Stevenson and Baker (1987) reported that well-educated mothers who have a predisposition to information about school are more likely than less educated mothers to discuss their child's school performance. The same study showed that well-educated mothers' expectation levels are higher and they have more demands of academic achievement for their children.

Smith (1989) examined the difference between paternal and maternal influence on students' academic performance and educational goals, and concluded that 6th, 8th, 10th grade students were greatly impacted by parental educational attainment. A parent's educational level influenced the realistic expectation and the ideal educational aspiration of the student. The results of this study found that paternal education had an effect only on students' educational expectation.

Other studies indicate that a father's educational attainment has a direct bearing on children and a mother's attainment has an indirect effect. Oh-Hwang

(1994) found that fathers' educational attainment levels had a significant relationship with intelligence and achievement scores in American and Korean samples. Other significant results were that fathers who had higher educational levels had children who were more intelligent and higher achievers. Conclusions drawn from the study were that high levels of achievement are indicators for children who had highly educated fathers. On the other hand, mothers' educational levels were not as influential to students' academic achievement. In fact, the results indicated that mothers' educational attainment levels did not affect students' academic achievement. On the other hand, the educational attainment indirectly affected the psychosocial maturity of adolescents and children of American and Korean samples. Well-educated mothers were more involved in their children's activities, and their involvement led their students to be more self-reliant.

Although Oh-Hwang's (1994) cross-cultural study found that mothers' educational attainment levels did not have an impact on student academic achievement, educational attainment indirectly affected the psychosocial maturity of the student, which in turn determined levels of achievement. Parents who attended college had children who also attended college.

In a study of nearly 25,000 8th graders, Lee and Peng (1994) found that students whose parents only attained high school diplomas where five times more likely than their peers to drop out of high school by the 10th grade. Authors such as Hudson (1991), and Staats, Bowman, and York-Anderson (1991) noted that the influence of parental education and income has an impact on the college experience

of their children. Parents who have college degrees tend to have higher incomes and higher educational attainment, and their children attend selective colleges more frequently than their first-generation college peers. Hudson (1991) and Staats et al. (1991) agree that parental educational attainment has long-term influences on student educational attainment. Students whose parents have degrees are often predisposed to environments of academic preparation and achievement which reinforce the retention of first-year college students. The studies by Hudson (1991) and Staats et al. (1991) also revealed that first-year academic performance is closely related to academic preparation, whereas retention to graduation is associated with friends and family.

Parental education also affects standardized test scores. According to The College Board (1992), Standard Aptitude Test (SAT) scores are strongly linked to parental educational levels. The results of this study indicated that the higher the academic degree earned by parents, the higher the students' test scores. Other findings revealed the correlation between family income and test scores. Those students from families with high incomes and high educational attainment had the highest SAT scores.

Gruca et al. (1989) and MacDermott et al. (1987) noted that first-generation college students were likely to choose less selective colleges. Thus, the current researcher concludes that, because first-generation college students do not have parental collegiate experience to help them, either in preparing for college or in preparing for the academic challenges that lie ahead during their college career,

they are not as likely to succeed. If universities are serious about meeting the needs of first-generation college students, they must probe what differentiates first-generation college students from second-generation college students. Research should be conducted to determine the differences in their academic preparation, aspirations, and first-year academic performance when compared with other college freshmen.

A study was conducted by Riehl (1994) at Indiana State University to determine the academic preparation, aspirations, and academic achievement of first-year college students. As a result of this study, six null hypotheses were formulated:

- 1. There is no significant difference in the mean SAT scores of first generation students and the mean SAT scores of other freshmen;
- 2. There is no significance in the mean high school class rank of first-generation students and the mean high school class rank of other freshmen;
- 3. There is no significant difference in the self-prediction of first-generation college students and the academic degree aspiration of other freshmen; and
- 4. There is no significant difference in the freshman-year academic performance of first generation students and the academic performance of other freshmen.

The population sample in Riehl's (1994) study consisted of 2,190 freshmen who participated in the fall 1992 New Student Advisement and Registration Program at Indiana State University. It represented 93% of the entering freshmen class who were identified through responses to a questionnaire. Question 19 on the Student Information Questionnaire prompted students to answer the highest educational level for each parent. Of the 2,190 students, 774 responded that neither parent had attended college. The questionnaire also included questions regarding family background, choice of college, and college plans. By using a method known as the static group comparisons design, the study grouped first-generation college students with others based on a series of responses.

Academic achievement and performance was measured by comparing the statistics of first semester dropouts, first semester grade point averages, and those students returning for the second year. Group differences in mean test scores, grade point averages, and class ranks were measured using two-tailed, pooled t-tests and chi-square analysis. Based on the results of the study, five of the six null hypotheses were rejected. There were obvious differences in the means of SAT scores, grade point averages and class ranks between first-generation college students had significantly lower SAT scores and high school and first-semester college grades. There were no significant differences in high school rank. Based on these results, first-generation students were found to have significantly lower test scores and grade point averages than students whose families had at least one parent who attended college (Riehl, 1994).

Prior research indicated that first-generation college students have weaker academic preparation and lower degree aspiration. Riehl's (1994) study validates and supports the literature in the field. Thus, it is not surprising to note that first

generation college students in Riehl's study were also less successful academically during their first semester of college. Programs are currently being designed to help first-generation students with special needs such as advising, study skills, and orientation programs. Thus, the current researcher concludes that it is imperative that universities across the nation address the needs of first-generation students so that faculty, staff, and administrators can meet their special needs.

Are there significant differences in the academic preparation and college success of first-generation students? Current research indicates that there are differences, and programming for this growing population will increase the rates of retention and provide better academic experiences for these students (Riehl, 1994).

Hushak (1973) studied several factors that have a major impact on learning inputs and student achievement. Among the inputs studied, it was discovered that lower-achieving students depend more on teachers than higher-achieving students because they have less-educated parents and limited access to other learning inputs. This is indicative of why low- achieving students study more and obtain more help from their less-educated parents. To these students, the teacher is the primary skilled teaching input rather than the parent.

The parent's educational attainment level was used as a basis to determine the educational atmosphere of home environments. In this regard the parent is the educator in the home, and since students spend the majority of their time at home, their parents are the primary learning inputs for these students. The findings state that parents who have at least a bachelor's degree are private teachers to their

children, and are better qualified in one or more subjects of knowledge than any of the teachers in the school (Hushak, 1973). In such an environment, a student is less dependent on the ability of the teacher than a student with less educated parents. Information was gathered from both mother and father concerning highest educational attainment level. In this study, the father's education was used because the results showed a stronger statistical relationship than with the mother's educational level academic achievement.

The results of the study by Hushak (1973) clearly showed that the father's education variable has the greatest effect on student success. Highly-educated parents provide more or higher-quality teaching input for their children. A child with less-educated parents does not have access to alternative skilled teaching inputs, and the teacher is the most skilled teaching input to which the child has access regardless of the teacher's qualification. Other results also indicate that the father's educational level is the leading determinant of the high quality of the teaching input. Thus, children with well-educated parents are not as dependent on school inputs, nor do they spend much time studying outside of school. The correlations between study time and father's education, and between study time and achievement test scores, are consistent with this finding. Less-educated parents tend to compensate by providing more help in terms of time, but the children of less-educated parents are still more dependent on the teacher as their primary skilled input.

Based on studies by LeVine (1980), Stevenson and Baker (1987), and Youniss and Smollar (1985), the education of the mother affects many areas of the

child's educational endeavors. First, educated mothers are more likely to adopt parental investment strategies designed to maximize the life chances of the student, such as their probability of survival, health, and economic success. Second, a welleducated mother might be more concerned and knowledgeable about obtaining educational credentials for her children by supervising their school attendance, transferring them to better schools, and providing supplementary tutoring when necessary. Third, more educated women might be more likely to choose husbands who share some of the tendencies mentioned above. Their spouses may also be wealthier and, therefore, would be better able to provide the resources needed to attain their children's education goals. Finally, the more educated mother can provide her child with more useful forms of instruction, self-perception, encouragement, interaction, and exposure, thus transmitting skills and shaping his or her psychological development in distinctive ways (Majoribanks, 1979).

Laosa (1975, 1977, 1982) found that mothers who are well-educated affect the cognitive abilities of children more regardless of their occupation. When socioeconomics is compared to maternal education, it becomes a salient family determinant of students' scholastic and academic achievement. A mother's praise or verbal approval of a child's activity is linked directly to her schooling. Hannan and Luster (1993) cited that maternal education has both a direct and indirect effect on student educational attainment.

Stevenson and Baker (1987) found that educated mothers tend to manage their children's school career from elementary school through the high school years.

This becomes very important at the high school level, when the mother aids in the selection of college preparatory courses. The researchers also found that maternal education, more than employment, was related to the academic achievement of children.

Cultural backgrounds also add an interesting dynamic to parental education and a student's success. Educational attainment among Latinos has increased, but academic success continues to remain low, compared to non-Latinos. According to the 1990 Census, only 1 in 2 Latinos completed high school. In contrast, non-Latinos have an 80% high school graduation rate. Within the Latino community, the Mexican-origin subgroup had the lowest graduation rate (44%), and other groups of Hispanics had the highest graduation rate (69%) (Chapa & Valencia, 1993). Only 9% of adults aged 25 or older attained a four-year college degree, as compared to 22% of non-Hispanics. Among Hispanics, Mexicans or Mexican-Americans had the lowest college graduation rate (5%) and Cubans had the highest (20%). Historically, Latinos have been the most undereducated group in the U.S. Despite a gradual rise, based on statistics from the Bureau of the Census (U.S. Department of Commerce, 1991, 1996), as compared to Blacks and Whites, Hispanics and Latinos have had the lowest levels of educational attainment, highest dropout rates, and highest illiteracy rates.

These differences have persisted over time. For example, in 1940 the median number of years of education completed by the largest Latino group in the U.S., Hispanics aged 25 to 64 who lived in California, was 7.5 years, compared to

10.5 years completed by Whites (Chapa, 1988). The proportions of high school and college graduates have doubled despite the gap between Latinos and Hispanics. Latinos and Hispanics continue to lag behind their non-Latino counterparts in college admission and college graduation. The number of Hispanic high school graduates going on to college peaked at 36% in 1976, but Hispanic enrollment has been less than 36% since then (American Council Education, 1990).

Why is there a lack of interest in graduating from high school and going on to college among Hispanics and Latinos? According to Nieves-Squires (1991), Hispanic or Latinos who go to college experience a tremendous amount of pressure from their family due to cultural expectations. Melendez and Petrovich (1989) reported that the values on which most universities and colleges build their mission and culture are at odds with Hispanic culture and values. Melendez and Petrovich (1989) found several cultural attributes that may affect the academic achievement of Hispanics the most. In the Latino culture, tolerance of differing thoughts and philosophies is welcomed and accepted by Latino students, but challenging points of view could be seen as controversial. Hispanic students, thus, may be seen as reluctant to participate in free exchange of thought and dialogue. Most faculties would misconstrue such behavior as being not interested or as a lack of independent thinking. Academia produces an environment that is conducive to competitiveness and individualism, which is in direct conflict with Hispanic cultural values of cooperation and group cohesiveness. For Hispanics to be successful, they must learn to adapt to the academic environment.

Major studies have shown that cognitive factors (intellectual ability and scholastic aptitude) and psychosocial factors (attachment, locus of control, optimism, androgen, and self-esteem) are significant predictors of academic achievement at all levels of education. These factors and others predict the vast majority of academic achievement, as do other factors like parental education and family socioeconomic status. All tend to influence students' academic success.

The research also suggests that the more educated one's parents are, the more likely they are to support and encourage their children's educational endeavors (Brown & Robinson Kurpius, 1997; Lin, 1990; Winfield, 1991). Finn and Rock (1997) found parents' educational attainment is one of several factors that contribute to academic resilience among minority students from low-income homes. Researchers have reported that students who come from environments where both parents have degrees have fears of failure and disgrace if they were unable to graduate from college (Peng, 1994).

Parents' employment also dictates internalized values related to academic performance (Bank, Slavings, & Biddle, 1990). Family income is a significant variable of academic achievement (Finn & Rock, 1997), but low-income families with parents who have little or no education may create a less enthusiastic atmosphere concerning education and children's futures (Bell et al., 1996; Galambos & Silbereisen, 1987). A parent's educational attainment is often reflected in the offspring's academic achievement. A Louisiana study by Williams (1963) found that there was an inverse correlation between parents' years of education and the
dropout rate of their children. The higher the parents' education, the lower their children's dropout rate. Other studies support this finding. One study in Maryland showed that most dropouts' parents (70% of the mothers and 80% of the fathers) never finished high school (Williams). Among these parents, 25% of the mothers and 30% of the fathers had never completed sixth grade. The parents were asked to give their opinions about the importance of a high school education. More than 90% of the parents of in-school students thought that it was a great disadvantage for students not to finish high school, while only 60% of the parents of dropouts had the same view.

Parental Influence and Student Achievement

Much interest has been generated regarding the relationship between social interaction and cognitive development (Miller, 1988). Based on extensive study of parent belief and cognition, Miller concluded that the primary concern in the relationship is what parents value as well as their general knowledge.

Do parents' beliefs affect the way they treat their children? It is significant in terms of cultural norms and in terms of how those ideals do or do not affect adolescent educational attainment. Hill (1979) cited that understanding parent/child interaction promotes the most essential insight with regard to the continuity of cultural tradition. The majority of western theories of child development are usually based upon research with suburban White middle class families (Garcia Coll, 1996; Gottfried & Gottfried, 1984; Hewlett, 1992; Laosa, 1977; Ogbu, 1988; Sternberg,

1988). Applying Western theories to other cultures can be problematic because levels and stages in student development are not universal (Dixon, Tronick, Keefer, & Brazelton, 1992; Hewlett, 1992; Sternberg, 1988). Keeping this in mind, it is important to realize the differences between minority and cross-cultural groups and to research this topic with caution.

Interaction between parent and child starts long before the child emerges from the mother's womb (Garbarino, 1982). All children, regardless of color, ethnicity, or socioeconomic background, need to know they are loved (Field & Widmayer, 1981; Garbarino, 1982). There are variations in the kinds of interactions between parent and child. Research suggests that the parents' own experience in the social system is reflective in parent-child interactions (Hoffman, 1984). Those interactions are also based on culture.

In the American culture, mothers see their children as being totally dependent on their parents to make them independent. On the other hand, Japanese mothers believe that their children are independent biological beings that have to be incorporated into the culture and made interdependent (Dixon et al., 1981). The actual time that the parent spends with the child is the process by which a child develops a sense of herself/himself as an individual within the family and culture (Kohut, 1971; Whiting & Whiting, 1975). Values and beliefs are infused by interactions with parents and family (Caudill & Weinstein, 1969).

Child development from infancy is also important in academic success later in life. Parents work toward developing a relationship with their new infant. During this

time of discovery, both parent and infant make discoveries about one another. The infant strictly relies on parents for care and nurturing. The infant is quickly socialized to send messages when in need of food or a diaper change, and the parent eventually learns to communicate (Garbarino, 1982). As the infant develops into childhood, the role of the parent becomes intricate. Parents have to help children develop a sense of self-worth, acceptance, independence, and a positive identity while enforcing reprimands and discipline (Collins, 1990).

Adolescence is marked by variations in interaction and modes of communication. During this time, adolescents go through personal and biological changes. Students become more independent, and challenge the values and morals that were innately theirs. The three stages of adolescence (young adolescents, middle adolescents, and late adolescents) are stages that lead to an evaluation of self and the meaning of adulthood (Garbarino, 1982).

The majority of the studies conducted regarding adolescents and their families have included white, middle-class families. Little is known about Asian, African American, Native American, or Latino families and their relationships (Hill, 1979). Until recently most subjects involved in similar studies had been middleclass White Americans (Carter & Middlemiss, 1992; Laosa, 1977). The reasons noted by Carter and Middlemiss (1992) were ethnocentric biases by researchers as well as a statistical concern regarding the homogeneity of the sample.

An added element to the developmental process of adolescents from ethnic minority groups is their acculturation into mainstream society. Ethnicity is an

important element because one's social identity is derived from the culture to which the person belongs. This gives an individual a sense of clanship in an ethnic group. That clanship is made of self-identification, feelings of belonging, and commitment to that group. Identifiers that link an individual are language, food, traditional customs, and religion.

Development of identity is included in family and community variables for adolescents. These influences often validate and assure ethnic group membership. According to Garcia Coll et al. (1996) and Phinney and Rosenthal (1992), a strong sense of ethnic identity is correlated with high self-esteem and positive self-concept. This could contribute to higher levels of academic achievement for minority adolescents.

According to data acquired by Findley and Cooper (1983), there is no significant difference in relation to the cognitive and non-cognitive variables by ethnicity. The averages for the locus of control are significantly different among the different ethnic groups and are consistent with current literature (Findley & Cooper). This is inconsistent with the findings of a recent study by Zea, Jamara, and Bianchi (1995), which found Latinos and African Americans to be more internal than their White counterparts. Among the ethnic groups, Hispanics or Latinos were the most internal of all the groups. Surprisingly, from this study, Asian Americans were less internal than the other ethnic groups.

In other studies, these results would have been contrary to current literature that implies that individuals from certain cultures that emphasize collectivism over

autonomy would display higher levels of attachment (Harrison, Wilson, Pine, Chan, & Buriel, 1990). Two conclusions were made by Liang and Bogat, 1994: (1) The Asian American sample was small, and therefore may not be generalizable to the Asian population; and (2) Asian students' reliance on acclamation strategies may have lessened their need for support.

The results of the study by Liang and Bogat (1994) reinforce the notion that parental educational attainment levels influence students' levels of achievement (Lin, 1990; Peng, 1994; Winfield, 1991). The findings on father's educational levels and mother's educational levels showed minor differences among the ethnic groups. The educational level of both mother and father was significant, but only between the High-High Group and the Low-High Group. Based on the results of Liang and Bogat's (1994) study, these students are the children of parents who attained high levels of educational success as exhibited by their high school graduation rates and high rates of attending college. Explanation for the variance of college grade-point averages could lend itself to the parental education attainment levels, which could be a subtle influence on this group of students. Parental educational attainment levels were a factor that protected weakly attached students from academic downfalls. In the low-low group's means for mother's educational attainment was the fourth highest (m=14.08). The female composition of the group was an important factor which may have led to the influence of modeling the mother's academic achievement/ attainment.

Many studies have shown that parental influence exerts a much more powerful impact on the importance of students' academic achievement when compared to the influence of their peers. In a study by Spenner and Featherman (1978), academic achievement is encouraged more strongly by parents and peers than by any other factor. These influences are said to overweigh one's scholastic attitude or previous academic achievement.

Davies and Kandel (1981) found that even though parental and peer influence was a factor in the overall academic performance of the student, parental influence was greater for adolescents at all ages. They also found that as the adolescents aged, parental influence grew stronger, particularly with boys' goals and ambitions. Conclusions from the results indicated that a high correlation between parental influences and boy's goals and objectives may be due to a greater lack of achievement responsibility among boys, leaving this area wide open for parental encouragement. The findings also may have indicated that educational plans and parental expectations simply show a wider variation for boys than for girls.

Research has reported that parental encouragement impacts the educational endeavors of their children more than the student's direct social origins (White, 1982). The research also concluded that actual academic achievement is more highly correlated with family characteristics, such as "home environment," than with family income, which is more closely related to academic achievement than to parental occupations (White).

Nowicki and Segal (1974) examined the correlations of locus of control for 162 white 12th graders from lower middle-class family backgrounds who live in a suburban area of a large city in the southeastern United States. The students were asked to complete a Nowicki-Strickland scale that measures students' perceived control over the outcome of academic achievement in school. The correlation between students' locus of control and the perceived locus of control of their parents were significant.

Two important questions lend themselves to continuous research on the topic of parental expectation and student academic achievement. Do intelligent students affect parents' achievement expectations, or vice-versa? Do parental expectations create a motivation in students to achieve? This cross-lagged panel analysis investigated the relationship between home environment and cognitive development (Bradley, Caldwell, & Elardo, 1979). From the findings, the main environmental measure was maternal involvement. Mothers and children from low -to middle-class backgrounds where studied when their children were ages 6, 12, and 24 months. The mothers' encouragement toward their intellectual and social development was recorded. Children were administered the Bayley Scales of Infant Development as a measure of cognitive development.

The Bradley et al. study (1979) also found that bright children at 6 months influenced maternal involvement at 12 months (rather than the reverse) and that maternal involvement at 12 months led to brighter children at 24 months. The correlations of the measurements between 6 and 12 months and 12 months to 24

months were high, but all were below .33. The researchers suggested that a study using a larger sample of children would have provided a clearer connection between achievement and expectations.

It is still unclear whether parents' expectations are in any way dependent upon the child's early achievement or whether the home environment is influential. A study by Jackson (1983) studied 21 preschoolers from lower-income black families living in New York City. They were observed in their homes and their verbal interactions were tape-recorded. Fourteen of the 21 children had been the subjects of home observation at 24 to 42 months. The researchers observed the reading achievement of 1st and 2nd graders and found that the successful ones differed from the unsuccessful ones in their preschool IQ. They had participated in more verbal interactions with their families as preschoolers. They also noticed more encouragement and less discouragement accompanied their verbal initiations. Parts the study indicated that it did not examine parental attributes such as reading preferences or intelligence. Such entities as the literacy of parents may create an atmosphere that is conducive to literate children, or it could be that children of literate parents would be literate regardless of variation in verbal stimulation.

Family Structure and Academic Achievement

For the purpose of this research, family structure may be defined as the internal make-up of a family unit, which may include a parent and/or parents, a child or children and other family members who interact as a part of the unit, such as a

live-in relative(s) (i.e., grandparent(s), uncle(s), cousin(s), etc. Bloom (1964) concluded that most children's basic intellectual development is completed before school age attendance, which stimulates the search from similar features in the home environment that facilitate intellectual performance. Wolf (1964) was able to postulate a number of environmental process variables on the basis of his findings. In his investigation, Wolf (1964) found a multiple correlation of .79 between environmental measures and academic achievement. Meanwhile, Wolf (1964) found a multiple R of .80 for the relationship between environmental process measures and IQ.

Because these results were replicated with highly consistent results, one variable remained clear in both findings. The achievement element refers to the goals and aspirations parents hold for themselves and for their children. It involves the academic achievement standards they hold and their standards of reward for educational achievement. Parental involvement is reflected in the kinds of concrete knowledge they have of the developmental or educational status of their student and the specific plans and preparations they have made to ensure that the educational goals they hold for their student can be attained. Another variable considered to impact academic achievement is the educational and occupational level attained by close friends and relatives.

It often has been hypothesized that parents who provide stimulating environments produce bright students. Research also has founded that students who are raised in stimulating environments learn intellectual skills that enable them

to profit from instruction in school to a greater degree than is true for students from less active homes. In some situations, parents influence students to value the kinds of learning activities that are provided at school. Other researchers support the notion that the educational level of the parent or parents shows the highest relationship (Bradley, Caldwell, & Elardo, 1977), and that Mexican-American/Anglo-American differences in mother-child interaction styles disappear when the level of formal education is controlled. The more parents have been exposed to the culture of higher learning, the more they transmit it to their students. Therefore, it is possible that educated parents go further in school and also pass their ability on to their students through heredity.

Based on the number of theories and hypotheses about environmental factors and intellectual development, none can give a clear and accurate answer to which one factor causes academic achievement. During the 1960s, the popular interpretation was that a stimulating home environment produced mental acumen. It was also assumed that the homes of lower socioeconomic status and poor minority students were unable to provide the kinds of experiences required to activate intellectual growth. This was indicative of the assumption that socialization practices of disadvantaged families were seen as contributors to intellectual deficits in their students.

Much research has been generated about the positive parental guidance that contributes to the fostering of academic achievement across the entire educational spectrum in both high-and low-risk samples. Most current literature emphasizes the

positive parental support that promotes higher grade point averages, high educational attainment, and academic persistence among children, early adolescents, and late adolescents (Bell, Allen, Hauser, & O'Conner, 1996; Clark, 1983; Finn & Rock, 1997; Gloria & Robinson, 1994; Hoffman & Weiss, 1987; Kobak & Sceery, 1988; Peng, 1994).

Cutrona et al. (1994) found that parental support can be used to predict college grade point averages among first-year and second-year university students who are not in daily contact with their parents. In two independent samples, parental support was a dominant factor in college grade point average. In their study, parental support accounted for a large proportion of the total variance in academic achievement. It was a determining factor of grade point averages. Other factors like social support from friends or romantic partners were not significant predictors of college grade point averages. The authors believed that parents who encouraged and coached their student's abilities directly were able to use adaptive behaviors in the academic arena.

In contrast to positive parental support linking to academic achievement, negative or no attachment to parental support has been found to exacerbate the academic risk for some adolescents. Several factors have been identified to examine the facets of parent-child interactions as vital signs for poor academic performance. Students who have poor relationships and communication with their parents about feelings and thoughts (Eskstrom, Goertz, Pollack, & Rock, 1986; Finn 1989), have parents with low educational expectations (Dornbusch et al., 1987) and

lack of encouragement from parents to persist in academics (Bean & Metzner, 1985; Okun, Benin, & Brandt-Williams, 1996). They have all factors in place to be at risk for poor academic outcomes.

Lopez (1991) examined how students classified themselves. Students categorized themselves in one of four alignments (non-coalition, mother-coalition, father-coalition, or triangulation) where different scores were taken to measure college acclimation including academic adjustment. Significant results among the four groups were found for personal adjustment and academic adjustment. The findings indicated that a triangulated family alignment, which occurs when a child is conflicted and dependent on both parents, may place the student at a higher risk for poor academic adjustment.

It is well noted that supportive parents are an important predictor of academic achievement among students, but there are other types of conceptual family dynamics that impede the academic success of the student. As recent research as shown, non-involvement by the parent is a risk factor for adverse outcomes among both children and adolescents (Cowan, Cowan, & Schulz, 1996).

Recent studies have indicated that the quality of the interactions between parent and student is vital to the student's success. Studies of family relationships of bright, high-achievement versus low-achieving high school students show that the high achievers more than low achievers describe their parents as sharing, understanding, approving, trusting, affectionate, and encouraging with respect to achievement. In the study, matched pairs of white students revealed some

interesting facts about successful graduates who had different family lives than dropouts. The majority of the dropouts saw their family members as failing to accept each other and failing to accept and understand them. Meanwhile, the majority of the graduates saw their family members as accepting and understanding each member as a complete person. The dropouts received less encouragement from their families in their educational and career plans than the graduates (Rice, 1978).

A number of studies have found that the quality of interaction in the student's family of orientation has the greatest impact on school behavior. In all cases, dropouts ranked significantly lower than their peers. Out of 84% of the dropouts, 18% reported "very little" or "little" intrafamily understanding and acceptance. Eighty-one percent of the dropouts had "very infrequent" or "infrequent" communication within the home, while only 20% of the graduates fell into these categories (Cervantes, 1965). Another important variable in small group interaction is the degree of consensus among members concerning behavior expectation. The degree of intrafamily consensus is significantly related to the academic success of boys. Boys who were well-adjusted in school came from families with high consensus (Myerhoff & Larson, 1965).

There are strong correlations between family size and achievement motivation (Hetherington, 1992). Students from larger families consistently displayed lower achievement motivation than did children of smaller families. Evidence suggests that since large families are typically of lower-income status,

they have low expectations for educational success. These studies have revealed that larger families produce lower achievement motivation in their children.

Family structure also plays a vital role in the achievement of students (Hetherington, 1992). Broken homes are strongly related to students dropping out of school. Students whose parents are divorced or separated are twice as likely to leave high school earlier than their peers from two-parent households.

The question of how family influences to which students are exposed seems to be convoluted with many intervening variables. Researchers have argued how family impacts children. Researchers such as Hetherington (1992), Bronfenbrenner and Crouter (1983), and Steinberg (1990) have examined the different effects of family status, while others investigated the importance of family process (Featherstone, Cundick, & Jensen, 1992; Walters, 1998). When such researchers examine families, they often refer to their conditions, family structure, ethnic background, socioeconomic status, and size.

Hetherington (1992) examined the effects of family status adopts a social address paradigm. This paradigm is an environmental label indicating the ecological niche, or atmosphere, in which the student is raised. Because the social address paradigm has limitations, many researchers have shifted their focus from the study of family status to the family process. This process refers to behavior or interaction that occurs between family members, such as parenting styles, parental discipline, and parental involvement in the education of their children.

In the family process paradigm, researchers focus on the impact of various family processes on a child's development. Family process and family status are variables that cannot be independent of each other. It is also important to incorporate both sets of factors in family research. To view family status and family process as polarized influences would not be meaningful unless we combined both paradigms together for analysis. Both paradigms combined would provide a more powerful analysis of the affects of family status and process on student academic achievement.

In contemporary America, single-parent households have become a phenomenon. Hetherington (1992) cites statistically that half of American couples married after 1970 will divorce. Recent U.S. Census Bureau figures report nearly one-fourth of children under 18 years old live with only one parent, typically their mother (Walters, 1988). Because the traditional family structure is eroding and no longer homogenous, it is important for educators to understand the complexities of family structures and its monumental impact on a student's academic performance.

Subsequently, after divorce, lifestyles change and families headed by singlemothers descend into poverty. U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census (1991) reported that 37.2% of single-parent families live below the poverty level, compared with 12% of all families with children.

The correlation between socioeconomic background and student's academic achievement gets the attention of many researchers (White, 1982). However,

researchers need to look at how factors affect student academic achievement in a new perspective.

As examined previously, the social address paradigm was considered by researchers to be the way to study student development in context (Bronfenbrenner & Crouter, 1983). Using this primitive paradigm, researchers compared the academic performance of students living at different social classes or in different environments. Bronfenbrenner and Crouter (1983) argue that this paradigm has limitations. No consideration has been given to intervening variables that might affect the development of children.

Examining the effects of family structure or socioeconomic status on students' academic achievement is often indicative of the mechanisms and factors that might affect academic performance. Using the social address paradigm, researchers argued and found ambiguous differences in academic achievement among students from different family structures and socioeconomic levels (e.g., Featherstone et al., 1992; Eagle, 1989).

When other factors like family characteristics and children's achievement are included in observations, achievement-related family processes are reduced. The British Psychological Society (1986) reported that material circumstances and social position are not important compared to what may be referred to as family climate. Family climate includes parents' aspirations and attitudes and the family's support and encouragement for a child's school. The weakness of the social address paradigm convinced Dornbrusch and Wood (1989) to argue for a shift from the

examination of social address to the study of family process. The argument is that if focus is put on family status such as family structure, parental educational level, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status, other factors will be overlooked. Factors that may be overlooked are the acquired intellectual advantages that fall within lines by class, ethnicity and household structure. Dornbrusch and Wood (1989) note that family processes are far more important than family status. They suggest that more research should be done to identify specific family processes are identified, the results may suggest alternative ways of relating to students that will foster academic achievement.

Because family status has been a litmus test for student success in previous literature, Dornbrusch and Wood (1989) suggest setting aside family status and identifying elements of family processes. Dornbrusch and Wood (1989) have examined the dynamic relationships between environmental factors and student. academic achievement. Halsey (1975) reveals that in much of the family research the concept of social status is minimal because parental attitudes are conceived as separate factors rather than an integral part of work and children's environment condition. Kohn (1979) points out that American parents' values and child-rearing practices can be seen in terms of the realities parents face. Family processes are conducive to educational experiences that are usually not independent of the effects of family status.

Researchers such as Milne (1989) purport that neither family status nor process factors should be excluded from future research models. The interactive effects of family status and family processes on the student should be incorporated to involve both sets of variables in any study. Instead of studying a social address paradigm or a family process paradigm separately, both need to be integrated to study the effects of family factors on student academic achievement (Lam, 1997).

It is important to distinguish the treatment of family processes as mediators, from the use of moderator variables in social science. A moderator "partitions" a focal independent variable into subgroups that establish its domain of maximal effectiveness in regard to a given dependent variable (Baron & Kenny, 1986).

Steinberg, Mounts, Lamborn, and Dornbusch (1991) used socioeconomic status, family structure, and ethnicity to partition 10,000 high school students into 16 subgroups. The authors found authoritative parenting to be linked with better academic achievement among children across all subgroups. This means that SES, family structure, and ethnicity did not moderate the influence of authoritative parenting on students' achievement. The difference between moderating influence and mediator influences is that a mediator represents the generative mechanism through which the focal independent variable is able to influence the dependent variable of interest (Baron & Kenny, 1986). For example, Milne et al. (1986) used parental expectations, other processes, and SES as mediators to explain the effects of family structure on children's academic achievement that decreased significantly when these mediators were taken into consideration.

Because there are interactive effects of family status on student academic achievement, there is a desperate need to investigate how much of the effect of family status on students' academic achievement is mediated by family processes (Steinberg, 1990). There is a need to shift from exclusively using family status as a moderating variable to incorporating family processes as mediating variables. There are three questions that need to be answered:

- 1. Are there mediating affects of a specific family process that will influence how family status affects students' academic performance?
- 2. Are there direct effects of a specific family status on student's academic achievement?
- 3. Are there indirect effects of a specific family status through specific family processes on student's academic achievement?

Steinberg (1990) examined the effects of the family on students' academic achievement with each of the three research paradigms. He examined family influences first with a social address paradigm and then with a family process paradigm. An integrated paradigm that incorporates both social addresses and family process paradigms will be implemented. Both processes will be included in the current study. Family status variables included in the current study are family structure and socioeconomic status.

Steinberg (1990) is interested in the comparison between intact families and single-mother families. The family variables Steinberg studied included three dimensions of authoritative parenting style: (1) parental monitoring/supervision; (2)

parental supportiveness and warmth; and (3) psychological autonomy. These three dimensions are incorporated as mediating variables. Parental monitoring, parental supportiveness, and psychological autonomy granting mediated the affects of socioeconomic status and family structure on students' academic performance.

Bronfenbrenner and Crouter (1983) showed that the century-old social address paradigm continues to characterize the majority of contemporary research on this topic. They observed this in many studies of children from single-parent families. A study of children from intact versus non-intact families (Amber & Saucier, 1984) is a representative example of studies based on the social address paradigm.

The researchers surveyed a large sample of Montreal teenagers and found that students from separated/divorced families were less successful in school, liked school less, and expected to drop-out of school earlier than students from intact families. The weakness of the study was that there was a lack of control for socioeconomic or ethnic factors. It is not known if the findings were influenced by these factors or due to family structure, as the authors suspected. Studies that are based on the social address paradigm have varied considerably in controlling confounding variables.

The most common form of statistical control in existing literature is to have social class, race, grade level, or age controlled. In a recent study by Featherstone et al. (1992), school behavior and achievement were compared among students from intact, reconstituted, and single-parent families. Using race, grade, and age as

covariates in the analysis, they found that students from intact two-parent families had better attendance, higher grade point averages, and fewer negative and more positive behavioral ratings by their teachers than did students from reconstituted and single-parent families.

A weakness in the Featherstone et al. (1992) study is that socioeconomic status was not considered as a distinctive confounding variable. Walters (1988) notes that family structure and socioeconomic status are closely related. The median income of single-mother households is one-third that of two-parent households. One-fourth of White single-parent families and nearly one-half of Black single-parent families live in poverty. Herzog and Sudia (1973) concluded that the effects of a father's absence on juvenile delinquency and academic achievement outlines the importance of controlling for SES in research dealing with the effects of father absence. Viewing the restrictions, they found that father absence in itself had a lower correlation with poor school achievement if SES and type of fatherlessness were controlled (Herzog & Sudia, 1973).

Other researchers such as Mueller and Cooper (1986), and Acock and Kiecolt (1989) investigated the long-term effects of family structure during adolescence on adult adjustment. When SES was not controlled, both men and women who lived in intact families at age 16 scored significantly higher than students from single-parent families on all aspects of adjustment.

When examining single-parent families, it cannot be generalized that all single-parent families are homogenous. There is a need to consider all subtypes of

single-parent families in student's achievement research. Zimiles and Lee (1991) compared students from three different types of families (intact, single-parent, and step families) with respect to high school grades and educational persistence. Based on a sample size of 13,532 from a national data set (High School and Beyond Study), Zimiles and Lee found that differences among the three groups with regard to achievement test scores and high school grades were slight but statistically significant.

Students from both single-parent and step families lagged behind students from intact families but were unrecognizable from each other. This trend continued after SES was taken into account. Group differences were found in educational persistence and dropout behavior in Zimiles and Lees' (1991) study. What was most interesting was that students from single-parent and step-family households were three times as likely to leave high school before graduation as those from intact families. Other striking findings were that adolescents who lived in singleparent homes were likely to dropout when they had an unlike-gender custodial parent. A similar pattern of interaction was found among stepfamilies, but the pattern was reversed. Students who lived with their same gender custodial parent were more prone to drop out.

With the understanding of the effects of family structure on students, we need to understand the processes or mechanisms responsible in different environments for the academic performance of students. Milne et al. (1986) introduced processes in the study of the educational achievement of students from single-parent families.

While accessing two national databases (Sustaining Effects Study of Title, and High School and Beyond), Milne et al. investigated the effects of living in a one-parent not only family on children's academic achievement. Their findings examined the effects of SES, race, and age, but also the effects of many variables including their custodial mother's educational expectations, number of books in the home, homework monitoring, and time spent at home.

Milne et al. (1986) found that parents' educational expectations for students were significant mediators of the effect of family structure. They also found that students from two-parent families had higher scores on reading and math achievement tests than children from one-parent homes. They found that the effects of family structure were almost entirely mediated by other variables, particularly income. Because this factor was isolated, the direct effects of family structure were much smaller. Results also revealed that parents' educational expectations for students were significant mediators of the effect of family structure. Based on the nonsignificant effects of family structure on academic achievement, Milne et al. concluded that the effects of living in a one-parent family work primarily through other variables, such as SES and parent's educational expectation.

Reviewing data from the High School and Beyond study, Milne et al. (1986) found that students who lived with single parents or step parents during adolescence received less encouragement and less assistance with schoolwork than did students who lived with both natural parents. They also found that parental involvement had positive effects on students' school achievement.

Blum, Boyle, and Offord (1988) found that children of single-parent families were more at-risk for student psychiatric disorders and poor school performance. Amato and Keith (1991) also studied family and academic success. They conducted a meta-analysis on 92 studies about parental divorce and the well-being of children. The researchers found that students of divorced families scored lower than students in intact families across a variety of outcomes. Their findings from the meta-analysis revealed that family conflict strongly influences the relation between family structure and the well being of students.

A study by Dornbusch et al. (1985) found that adolescents in single-parent families were more likely to make decisions without direct parental input and were more likely to exhibit deviant behavior than were students from intact families. This behavior crosses over into the academic setting.

Socioeconomic Status and Family Structure

There is much evidence to support the conclusion that poverty has an effect on children and families, and that impression is usually a devastating one. Poverty often is linked to employment, mental, and physical health, and education. There are also other ways that poverty touches people's lives. According to Brooks-Gunn, Klebanov, Liaw, and Duncan (1985) because poverty is used as a measure, it is unrealized if poverty is permanent or temporary (McLeod & Shanahan, 1993). McLeod and Shanahan (1993) defined persistent poverty as the percentage of years of life during which the student lived in poverty. Current poverty is defined as poverty that occurs as a result of immediate financial problems (e.g., unemployed or with out a job). McLoyd (1990) suggests that greater attention should be focused on family processes in the study of poverty outcomes in order to understand what variables mediate the effects of poverty.

According to statistics, it is estimated that by the year 2000 the population of the U.S. will grow to 275 million, and that by the middle of the 21st century the population will reach 375 million (Fitzgerald, Lester, & Zuckerman, 1995). In 1991, the Census Bureau reported that 35.7 million people (roughly 14% of the population of the United States) had incomes below the federally defined poverty level. By the end of the century the number of people living in poverty will be 38.5 million, and by 2050 it will surpass 50 million (Fitzgerald et al., 1995). The National Center for Children in Poverty (1990) reported that 14 million of America's poor are children, with approximately 5 million under six years old. The 10 worst cities for children under age six in 1989 had poverty rates ranging from 52.4% (Detroit, Michigan) to 44.8% (Laredo, Texas). In 1990, The National Center for Children in Poverty statistics estimate that among minority children living in large metropolitan areas 42.1% of Blacks, 35.3% of Latinos, 34.4% of Native Americans, and 22.9% of Asian American were poor. According to NCCP, Erie, Pennsylvania, ranked first among the 10 worst cities in the U.S. for poverty among African American children (62.0%) and for Latino children (68.5%).

Several factors have contributed to the causes of increased poverty rates among children. Some of those increases include but are not limited to: (a) fiscal

changes in the economy, that may include elimination of unskilled and semi-skilled jobs, stagnation, recession or inflation of the economy, job migration from inner cities to the suburbs; (b) budgetary constraints on federal programs like AFDC, continued increases in inequalities between the affluent and the poor; and (c) shifts in the number of children born out of wedlock, increases in the rates of divorce and single parent households, and increase in maternal employment without the possibility of quality child care (Chase-Lansdale, Lindsay, & Brooks-Gunn, 1995; Danziger & Weinberg, 1986)

Children from Latino or Hispanic backgrounds are much more likely to grow up in poor families, with rates double or triple that of non-minority families (Chapa & Valencia, 1993; Rivera-Batiz & Santiago, 1994). These statistics are alarming when compared to the life situations of White, African American, and Hispanic American children. In 1991, the poverty rate for Hispanic children was 40% compared to 17% of White children (U.S. Bureau of the Census, 1991).

Poverty is devastating for all those who experience it, but for Hispanics or Latinos the effects of poverty on developmental outcomes could be mediated or moderated by other variables present in Hispanic culture that might exacerbate or change the effects of poverty (Garcia Coll, 1996; Vazquez Garcia, 1995). Cultural attributes interfere with the socioeconomic variables and complicate pinpointing the direct affects of poverty.

According to Pallas (1989), there are factors associated with a student's exposure to inadequate or inappropriate education resources and experiences.

Because these factors do not in any way suggest that a student is automatically doomed to failure, the probability increases if one or more of these factors are present.

One factor is poverty. Poverty is an indicator of why students perform poorly in school. Others are race, ethnicity, and single-family composition. Race and ethnicity often indicate that Black and Hispanic students frequently score lower on tests than whites and are more likely to drop out of school. Family composition makes a difference, too. Many children who come from single-parent homes live in poverty. Students affected by these factors tend to score lower on tests than do children living in two-parent homes (Natriello, McDill, & Pallas, in press).

Other indicators are the mother's educational level and language background. When a mother's educational level is high, she will provide her students with more educational resources than will less educated mothers. Language background can be a strong indicator, particularly for refugees from other countries whose primary language is not English.

Much research has been conducted on familial processes and how they affect academic achievement, but very few investigations have been done regarding specific populations such African Americans, Hispanics, Native Americans, and immigrants. Because many ethnic groups have come to the U.S. and prospered despite language and culture barriers and maintained a strong ethnic identity, Hispanics and African Americans have to be studied while considering historical,

social, and discriminatory issues. These issues are paramount to the foundation of ethnic identity and self-identification (Phinney & Rosenthal, 1992).

Minority groups are not homogenous. Substantial differences are seen in the number of Latino families and subgroups who live in poverty. Approximately 17% of Cubans live in poverty, compared to 41% of Puerto Ricans (Garcia Coll, 1996; Meyer, & Brillon 1995). It is important to know that common characteristics exist between Hispanic and Latinos, but generalizations cannot be made on the basis of ethnicity. There are some basic generalizations to be made, however.

Martin and VanOss Marin (1991) suggest that culture and not demographic traits are shared among subgroups. This is what makes it possible to generalize certain phenomena. Certain factors that affect the interpretation of most studies involving culture and ethnicity are familialism and simpatia. These are typical extraneous variables that interfere with the accuracy of the findings. Familialism emphasizes a strong affiliation of loyalty, reciprocity, and solidarity among members of the family. Simpatia serves as a way of promoting empathy, conformity and pleasant social relationship (Marin & VanOss Marin, 1991).

It is important to understand the socialization processes of minority children (Alvarez, 1986; Delgado-Gaitan, 1983; Gallimore & Goldenberg, 1993; Goldenberg, 1987; Vasquez, 1990). Research shows that the family ecology of ethnic minority families is different from mainstream culture (Harrison et al., 1990; Slaughter-DaFoe, Makagawa, Takanishi, & Johnson 1990). As a prime example, the interaction style or rules for interacting with adults are taught through socialization at

home. At home, that child learns expectations and how to behave toward adults. For example, researchers study how the child responds to an examiner or a teacher during a typical testing situation in school.

Unfortunately, how a child is socialized at home is not a part of measuring a child's competence. Instead, a child's test scores are used to only measure competence. According to Getzel (1974), most researchers argue that performance and competence are synonymous, but they are not. Performance in any given situation is determined by a number of factors, including socialization variables that children learn in the home.

According to Laosa (1977, 1982, 1984), a mother's teaching principles has a positive influence on the child's learning development. This provides credence that a mother's level of educational attainment will have a bearing on her child's academic success. She influences how her child responds to the instructional strategies found in traditional school settings and helps to determine if her child will adapt easily to the familiar environment.

Researchers have proven that successful achievement also depends on an intact family (Astone & McLanahan, 1991). Aston and McLanahan (1991) found that when families were intact completion of high school more likely compared to non-intact families where children were less supervised or monitored. This also may prove that there may be other factors that contribute to academic achievement besides economic security or family structure.

Current research purports that successful academic achievement depends on an intact family and on economic stability (Astone & McLanahan, 1991). Astone and McLanahan (1991) found that family structure and home life were an important variable when studying high school completion. They found that the educational expectations of students from non-intact families were lower. Students also received less coaching on their schoolwork and overall received less supervision than children from intact families. Considerations must be taken for other reasons beside economic security or family structure, which could affect the results of the study.

Other researchers contributed interesting studies about educational attainment, poverty, and family structure. Hines (1992) found that being poor was not a predisposition to low academic achievement. Hines' study of gifted Puerto Rican children proved that although families had low educational attainment, they were able to provide support and encouragement, which led them to excel in school.

Researchers such as McLoyd (1990) believed that family structure and poverty should be considered as a distal influence and a not primary effect on low academic achievement. McLoyd (1990) argued that the negative affects of poverty should be viewed as a weak variable and is dominated by the support and assistance students received from parents. It is believed that this fosters parental nurturing and stability, which guides the student to function well emotionally and academically.

Bronfenbrenner (1979) constructed a conceptual framework model that is beneficial in examining the relative contribution of proximal and distal variables to the academic achievement of Hispanic and Latino students. When viewing Bronfenbrenner's model, it is important to understand the student's behavior by learning how the student perceives the activities, roles, and interpersonal relationships that exist in his or her environment. To support the argument of what affects distal and proximal variables, analyses were done that compared the interfamilial processes of African American, Hispanic, and White families with adolescents. According to the framework model, the processes of maternal intelligence, maternal education, maternal employment, and poverty would apply to all three groups equally. Differences in interfamilial processes are due to like culture, socialization and interaction within the home environment.

Bradley and Caldwell, (1984) and Bradley et al. (1977), concluded that specific environmental processes are more accurate variables of quality of the home environment than one socioeconomic status or family structure. The variance related to environmental processes was so significant that SES and family structure had very little influence on the findings. The findings indicated that in the United States SES is confounded with race and that there are significant differences in child-rearing practices among various ethnic groups.

As a vehicle of socialization, family heavily influences the educational attainment of children, along with other forms of support. Vygotsky (1978) emphasized the parent-child relationship in the socialization of cognitive

development. Vygotsky (1978) suggested that learning should take place for children when tutoring occurs in the "zone of proximal development." These zones are found in stages where the student is not yet able to perform tasks autonomously with success, but is able to perform units of the task with direct support and guidance from the adult. This zone of proximal development occurs when parents support students' learning through interventions that provide information for that task at different levels and abilities.

According to Sewell and Hauser (1975), Hill (1979), and Rollins and Thomas (1979), parents affect their child's academic goals and achievement. Parents promote higher academic success and educational goals by serving as role models of achievement (Hill, 1979; Rumberger, 1983; Shaw, 1982) and concretely defining specific objectives for the student (Cohen, 1987; Sewell & Hauser, 1975). By reinforcing with praise (Rollins & Thomas, 1979), importance of achievement and performance are validated to the child.

Similar results reported by Forehand, Long, Brody, and Fauber (1986) showed that the relationships between parent and child are influential and are indicators of performance and achievement. Hess and Halloway (1984) found five unique processes regarding family and school achievement based on the findings of the study of preschool, elementary, and middle-school children: (1) verbal interaction between mothers and children; (2) parents' expectation for achievement; (3) positive affective relationships between parents and children; (4) parental beliefs and attribution about the student; and (5) discipline and control strategies. Interestingly, among these five processes, discipline and control strategies appeared to have a primary influence on school achievement (Baumrind, 1991; Hess & McDewitt, 1984).

A study by Watson, Brown, and Swick (1983) found that parents' physical and mental contributions made a great significance to their children's school performance. The factors that contribute greatly to this finding are the amount of support given to a child by the parents and the child's performance in early school years. This study also revealed the kind of interaction that must take place for some degree of success to happen.

Stevenson and Baker (1987) also noted that students' school performance was enhanced by parental involvement in their schooling. Based on the significant results of the study, parental involvement in school activities influenced students' academic achievement and encouraged success explicitly and implicitly. In essence, students whose parents are more involved in their education earn higher grades in school (Stevenson & Baker, 1987).

Other studies also contribute to the literature about how parental involvement influences a child's academic success. Evidence from research has supported how higher levels of student achievement are associated with greater parental encouragement (Seginer, 1983). Sewell and Hauser (1980) state that parental support and encouragement is the primary mediator between social class and student performance. This study also suggests that for adolescents, high achievement during the adolescent years is associated with higher identification with

parents (Weinhert & Trieber, 1982). As students become acclimated from elementary school to high school, their readiness to work hard becomes an important indicator of academic achievement (Eccles & Midgley, 1989). Research has shown that parental influence is one of the factors that strongly affect students' achievement, and that the degree of readiness is influenced by parental involvement.

Naylor (1986) argues that there are two lines of research dealing with family influences on achievement in early adolescence. The first line of research deals with parent-child relationships. The second line of research emphasizes the influence of parental achievement related attitudes and beliefs on their student's attitudes and beliefs.

According to Naylor (1986) the topic of family influence on occupational and educational attainment have been of great interest to career educators and researchers. Based on Otto and Call (1985), researchers in such diverse fields as child development, sociology, demography, and career development have recognized that parental influence on employment and education drives the majority of decisions by students. Splete and Freeman-George (1985) show seven factors that influence the decisions of students educationally and vocationally: (1) geographic; (2) genetic inheritance; (3) family backgrounds; (4) socioeconomic status; (5) family composition; (6) parenting style; and (7) and parent work-related attitudes. The first four factors have an impact on the student's physical and mental

abilities. The last three have a monumental effect on a student's personality type, interpersonal style, work ethic, and the pursuit of nontraditional careers.

Parents play an important role in the educational process of their children. Because students spend more time at home than school, parents know their children intimately and interact with them on a one-on- one basis. Therefore, there are times when "teachable moments" happen that some teachers wished they had the insight to create. Children whose parents are involved in their student's formal education have better grades, test scores and, long-term academic achievement than do children with disinterested mothers and fathers (Henderson, 1988). Numerous studies have noted that parents' participation in education is very closely related to student achievement. Henderson (1988) reported that a Stanford University study revealed that when parents serve as tutors for their children, their children's IQs increase significantly.

Socioeconomic Status and Student Development

Since 1980, there has been an onset of interest in how the development of students is affected by socioeconomic factors at the family level. Researchers have emphasized that socioeconomic status, in contrast to income status, is multidimensional (e.g., parental education, occupation, income). There is a distinction between socioeconomic status and income status. Both are imperative to studying a student's development (Duncan, Yeung, Brooks-Gunn & Smith, in press).

Researchers have found that poverty and income status affect a student's development and that their effects are independent of and stronger than the effects of parental education (Duncan et al., 1994). In White's (1982) meta-analysis study, approximately 100 studies indicated family income is a stronger indication of academic achievement than either parental occupation or parental education. The study also states that measurements of socioeconomic status that combine income and occupation, or education and occupation, or all three components, are highly correlated with academic achievement than is income alone.

Socioeconomic Status and Cognitive Development

Socioeconomic status has affected students cognitively in a detrimental way. There are factors that mediate the effects of poverty on development. Based on demographic data and SES, the majority of poor children in the United States are of European ancestry, while the rates of childhood poverty among African American children are two to three times that of non-Latino, White children (U.S. Bureau of the Census, 1996).

In an analysis of longitudinal data from the 1968 to 1982, Duncan and Rogers (1988) gathered results from the Panel Study of Income Dynamics (PSID). They found that African American children, who accounted for 90% of all children studied, were poor for 10 to 15 years of their lives. It was also discovered that persistent poverty consistently had more detrimental affects on cognitive development,
academic achievement, and socioemotional functioning than transitory poverty (Duncan & Brooks-Gunn, 1997; McLoyd, 1998).

The subject of whether race differences exist during childhood poverty remains convoluted particularly when race is a factor. According to data from the PSID, Duncan et al. (1994) found that poverty during the first five years of life was far more influential on years of completed schooling than was poverty during middle childhood and adolescence. This period was particularly pronounced among African Americans, compared to whites. Other findings indicated that timing of poverty appeared to have no effects on achievement scores (Smith et al., 1997) or classroom placement (Pagani, Boulerice, & Tremblay, 1997).

Socioeconomic Status and Academic Achievement

During the late 1960s, state, federal, and local governments made many efforts to offset the affects of economic and social disadvantages of students entering the public education system. The purpose of these programs is to prepare preschool children of lower socioeconomic backgrounds for the social and scholastic experiences that they will encounter. Other programs were designed to help already at-risk students who fall in the category of low-SES and who are struggling in schools that lack the educational resources to help these students with special needs. The underlining scope of these programs is to equip, educate, and transform these students beyond their poverty level to productive, working adults.

In the United States, the number of children living in poverty is increasing at alarming rates. The United States is the largest nation to have higher incidents of children living in poverty (Cohen, 1993). Young people in this country account for more than 25% of the population. Children represent 40% of citizens categorized as poor. Statistically, most of the children in poverty are Black (43.1%) or Hispanic (39.6%) (McCormick, 1989). In 1987, 31% of children who lived in poverty under six-year-old lived in large cities (National Center for Children in Poverty, 1990). According to Renchler (1993), the circumstances by which these children pay for being poor are devastating. Carter (1991) reports several sources that support the conclusion that students who are socially and economically disadvantaged are more likely than children from higher income backgrounds to be damaged educationally. This factor puts low-SES students at-risk for obtaining substandard levels of achievement. Consequently, low-SES students drop out of school far more frequently than their higher SES counterparts. One million at-risk students drop out of school each year (McCormick, 1989).

Some conservatives argue that spending on social programs is wasteful, but the cost of not acting to assist low-income students is enormous. According to one statistic, the lifetime personal income lost as a result of dropping out of school ranges from \$20,000 to \$200,000 per person. The total cumulative lost income as a result of dropping out of high school is staggering. For example, in 1981, the high school dropouts had lost income estimated at more than \$238 billion, with lost tax revenues of \$68 billion. The benefits of keeping economically disadvantaged

students in school, according to financial experts, are well worth the human investment. Programs that will keep at-risk students in school and graduate them will yield a long-term savings of \$4.75 for every dollar spent (McCormick 1989).

According to Drazen (1992), data were collected between 1972 and 1988 by the National Longitudinal Studies Program to examine the changes in the link between student achievement levels in reading and math and other factors like SES, family income, and community. Drazen found that few changes happened regarding the correlation between academic achievement and family income over the 16 years of the study. In a sample of 900 children born with low birth weights (Duncan, G., & Brooks-Gunn, 1997) found that those who lived in poverty during their first five years had IQs averaging 9.1 points lower than the IQs of the children in the sample whose families were not in poverty (Duncan & Brooks-Gunn).

Students from lower-income levels do not realize how much they are disadvantaged. They generally attend schools that are grossly underfunded, while their counterparts attend schools that receive substantially more funding and higher amounts of tax-based dollars per pupil (Hanushek, 1989).

Legislators and policy makers are urging that financial restructuring take place to help low-income students overcome the disadvantages that are currently exist in the infrastructure of school finance (Harp, 1993). It is evident that if lowincome students attend poorly-funded schools they will not have the same opportunities to achieve as their high-income counterparts who attend better-funded schools (Renchler, 1993).

In a recent study, rural students are vulnerable to inadequate schooling and lower educational goals. The correlation between socioeconomic status and academic achievement has been documented in educational and psychological literature. The impact of this relationship is more imperative than school locality or school size (Marion, Mirochnik, McCaul, & McIntire, 1991; Center for Research and Evaluation, 1991). Wherever students go to school, students from low-income families have lower aspiration than do their high-income peers.

The poverty rate among rural communities is higher than it is anywhere else. According to O'Hara (1988), even rural families with two parents working are falling into poverty at a high rate. Because of tuition increases and low wages, college is an unrealistic choice for many rural students. Another circumstance that influences the goals of rural students is the educational attainment of both parents. High school seniors attending schools in urban and metropolitan areas are 1.5 times more likely than non-metropolitan area students to have a parent with at least a bachelor's degree than non-metropolitan area students (Pollard & O'Hare, 1990). These circumstances are unlikely to change since students who stay in rural areas have the lowest educational aspiration of America's youth and are more likely than those who leave to earn less education (Cobb, McIntire, & Pratt, 1989). Higher education and higher earning potential have drawn many young people out of rural areas. The lack of quality jobs will keep young people in rural settings. During the past 25 years, job requirements for managerial and technical positions have

required college degrees and have shifted job location to urban and suburban areas (McGranahan, 1988).

College represents only one aspiration for rural students. The analysis of data from the High School and Beyond Study (McCaul, 1989) revealed that rural dropouts as well as urban and suburban dropouts had several things in common. Like dropouts from urban and suburban schools, rural students made lower grades and scored lower on achievement tests than peers who graduated. Other findings concluded that rural students had low self-esteem and lacked self-actualization as compared to peers who stayed in school. The rural students who dropped out cited job offers, economic duress of family structure, or personal problems like pregnancy, marriage, and illness, or incorrigible behavior at school as reasons. McCaul (1989) also found that a higher proportion of minority rural students dropped out of school more than did rural white students, specifically Hispanics. Approximately half of rural dropouts were from the bottom quartile of the socioeconomic scale.

There is a considerable amount of literature regarding the differential affects of school inputs on student achievement. There are conditions that determine that educational inputs weigh more heavily than socioeconomic factors on student achievement, and in these cases environmental cultural variables are present. Studies that focus on the educational inputs on academic achievement in other educational systems are scarce. Different variables are considered when determining what affects students academically in Latin America and the Caribbean.

The countries have made great strides to improve their educational systems by the year 2000.

During a decentralization process in 1978, Mexico's school system used academic achievement scores to streamline public school graduates who were applying to public secondary education in the Mexico City metropolitan area. Based on the standardized achievement scores, students were allowed to choose the school shift of their choice, which naturally meets supply and demand. The majority of students with higher achievement scores preferred the morning shift. So, under this policy students with higher scores attended morning shift school and students with lower scores attended the afternoon shift. This procedure was implemented in large metropolitan areas in 14 states. Between 1991 and 1992 tests were administered to more than 352,000 secondary freshman applicants, 32% of whom were applying to enter first grade in federally financed secondary schools nationwide.

A questionnaire was distributed with information about the student's educational and family background, including gender, age, the number of elementary grades attended, size of the household, the educational attainment of both parents, and the shift of the public primary schools attended. According the section that the student attended, this variable was indicative of the type of students attending the morning shift. These students tended to be from a higher socioeconomic status and were higher achievers than their peers who attended the afternoon shift. As expected, there was a positive significant (p<.001) correlation of

father's (r=.275) and mother's (r=.287) education with the day school shift. When certain variables were controlled in this study, males had a significant advantage in ability while older students at the time of primary completion displayed lower ability. Mother's education was more significant than father's education as a cometate of ability. Students who live in two-parent homes attained a better ability score, but students from large families received lower scores. School inputs like preschool attendance and day school shift and locality were closely, but not significantly, related with ability.

The educational attainment of both parents was correlated with student achievement. Parents' income is used as a variable to determine socioeconomic levels that are strongly related to student cognitive achievement. Family structure was found to have a strong correlation with student achievement with less time far and exposure to parental simulation possible in large families.

In the 1960s researchers wanted to take an in-depth look at why there was a high percentage of minority students performing poorly in the school system. It was assumed that there was a deficiency in these children (Garcia Coll. et al., 1996; Laosa, 1977). It was believed that minority children could not learn as a result of a genetic deficiency. They were labeled as being incapable of performing. Laosa (1977) and Lopez (1991) concluded that minority children's difficulty in learning was due to the middle orientation of the school system, which contributed to the negative perceptions an ethnic minority child had of school. Other findings indicated that there were differences between minority and non-minority children and among and

within sub-culture communities (Laosa, 1977; 1980). It also was noted that as the student progressed through the school system, results did not completely eliminate cultural differences (Okagaki & Sternberg, 1996).

Current literature concludes that minority parents are to blame for their children's poor performance. Parents are supposed to be responsible for helping to educate their children. Instead, their children are not motivated and dedicated enough to make the system work for them (Dunn, 1987). Studies have reported that the lower socioeconomic status (SES) minority parents view their student's teachers as pedagogical experts and are unlikely to confront, question, or interfere in what they view as the teacher's domain (Carasquillo, 1994). Complacency of the parent often results in a misleading interpretation by the teacher that minority parents are not concerned about their children's education. In reality, these families are highly concerned and willing to help their children succeed in school, but they are unsure how to help (Delgado-Gaitan; 1990; Goldenberg, 1993; Goldenberg & Gallimore, 1991).

In contrast to low-income families, Hines (1992) found that families of high achieving minority students provided a strong family support system for their students. This support often is displayed during informal conversations related to everyday events, family decision-making policies, monitoring and supervising free time, parental explanation and counseling, and helping the children establish and reach long term objectives.

(SES) serves as a measure for the home environment and is closely linked to intellectual development (Gottfried & Gottfried, 1984). Factors that are included in the SES measure are parental occupation, parental education, and family income. Significant limitations of socioeconomic status being used as a measure for home environments have been noted (Bloom, 1964). Socioeconomic factors predict a family's social standing as well as other demographic information but, there is not a strong relationship between home environments and cognitive development (Bloom, 1964; Garcia Coll et al., 1996; Laosa, 1982). Velez (1989) found that Hispanics from lower-SES often force tend to dropout of school most often as well as economic constraints forcing them out of school. He states further that the higher the SES, the richer the cognitive environment. However, this is always not the case. Gottfried and Gottfried (1984) found that students from middle class backgrounds did not ensure or promote cognitive growth. In other studies, specific income levels such as middle class status have resulted in variability in student development.

Trotman (1977) found that in past studies, Blacks were categorized as inferior in SES positions. This was based on the assumption that traditional variables like occupation, source of income, and neighborhood, represent for Blacks and Whites, factors of home environments, that are positively related to intelligence test scores and academic achievement. What is overlooked in most studies is the presence of significant environmental and attitudinal differences that are not present in traditional socioeconomic indices, but are reflected in the performance of Blacks on tests and in educational institution (Trotman, 1977). Trotman (1977) stated that Blacks' and

Whites' cultural differences, home experiences, parent-child interactions, and income levels might explain the differences in intelligence test performance by members of both groups. This supports and reiterates the findings from Gottried and Gottfried's (1984) study.

Laosa (1979, 1984) found that each environment has its own set of characteristics and a student's achievement or failure depends on the degree of competencies required to negotiate in those environments. To understand the relationship between specific family environments and intellectual achievement among populations whose members are disproportionately represented among low achievers on intelligence and achievement measures, one must examine the discrepancies between the competencies minority students acquire in their homes and those valued in the school.

Education has always been used as a means of upward mobility especially for the disadvantaged (Rivera-Baitz & Santigo, 1994; Smith, 1995). Minority students are more likely to be at an educational disadvantage as compared to whites for several reasons, including high chances of poverty and low educational attainment levels of parents.

Many factors have pinpointed dropout rates among ethnic minority groups. The socioeconomic variable is a complex factor that usually contributes to much of all circumstances. Researchers have continued to argue that low socioeconomic status of families is the primary cause of low academic achievement in children (Hetherington, Camara, & Featherman, 1983; Shinn, 1978; White, 1982). In most

cases, it is assumed that children from middle SES families are participants in the learning process, as compared to being passive vessels of direct knowledge (Harwood et al., 1996; Menaghan & Parcel, 1991). These differences, cited by Harwood et al. (1996), are more indicative to social competence among the middleclass compared to lower-class children.

Other researchers purport that SES be viewed as a distal influence on academic outcomes (Bronfenbrenner, 1986; Felner & Felner, 1989; McLoyd, 1990). Distal factors are variables that do not directly describe the life conditions and demands that result from those variables, nor the processes they require (DuBois, Eitel, & Felner, 1994). Several studies have found that aspects of distal variables of the family process were closely linked to school adjustment, even though there were controls for duplicates between family type variables and socioeconomic status or family structure (Dornbusch et al., 1987).

Other researchers believe that the greater emphasis should be placed on proximal variables. They are interpersonal systematic processes that define daily experiences of students within the context of the family (Bronfenbrenner, 1986; Felner & Felner, 1989; McLoyd, 1990). Laosa (1980) and LeVine (1980) state that mothers in their day-to-day interactions with their children function teacher whether they care to take on this role or not. Bronfenbrenner (1979) cites that it's important to consider the influence of the family environment on the success of children when the home is the major ecological setting. Many families, especially first-generation U.S. citizens, consider successful integration of children into mainstream culture as

their measure of success as parents (Garcia Coll et al., 1996; Zayas & Palleja, 1988). Acculturation may be represented in various ways (i.e., higher social status through employment and or education).

Luster and McAdoo (1994) found that family characteristics and processes of high-achieving African American students are different from those of their lowachieving peers. Based on many studies, most of which have negative results found that poverty and maternal education were not imperative to a student's cognitive outcomes and that the quality of the home environment served to mediate the effect of poverty.

Extraneous variables are important because socioeconomic factors are often used in many studies that do not have the same meaning across entire populations and sub-culture populations. Volk (1994) discovered that many families who were considered working class were able to offer support and encouragement to their children.

A conglomerate of research has substantiated that there's a strong correlation between family relationships and the intellectual, occupational, and economic attainments of those individuals as adults. Scarr and Weinberg (1978) concluded that family backgrounds have an effect on scholastic achievement and economic accomplishment into adulthood. Many researchers have tried to pinpoint the exact functional element in this relationship. Some have attributed it to educational and occupational attainment and family elements such as family size, birth order, and spacing intervals between siblings. Still others find explanation for

the differential academic performance among children in socioeconomic status, while others favor the behavioral-genetic interpretations (Henderson, 1981).

Since 1929, social scientists have been researching the various ways in which social stratification influences American life. Population studies have been conducted to demonstrate the ways in which students from different socioeconomic status levels receive differential treatment in school and institutions of higher learning (Brophy & Good, 1974). The question of how social class membership influences the socialization and development of students has captured the interest of social scientists everywhere. Measures of socioeconomic status are gross and undifferentiated, but research consistently has shown that socioeconomic status accounts for between 6 and 25% of the variance in IQ and academic achievement measures (Lavin, 1965; Miner, 1957).

A predictive element in the measurement of socioeconomic status is attributed to a variety of variables, attitudes, and motives relating to academic performance (Lavin, 1965). Among the proposed predictive elements are the neighborhood of residence, value placed on education, typical leisure-time activities, amount of reading done, and the nature of reading material (Deutsch, 1973).

The difficulty in using socioeconomic status as a standalone variable is that it limits the explanation of the construct itself. For example, several characteristics such as formal education and occupation may appear to summarize a number of important life-style variables, but may obstruct the variation among these characteristics in a general socioeconomic status level.

For lower-class adolescents, the view of "masculine values" leads students to reject the middle-class norm of respecting authority and middle-class achievement orientation. The lack of success among lower- class students does not necessarily mean low IQ's. According to Hollingshead's, *Elmtown's Youth*, academic failure of lower class students was viewed in this way: bias of the educational institution, that deliberately or inadvertently showed more attention to higher ability students. According to Cicourel and Kitsuse (1963), academic development and interest of the pupil is significantly influenced by counselors, who spend more time and effort helping students go on to college. The students' parents also supported this plan and frequently asked about their children's progress. These parents tended to belong exclusively to the middle and upper social classes.

Other conditions are present among lower-class living. Feelings of antiintellectualism and antic-abstractionism are pervasive in this social class. This is a disadvantage because most institutions' efforts are aimed at middle-class views and beliefs. Upon these values this system makes high demands to individuals who cannot meet its requirements. As an example, linguistics among the lower class has been examined. Based on a number of research studies, the lack of abstract reasoning is noticeable in of verbal functioning. Without measuring relative intelligence, the lower class student is characterized as intellectually retarded in the abstract dimension of verbal functioning.

Montague (1964) observed the social class condition concerning the ability to think in abstract terms. The research highlights the differences that socioeconomic

backgrounds make on kindergartners' arithmetic concepts. Eighty-two pupils from four kindergarten classes were divided into socioeconomic categories and were subjected to a number of tests. As a result, a significant difference of .01 α level was found between the children from low and those from high socioeconomic backgrounds. A study of similar hypothesis selected three groups of students and paired them based on age, gender, grade placement, and experimental variables. Racial and regional factors were included, too. It was found that white students scored higher than African American students and that Northern African Americans scored higher than Southern African Americans, which was indicative of the educational climate.

Abstractness plays a crucial role between social classes. Its link to motivation and academic achievement can stem from influences of material gain or symbolic orientation. The examination of both social classes and their level of motivation is paramount to this study.

Some individuals are gratified primarily from material wealth, while others strive for symbolic attainment and others seek both forms of gratification. Most research studies have found that lower and higher socioeconomic classes differ with respect to the values they seek in personal achievement. The study noted that middle-class parents rear their children with the notion of value of individual achievement. As a result of this reverence, achievement becomes a value for its own sake and often loses its meaning. As an example, the middle-class students seek to master their curriculum subject regardless of whether it leads to practical

application or material wealth. The actual mastery of the subject is viewed as success in itself and may give the student both the motivation to embark on the academic process and great satisfaction if he/she succeeds. This concept is abstract since the attainment may not be associated with material or concrete gains of any kind. Lower-class students tend not be abstractly oriented. The effort for the sake of achievement as a concept is a foreign idea that is oblivious to students in this category. Motivation for students of this social class often is based on the promise of material or concrete things.

Douvan (1966), wanted to prove her assumptions that a high level of concreteness is needed to motivate lower class students, and that middle class students would be less likely to change their levels of aspiration with immediate rewards. High school students in both social classes were asked to complete a series of anagrams and motor tests under two different reward conditions. In the first condition, a reward was limited to the feeling of having accomplished a norm. In the second condition, a material reward of money was the prize for the greatest number of correct answers. As a part of the experiment, all students were told they had failed. At that point, Douvan assumed failure aroused achievement want, a reaction correlated with achievement motivation. Then McClelland's Achievement Test, and a projective Thematic Aperception Test (TAT) were given. Douvan's (1966) results supported the original hypothesis. Both groups responded to the material reward condition, but the lower class participants striving for material wealth

dropped drastically when the material reward was absent, while the motivated upper middle class participants remained at the same level.

From this study, achievement motivations of middle-class students were significantly more generalizable, consistent, and abstract-proof. Many researchers have omitted the factor of abstractness from their research and have focused mainly on motivation and aspiration instead. Sewell, Haller and Straus (1957) sampled more than 4,000 high school seniors in Wisconsin, to explore the relationship between socioeconomic status and students' educational and occupational aspiration levels. As a result, the study yielded a high correlation between social class and aspiration for both sexes. The researchers could not overlook other variables that may have played an important part in the study, but they were confident that the socioeconomic status of the student's family made an independent contribution to their aspiration level. Looking at those factors that played an important role in the aspiration level of the participants, these variables are intervening variables that compound the results of the study.

Polk (1965) examined the Lane County Youth Project in Eugene, Oregon, to explore the relationship between social class and academic aspirations and discovered a varied amount of variables that offer a more in-depth and accurate prediction of a student's success level than the simple class-and-aspiration correlation. It was discovered that teenagers' categorization as either the collegebound or non-college-bound type functioned as a more persuasive factor than socioeconomic status. Once a student is classified as college bound, more

attention, counseling, and encouragement are provided to reinforce his/her plans, which then and stimulates continuous effort to work toward the academic goal.

Thoughout the world (e.g., the United States, England, West Germany, Italy, and Mexico), studies have found that parental dominance is a strong factor in the student's desire to achieve. Parental dominance has been found to be a stronger influence on students' achievement than socioeconomic status. Reissman (1953) found that even though a person may belong to the middle class, which encourages academic achievement, the student may not exhibit a high motivational level if his reference group does not stress high achievement.

A number of studies concluded that the socioeconomic factor plays a heavy role in the well-being of the student. It has been shown that students of underpaid or unemployed families may suffer a loss in peer group status. Children often look for the support of a family to play an active role in their lives, but in many situations the family income cause those wishes to deteriorate among students. These situations are characteristic of family members being unavailable to their students for moral and psychological support. Without fully recognizing the total effects of socioeconomic factors and their relationship to parents' financial resources, students lose both a measure of security and leadership. They have little or no desire for ambition and commitment.

The student's schoolwork suffers, and according to Eisenberg and Lazarsfeld (1983) the younger students suffer more than the older, probably because they are more dependent on their parents and have had less opportunity to build up

resistance to devastating situations. For the older student, a crumbling parental situation may occur at a time when parental assistance could have meant a decision about what major to choose in college or what occupational career to pursue. For students to take a first-hand look at the financial perplexities that their family experiences and, at the same time strive for material wealth, could exasperate the students' future endeavors.

Elder (1974) found that middle-class families that lost substantial income during the Great Depression had children who started experiencing behavioral problems like stealing and destructiveness. The socioeconomic change affected the boys at a more significant rate than girls. The findings indicated that because the father was the head of family during the Great Depression lower income status jeopardized the boys' view of their primary role model. This may have had a greater effect on boys' social development and occupational aspirations than on girls. Boys from deprived, destitute backgrounds fared worse than did those from middle-and upper-middle class background.

The influence of economic arrangement and responsibilities has been an interesting topic for most researchers. What perceptions do students have in regard to their parents' economic situation? Does a student's predisposition to poverty expose him/her to greater risk of failure? Several studies have indicated that students of all ages are not always aware or knowledgeable of the plights of economic hardships that others have experienced unless they're predisposed to such an environment.

During adolescent years, there's an understanding of social structure, fairness, and balance of rights among individuals in society (Turiel, 1983). As children grow older, particularly males, there's a slow decline for the concern of others, which may lead to a male adolescent perception of economic arrangements focused on an individualistic. Hoffman (1975), the pressure of males to achieve and succeed often conflicts with concerns for the welfare of others. Boys are socialized to model their fathers and fit the traditional sex-role toward career pursuits and achievement. What if boys expressed the desire to be more like their mothers instead of their fathers? Would they have a different attitude toward occupational success and achievement?

In the Winocur and Siegal (1982) study, some questions were addressed to two age groups of middle-class Australian adolescents, aged 13 and 16-18 years. They were asked to allocate rewards between make-believe male and female workers in four separate cases. In one case, a male with no children was contrasted with a female with three kids. In the second case, a male with three kids was contrasted with a female who had none. In the third and fourth cases, both male and female had no children and both had two children.

For each case, participants in the study were asked to divide a pile of twelve \$50 monopoly bills between the two workers. The total of \$600 was fixed so that if it was divided evenly, each worked would receive \$50 above the industry standard wage for males, which was \$250 at the time of the study. The findings of the study were as expected. The concern for financial need declined with age. Older

adolescents were more likely than younger ones to base their allocation of money on the norm for equal work for equal pay, ignoring the family needs of individuals.

McClelland (1975) and McClelland and Pilon (1983) concluded that if the father is the breadwinner and the primary agent in his son's life the boy will experience what is known as imperial power syndrome, a high need to achieve and a low need for support from others. According to Bem (1974), boys and girls with fathers that possess masculine attributes rather than androgynous or feminine ones are determined, according to the Bem Sex-Role Inventory, as socially and cognitively competent. McClelland (1975), found a correlation between the imperial motivational pattern in men and a self-reported dislike of childcare and enjoyment of work. This explains the male's orientation toward a morality of separateness and individual rights and principles whereas females move toward a morality of interdependence.

In a typical family setting, perceptions of a powerful father will entice children to achieve. Tesser (1980) concludes that when fathers' achievements are seen as good and are relevant to the son's self-definition, comparison processes occur. This often causes the relationship between father and son to be strained because closeness between the two will be seen as threatening to self-esteem. The son will be motivated to decrease closeness with the father.

Biographical information was taken from eminent scientists and compared to that of their fathers. Scientists indicated that the closeness between their fathers was strained because of similarities in occupations. Based on this observation of

successful sons and their fathers, boys who are oriented toward serious academic and economic success perceive their fathers as a powerful masculine image that is consistent with society's image.

Research continues to provide evidence that ready acceptance and active involvement in society is influenced by one's socioeconomic background. It has been found that social leadership scores of children in middle-class schools are higher than scores of children in working-class schools. The average scores for aggressive, maladjusted students are lower in middle-class than in working-class schools.

Middle-and upper-middle-class students are more involved often than are in attending athletic events, dances, plays, and musical activities those from lower socioeconomic backgrounds. This, however, does not mean that every student from lower socioeconomic backgrounds will become social rejects. Research has shown that students whose fathers are college graduates are far more likely to be successful than students whose fathers have only a high school diploma.

Subcultures of the collegiate realm are often divided into groups based on their socioeconomic status. Children of middle-and upper-middle-class families often are interested in the college world of football, Greek letter societies, cars, drinking, dates, and card parties, than courses and professors. Students in this subculture are not insensitive to college life, but this is characteristic of middle and upper- middle-class students in this group. The vocational subculture are children of parents who are classified in a low socioeconomic status and live in the urban

centers of the United States. Their children attend urban colleges and universities and tend to be married students putting themselves through college. The academic subculture is usually children of parents who are upper-middle-class and are heavily involved in their academic pursuit of a college of education. Their achievement goes strictly beyond passing a course or graduation. Their views are linked closely with their college and faculty.

The nonconformist subculture includes children of all socioeconomic levels. These are intellectual, radical, anarchist protester type, scholarly, but social rebel, deviant, longhaired, but peaceful, isolationist students. When students fall in this category, their political, social, and cultural norms are at odds with their teachers, parents, and school. They form their own nonconformist cultures (Rice, 1978).

Research consistently reveals that being of low socioeconomic status is correlated with early withdrawal from school. Students from these families are more likely to lack positive parental influences and role models. In many cases, one will find that parents want their children to have more education than they completed. If a parent finished the fifth grade, maybe their goal for their son or daughter will be to finish high school. This sentiment often breeds drop-out students. In other cases, parents discourage their children from attending school.

Other variables enter into the picture when dealing with lower-class students. Schoolteachers often show prejudice against students from lower socioeconomic backgrounds. They show preferential treatment to students from middle and uppermiddle class backgrounds. Students from these classes generally are chosen to run

errands, monitor, and chair committees, while students from lower classes receive more than their share of discipline and are labeled learning disabled. Because teachers are from the same middle-class strata, they often find it difficult to understand and accept the goals, values, and behaviors of students from other economic levels. In effect, this is indicative of their ethnic and social biases, which prevents them from treating and teaching every student equally. Instead, teachers expect less from lower-class students, making them resent differential treatment and to feel inferior. These students received fewer rewards for doing well and for staying in school than did students from higher-status families. Rewards are in the form of academic grades, favor by teachers, social acceptance by peers, and offices held. Lower-class students receive fewer rewards than higher status peers do. They're not recognized for their academic performance and do not enjoy the social acceptance and prestige of their peers (Rice, 1978).

In the past, the focus of achievement has been centered on reinforcement and attributions for past performances rather than others' expectation for the future. Students' perceptions on economic justice have been perceived as cognitive developmental stages. Their opinions and ideas have been overlooked.

Siegal (1985) notes there is a shift away from examining constructs dealing with children's self-definition, identification, and perceptions of others. Researchers have gone as far as saying the current generation of parents is not as concerned as their parents were about increasing quality child care. Instead, parents are more

concerned with developing themselves. Bronfenbrenner (1985) concluded that children are raised by television instead of by their parents.

Parenthood today has become more difficult. Students now place physical and emotional demands on parents. Time and financial restrictions make it difficult for husband and wife relationships, which is not a new concept. Bronfenbrenner (1985) points out that today's student expects to possess more material goods. Financially unstable parents cannot meet the expectations of their child easily. From an early age, children are accosted with values and interests that potentially could collide with the parents' own values, morals, and beliefs. As family size has decreased, adults are unaware of what it means to raise children because they had no younger siblings to help raise, which was common for large families.

A person's reference group impacts the relationships between social class, background, and aspiration level, which operate as an intervening variable. Generally, a student's reference group tends to be of the same or similar socioeconomic status as that of his/her family. It is also possible that a student can identify with certain aspects of a reference group of a different socioeconomic status. Merton and Kitt (1950) argue that each social class is characterized by a different value system that emphasized different beliefs, morals and motivations for success. A student who identifies with morals and values of a different reference group will adopt the same characteristics of that group as his own, even if he does not belong to that group. This process is called anticipatory socialization and it implies the acclamation of norms and behavior traits of a higher stratum.

Anticipatory socialization is an exception and can be attributed to a student's socioeconomic background as a foundation for the building of aspiration levels.

According to Richard Whitmire (1999) SAT and ACT scores lag behind that of Whites, the performance level of black and Latino middle-class high school students. The performance gap among middle-class minorities was highlighted when a College Board task force reported in most school districts middle-class Black and Latino students performed about the same as whites who grew up in poverty. Because the Black middle class is ever increasing, there will be continuous debates over admission policies as more Black and Latino students seek four-year degrees and compete with White and Asian students who have higher SAT and ACT scores. In a study to boost minority achievement, places like Evanston, IL, and Chapel Hill, NC, experimented with a network of fifteen school districts with a sizable middleclass Black population. Preliminary findings indicated that African American students exceeded state and national norms for African American students, but the disparity between Whites and Blacks and Latinos is substantial. In 1997, the average ACT score in Evanston for Whites was 26.2% and 18.7 for Blacks. In 1998, the year's graduating class, 20 of the 100 top ranked students were minorities. Suggestions were to improve academic achievement among minority students by creating ACT prep classes specifically for Black and Latinos a new precalculus course; and a program specifically designed to build college-bound minority students' motivational and organizational skills.

Much of the research has linked socioeconomic status to student academic achievement. It also has been linked to academic failure across all levels of educational standing. A family's social condition has been associated with dropouts on all levels. Dropouts from lower the socioeconomic strata make up a significantly higher proportion of dropouts than do middle-and upper-class student.

Hollingshead's (1949) study of high school youth found a correlation between socioeconomic background and school adjustment, academic achievement, college orientation, and dropout rate. Hollinghead (1949) found that regardless of relative intelligence, one-third of students from lower classes received failing grades, as opposed to only 5% of the combined middle-and lower-class students.

Toby (1957) found that the social class status of the family has an impact in patterning a student's basic orientation to education and that the middle-class student has a definite advantage over her lower-class peer group in academic achievement. The student's parents are better educated, and therefore are more capable of helping him/her with schoolwork.

With parental involvement in his or her education, parents are more enthusiastic about making schoolwork meaningful to him/her by indicating explicitly the career or occupational application to life. Verbal skills which he/she acquires as a part of child training on the middle-class level prepare the student for academic training and give her an initial advantage over lower-class students in a classroom situation. The pressure of family, parents, friends, and neighbors reinforces his motivation for academic achievement and increases the probability of success. Based on a study conducted in Louisiana, 77% of farm youth remaining in high school had fathers who were laborers. Forty-eight percent of the dropouts among rural students had fathers who operated or owned a farm, while 52% had fathers who were laborers. Among the students with non-farm or laborer backgrounds, 30% had fathers who were businessmen or professionals, and 70% had fathers who were wage laborers. Of the dropouts with no farm background, 100% had fathers who were wage laborers. This finding has been validated by the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory, which is an effective measurement of personal and social characteristics. Hathaway and Monachesi (1963) constructed a research design that used more than 15,000 Minnesota high school students in a follow-up study lasting through several high school generations. The findings indicated that among laborer families, 38% of the boys and 32% of the girls dropped out of school, while among professional families only 5% of the boys and 5% of the girls left before graduating.

There have been well-established links between socioeconomic status and students' achievement (Blau & Duncan, 1967; Flanangan et al., 1971; Eagle, 1989). In a sample of more than 20,000 males between the ages of 20 and 64, Blau and Duncan (1967) found that the educational level and occupation of the father accounted for 28% of the variance in years of education. Flanagan et al. (1971) cited that the probability of a student from the lower SES quartile entering college within five years of high school graduation was .32 for males and .18 for females. Meanwhile, the probability for students from the highest quartile was .86 for males

and .78 for females. In a study where social class was defined by the income, occupation, and educational level of the parents, Eagle (1989) concluded that students from the 90th percentile in social class distribution may be expected to receive over four and a half more years of education than students from the 10th percentile.

The data from the National Center for Education Statistics provide support for the association between socioeconomic status and educational attainment. In this study, approximately 45% of high school seniors from high-SES backgrounds completed postsecondary education, while only 15% of high school seniors from low-SES backgrounds completed college. When scholastic scores rather than college entrance scores are used as outcome measures, SES accounts for less of the variance. Parental social background accounted for 6% of the variance on math, slightly more than 16% of the variance on working knowledge, and 13% on word comprehension.

In a study of 868 Black and White elementary school children from two-parent and single-mother families, Paterson, Kupersmidt, and Vaden (1990) discovered that income level and ethnicity were better overall predictors than gender or family structure of children's academic achievement. White (1982) challenges evidence that supports the association between SES and academic achievement.

White (1982) conducted a meta-analysis of 200 studies that investigated the relationship between SES and academic achievement. He found that income, education, and occupation of the head of the household defined SES. When

individual students were the unit of analysis, SES and academic achievement were only weakly correlated (r=.22).

White (1982) also found that when an aggregated unit (such as school or district, in which all students were given the same SES and achievement rating) was the unit of analysis, the correlation between SES and academic achievement increased drastically to .73. White (1982) also discovered inconsistencies in the various measures of SES used in the studies he reviewed. With the traditional measures of SES, of income, education, and occupation income was found to be the highest single correlate of academic achievement.

White (1982) found that measures of SES that integrate two or more indicators were more highly correlated with academic achievement than was any single indicator. In the past, defining SES by family process has been a controversial issue, but White found that when SES was defined by measures of home environment, such as parents assisting children with homework, SES correlated much higher with academic achievement than when it was defined by single or combined groups of the traditional indicators. White (1982) indicated that in addition to parental education, occupation, and income level, there were many other characteristics of families that could affect the academic performance of students.

Other researchers, like Clark (1983), supported White's (1982) conclusions. Clark found that sponsored independence, high support, high expectations, close supervision, and respect for their student's intellectual achievement identified poor

black parents of high scholastic achievers. There is a need to go beyond the SES and to look into how SES should be ignored.

Halsey (1975) points out that socioeconomic class should not be thought of as a single factor independent of family processes. He perceives there are complicated interactive relationships between SES, family processes, and students' achievement.

Kohn (1979), a pioneering researcher who discovered the effects of social class on family process, believed that the higher a parent's social class, the more likely he or she was to value characteristics indicative of self-direction. He or she is also less likely to value characteristics indicative of conformity to external authority. Kohn concluded that this pattern was linked to the variety of conditions of life faced by parents in different socioeconomic circumstances. Parents with high socioeconomic status were more independent, free from close supervision, more likely to work at non-routine tasks, and did more complex work than parents with low SES.

A longitudinal study by Majoribanks (1988) found that parents' aspirations had differential linear and curvilinear associations with the educational and occupational outcomes of young adults from different social-status groups. Young adults living in middle social-status families had parental aspirations that were not related to their educational attainment. On the other hand, subjects in lower-socialstatus families had parental aspirations that had curvilinear association with educational attainment until a level of aspiration was attained.

Datcher-Loury (1988) attempted to link SES and family processes with school achievement of students. Based on data from the ETS Head Start Longitudinal Study, it was discovered that parental behavior and attitudes such as reading to children several times a week, attending PTA or Head Start groups, and having high educational expectations had important long-term effects on students' academic performance. It is also noted that these achievement-related actions of parents are usually associated with SES.

Eagle (1989) cited that among high school seniors, the advantageous home environment in high school, parents reading to the student during early childhood, and having a special place in the household for the student to study, were more common in higher-than in low-SES households. These results are consistent with that of a qualitative study on family-school relationships by Lareau (1987). She discovered that social class status provided parents with unequal resources to comply with teachers requests for parental participation. With this mind, middleclass and working-class students had more differences in the ways they encouraged educational success than in their educational values. Lower-working-class parents gave their responsibility for education to teachers, but middle-class parents did not. Middle-class parents had capital (i.e., educational skills, occupational prestige, and the necessary economic resources, to manage child, transportation, and time needs required to meet with teachers) to facilitate compliance with teachers' requests for parental participation.

To what extent does an individual's achievement depend on factors other than her ability, aspiration, and effort? In this country, individuals are paid for their performance of an occupational role and not for some extrinsic considerations. Are there other factors that can be identified as having an influence on earnings and may account for the wide discrepancies in earnings among the members of any particular social group?

Does an individual's social background provide favorable or unfavorable conditions for future employment? Why? Based on the history of humankind, it has been assumed that people from higher-status backgrounds achieve more because they possess superior God-given capacities because of either natural-born or learned talent, a biological inheritance, or both. It is a highly complex subject that should be explored and then understood by all. How does one's social origin influence capacities and achievements in educational, occupational, and economic arenas?

The answer may lie in examining individuals and their different characteristics. Numerous studies report that individuals with higher- status origins on average score higher on ability and achievement tests, earn better grades in school, have higher educational and occupational aspirations, are likely to obtain the education that will make them eligible for demanding, high prestige occupations, and will earn more income.

It is believed that much of the impact of social background on earnings and socioeconomic achievement is due to the superior cognitive and motivational

environment provided in the homes of higher-status parents. It is also believed to be due to the advantages in schooling and job opportunities that parents can provide for their children. There are ascriptive elements at work that allow the direct transfer of occupational and socioeconomic status, whether high or low, from parents to adult children, despite a son's or daughters' abilities, motivations, and educational achievements.

Because earnings are one source of a number of rewards, occupational roles should be interpreted and understood based on their prerequisites (Sewell & Hauser, 1975). Sewell & Hauser (1975) believe that earnings are a status achievement like educational attainment or occupational achievement. These achievements are interrelated to the extent they are connected with socioeconomic background influences.

In their classic study, Blau and Duncan (1967) discussed the American occupational structure, which is the first status of the attainment process. It was a new approach to study social mobility. The researchers defined social mobility as the process that develops over the life cycle of the individual. Their approach to analyzing social mobility was different from traditional social mobility analysis because it examined the degree that occupational and career status of a person is dependent on that person's social background. It also discussed the degree to which they are explained or interpreted by the person's own experiences or environmental influences that intervene between the students' background and future endeavors.

As an example, they collected and studied data from a 1962 national sample survey of males 20-to 64-years-old. Blau and Duncan (1967) speculated about a causal model of status attainment that began with the educational and occupational status of the father, followed by the son's education, the son's first job, and the son's occupation in 1962. In their model, educational attainment accounted for nearly all of the effects of the father's occupational status and his education on the son's occupational status in that year. Education was more influential than the first job in determining later occupational status. This is because educational attainment is largely independent of family background. It also had a large, independent influence on later achievement. These findings were consistent with the different age groups into which the sample was subdivided. They also indicate the crucial role that education plays in the career attainment process.

Blacks, Socioeconomic Status, and Academic Achievement

African Americans who have succeeded in corporate America have the opportunity to offer their sons and daughters a protective childhood. For African Americans, success is a mixed blessing because parents often worry about the harsh realities their children may or may not face regarding racism. Typically, the children of successful parents are often called "Baby Bumps" (Black Upwardly Mobile Professionals). These students enjoy the fruits of their parents' achievement. Living in upper-middle-class and exclusive neighborhoods, attending

private and public schools in affluent communities, Black students of this caliber often enjoy the privileges that their parents can afford.

These privileges do not come without a cost to affluent Black children. Black children who are more privileged than others often find themselves in predominantly white environments. There are great educational and economic advantages inherent in the life situations of these affluent children, but parents are concerned that there are serious disadvantages for their children who grow up in mainstream society. In this case, Black students are raised in an environment that is raceneutral, which means they grow up without a positive sense of self as an African American. The advantages of growing up in a black community are gaining positive black awareness and self-identity, but what comes with this are the poor schools, older housing, and concern for personal safety. Besides the obvious advantages that Black affluent children experience, they are predisposed to their lack of knowledge of Black culture and community. The negative side is that once Black children reach adolescence, the common characteristics between them and non-Black teenagers decrease. If Black students are not exposed to their African American culture or community, they will not be strong enough or equipped with a positive black identity to battle racism. Black affluent students who are raised in predominately white communities must receive preparations through interaction with the black community and their parents. Although many perceive African Americans to be a homogenized group, they will find that there are vast differences between poor Blacks and middle-class Blacks. The comparisons between groups based on
lifestyles and standard of living can be seen through the kinds of leisure activities in which they are involved.

Non-Black Minorities, Socioeconomic Status, and Academic Achievement

Educational achievement among Asians exceeds that of Whites and other minority groups. Asian groups, with the exception of Vietnamese, completed high school and four or more years of college earlier than whites. Chavez and Roney (1990) suggest that educational beliefs are viewed as the foundation for academic achievement across Black, White, and Latino high school students. They note that, although Blacks and Latino elementary school children achievement did not always equal that of Whites, the beliefs of minority group children and their mothers were those associated with high levels of achievement involving enthusiasm about their successful educational future.

Chavez and Roney (1990) found that Mexican-born parents exhibited higher educational achievement levels than did students with U.S.-born parents. Among college-educated Mexican Americans, they retain integration with traditional Mexican American culture, and they tend to stay in school longer and perform better than did later generations.

Internationals, Socioeconomic Status, and Academic Achievement

Economic diversity exists among the U.S. foreign-born population. Despite opportunities in the United States and the relationships established through The North American Free Trade Agreement to improve the socioeconomic conditions of other countries, more than one- third of the foreign-born population has not graduated high school, as compared to only 16% of the native-born (U.S. Bureau of the Census, 1997). Immigrants are about as likely as U.S.-born citizens to have received bachelors' (15.9% vs. 14.%) and graduate or professional degrees (7.7% vs. 8.6%). Among immigrants, Asians tend to be more educated and skilled occupationally than those from Latin America and the Caribbean. Disparities can be seen between ethnic groups. Over 40% of Filipinos have received bachelors degrees, as compared to 5% of Salvadorans (U.S. Bureau of the Census, 1993). One-half of all legal Filipino immigrants where employed in professional, executive, or managerial occupations in 1993, as compared to only 2% of those from EL Salvador (Rumbaut, 1995).

Regional differences can be traced back to the status of immigrants from each area when the admission criteria for the United States in 1965 were restrictive. The exclusionary policies prevented mass immigration of Asian immigrants into the United States. In the last 30 years, Asians have been admitted into the U.S. because of their occupational and professional skills.

The socioeconomic status of immigrants is associated with their time of entry into the United States. Immigrants who entered this country in the late 1980s and early 1990s had higher levels of education and were likely to be professionals in their fields than those who immigrated to the U.S. in earlier years (Jensen & Chitose, 1994; U.S. Bureau of the Census, 1997).

Studies of immigrant children have cited the potential problems they face in a new land of opportunity. Many of them come from homes in which English is not the main spoken language. Others had their prior schooling interrupted because of poverty or war in their home countries. Parents of these children know very little about the U.S. schools system's infrastructure. The assumption is that most of these students will experience difficulties and barriers at school and in their new surroundings. Other researchers have argued that adolescents and older students from immigrant families perform just as well, if not better, in school than their peers who are native-born (Fletcher & Steinberg, 1994; Fuligni, 1997; Kao & Tienda, 1995; Rosenthal & Feldman, 1991; Rumbaut, 1995). Immigrant students tend to score lower on standardized tests in reading. They receive similar or higher grades than their peers in English and math courses. Refugees from war and destitute countries have been found to attain high levels of educational achievement (Caplan, Choy, & Whitemore, 1991).

Studies have shown that not all immigrant students perform well in school. Findings have indicated consistencies in the differences of achievement among immigrant groups. The results have shown that immigrants from Asian countries, such as Taiwan and Korea out perform students from European countries, who in turn receive higher grades than immigrants from Mexico and other Latin American countries (Kao & Tienda, 1995; Rumbaut, 1994). Among Asian groups, Vietnamese and Filipinos perform well on standardized tests. Other Asian groups, such as the Lao received scores well below the national norms (Rumbaut 1994, 1995).

Observations based on academic achievement among ethnic groups are linked to dramatic socioeconomic and linguistic variations between the immigrant groups. Caplan and his colleagues (Caplan et al., 1991), suggest that socioeconomics alone cannot explain why students from immigrant families perform at high levels in American schools than their native-born peers. Kao and Tienda (1995) found that generational status predicts students' achievement above parental education.

For immigrant students, socieconomics or ethnic background does not impede the notion for families to strongly support academic achievement for their children. Parents from Central America, Indochina, the Caribbean, and India place a great importance on the academic success of their children (Caplan et al., 1991; Fuligni, 1997; Gibson, 1991; Gibson & Bhachu, 1991; Suarez-Orozco, 1989; Waters, 1994). Like all immigrants, they believe education to be the most significant way for their children to improve their status in life. Strong encouragement comes from parents when their child experiences difficulties in school. Often, parents point out the educational opportunities that the United States has to offer, compared to those opportunities available in their home countries (Matute-Bianchi, 1991;Ogbu, 1991). Kao & Tienda (1995) suggest that encouragement and immigrant parents' aspirations are the most important way to influence their child's education.

Socioeconomic Status, Other Influences, and Academic Achievement

Brofenbrenner (1979, 1986) noted that student development is not only influenced by the family, but also by systems that exist independently outside the family's control such as parent's workplace, neighborhoods, schools, and available health and daycare services. He also cites macroeconomic forces that cause stressors such as parental unemployment, job, and income. This work concept taps into a body of research within the developmental psychology field that examines an ecological approach that accounts for multiple levels of influences in proximity to the student.

Based on the body of literature that exists on this topic, there are assessments of economic context at the family level, which is the economic environment closest to the student. When financial resources are necessary to obtain physical and material resources that aid in a student's development (e.g., food, books, learning aids, activities), income becomes the core analysis of family economic context (Coleman, 1988; Entwisle & Astone, 1994).

Incomes exclude other factors required to facilitate development throughout childhood and adolescence. Other factors include human capital, defined as a diverse set of intangible resources (e.g., valuation of education, high education aspiration). These tangible resources are indexed by parental education, and social capital, which involves interpersonal behaviors such as supportive family relationships (i.e., parental attention) and relationships that bridge students to the larger world (Coleman, 1988).

CHAPTER 3. METHODOLOGY

Introduction

This chapter contains a detailed description of the population of the study and the procedures for collecting data. It includes the procedures used to obtain the data from the Office of Institutional Research, the Office of the Registrar, and the Office of Admissions at Iowa State University. The problem of the study was to determine the relationship between parents' educational levels and their children's academic achievement after the 1998-1999 academic school year at Iowa State University.

Population of the Study

The total population of this study was comprised of 3,733 freshmen who were traditional-age college students between the ages of 18 to 25. The sample totaled 1,784 (48%) of the population who completed the questionnaire. They were of all nationalities and ethnic groups who applied to, were granted admission to, and enrolled at lowa State University for the 1998-1999 fall academic school year. These students were from across the U.S. and other countries, and were first-time freshmen at a research extensive, Big 12 institution located in Ames, Iowa. Before each student applied for admission, certain requirements had to be fulfilled to have a high school diploma or equivalent, a completed college application, ACT/SAT

scores, and letters of recommendation indicating the students' likelihood of success in a higher educational setting.

An important part of this research was obtaining the fall 1998 Iowa State University Freshmen Cooperative Institutional Research Program (CIRP) Survey results. A representative from the Office of Institutional Research at Iowa State University was contacted by phone to access the Fall 1998 Iowa State University CIRP for freshmen. This office administers the survey to students during the fall of each academic school year.

Cooperative Institutional Research Program (CIRP)

The CIRP freshman survey was used to gather data for the study (see Appendix). It is an independent questionnaire designed for use by institutions of higher learning (Office of Institutional Research, 1998). Participating institutions receive a detailed profile of their entering freshman class, as well as national normative data for students in similar types of institutions (e.g., public four-year colleges, moderately selective Protestant colleges, highly selective Catholic colleges, public two-year colleges). These reports, together with the national normative profile, provide important data that are useful in a variety of program and policy areas:

- admissions and recruitment
- academic program development and review
- institutional self-study and accreditation activities
- public relations and development
- institutional research and assessment
- retention studies;

 and longitudinal research about the impacts of campus policies and programs.

Although the normative data provided with the institutional reports (and published annually in *The American Freshman*) are based on the population of first-time, full-time freshmen, participating institutions also receive separate reports for their part-time and transfer students. Participating campuses can also obtain supplemental reports profiling students by various subgroups (e.g., intended major or career, academic ability, home state) as part of the basic participation costs.

From the CIRP survey, three questions and responses out of 53 total questions were gathered for data analysis. One of the questions, "What is the highest level of formal education obtained by your parents," was used to group students and their responses. This question has eight possible choices: grammar school, some high school, high school graduate, post-secondary school other than college, some college, college degree, some graduate school, and graduate degree.

These choices were combined into five main groups: high school, technical or two-year degree, some college, college degree, and graduate or professional school. Based on the student's response regarding the highest level of education for both parents, each student was classified into those five distinct groups for analysis. If one parent had a higher degree attainment than the other, the higher one was used to determine categorization for each student. Within those five distinct groups regarding parental level of education, the responses to three guestions, in particular, by 1,775 new ISU students were analyzed:

- 1. Are your parents: (this question relates to martial status)?
- What is your best estimate of your parent's total income last year? Consider income from all sources before taxes.
- 3. What were your scores on the SAT and/or ACT?

Another important factor of this study was obtaining the cumulative grade point averages for fall and spring semesters of the 1998-1999 academic school year. The Office of the Registrar was contacted to gather academic grade point averages for the 1998-1999 fall academic school year for first-time freshmen at Iowa State University. The data were obtained by a signed release form. Then the data were sent to the Office of Institutional Research at Iowa State University to streamline and include additional data regarding: ACT scores, estimated family income, parent marital status, and grade point average.

Analyses of variance models were estimated across the five groups, with grade point average, ACT score, and income level as the dependent variables. These models test whether the mean of each dependent variable differs significantly among the five groupings. Crosstabulations were performed to test for significant relation among the five parental educational levels and the three levels of parental marital status.

CHAPTER 4. RESULTS

The purpose of this research was to determine the effect of parental educational attainment on student success. The study examined the effect of five distal variables: (a) parental educational attainment, (b) parental influence, (c) achievement and socioeconomic status, (d) poverty and achievement, and (e) family structure; and two proximal variables: (f) home environment, and (g) parent-child interaction.

Specifically, the objectives were to:

- Determine the level of academic achievement among freshmen, measured by their cumulative grade point average in an academic school year, compared to others;
- Examine the percentage of freshmen whose parents either earned a high school diploma, attended college or technical school, or studied toward a graduate degree;
- Determine whether students whose parents attended college are more successful academically than students whose parents did not graduate from college;
- 4. Provide a demographic description of the freshmen subjects studied; and
- Determine whether poverty, socioeconomic status, and family structure have an impact on the academic achievement of freshmen students at Iowa State University.

Hypotheses

Four hypotheses were formulated for the study:

- Students whose parents obtain higher educational attainment past high school will earn a higher cumulative grade point average their first academic year than students whose parents only obtained a high school diploma.
- Students whose parents obtain higher educational attainment past high school will score higher on the ACT/SAT than students whose parents only attended high school without earning a diploma.
- Students whose parents have higher incomes will achieve a higher cumulative grade point average than will students whose parents have lower incomes.
- 4. Students who have both parents in the household will have greater achievement than students from single-parent homes.

Data Analyses

The Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) was used for interpreting the data in this study. Descriptive statistics included frequencies, means and standard deviations for all variables.

Tables 1 present the means, standard deviations and minimum and maximum values for the variables for the parents' educational levels and dependent

Independent variable	Percentage	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min- Max
1. Highschool, n=228	······································			
Parental status				
One or both deceased	2.1			
Both alive – divorced or separated	24.4			
Both alive – living together	73.5			
ACT score		24.42	3.77	
Grade point average		2.80	.885	
Income range*		7.40	2.68	1 – 12
2. Post-secondary other than college, n	=94			
Parental status				
One or both deceased	4.0			
Both alive – divorced or separated	10.9			
Both alive – living together	85.1			
ACT score		24.76	3.45	
Grade point average		2.89	.790	
Income range*		7.83	2.53	1 – 12
3. Some college, n=259				
Parental status				
One or both deceased	2.5			
Both alive - divorced or separated	19.2			
Both alive - living together	78.3			
ACT score		24.82	3.91	
Grade point average		2.97	.881	
Income range*		8.17	2.72	1 – 12
4. College graduate, n=709				
Parental status				
One or both deceased	1.9			
Both alive – divorced or separated	14.5			
Both alive – living together	83.6			
ACT score		25.54	3.80	
Grade point average		2.88	.853	
Income range*		9.13	2.41	1 – 12
5. Graduate school, n=399				
Parental status				
One or both deceased	2.4			
Both alive – divorced or separated	17.6			
Both alive – living together	80.0			
ACT score		26.40	3.94	
Grade point average		2.82	.879	
Income range*		10.35	2.25	1 – 12

 Table 1.
 Mean, standard deviation, and minimum and maximum values for parents' education levels and the dependent variables

*Income range: 1=<\$6,000; 2=\$6,000-\$9,999; 3=\$10,000-\$19,999; 4=\$20,000-\$29,999; 5=\$30,000-\$39,999; 6=\$40,000-\$49,999; 7=\$50,000-\$59,999; 8=\$60,000-\$74,999; 9=\$75,000-\$99,999; 10=\$100,000-\$149,999; 11=\$150,000=\$199,999; 12=\$200,000+

.

variables. Based on the first variable, parents with less than or equal to a high school education, 228 students had a mean ACT score of 24.42 and a mean cumulative grade point average of 2.8. Students in this group (2.1%) had the lowest mean grade point average of the entire group. Students in this sample (24.4%) came from homes where one or both parents are deceased. These students (73.5%) were also from homes where parents were both alive and divorced or separated or with both parents alive and living together. This group (24.4%) had the lowest percentage of both parents alive and living together and the highest divorce/separation rate among the group. Among the five groups, the income range for parents with an equivalent of high school diploma had the lowest income mean range of 7.40.

For the second variable, 94 students whose parents had one or two years of education other than college, had a mean ACT score of 24.76, which was equivalent to students whose parents had less than or equal to a high school education. The mean score for the cumulative grade point average was 2.89, which was slightly higher than the first group. This sample had fewer students living in homes where both parents were alive and divorced/separate (10.9%) compared to (24.4%) for the first group. More students in this group (85.1%) were found to have parents who were alive and living with them than any other group. This group had a mean income range of 7.83.

For the third variable, students whose parents had one or two years of college, 259 students had a mean ACT score of 24.82, which was almost equivalent

to the data in variables 1 and 2. The mean cumulative grade point average was 2.967, which was higher than for groups 1, 2, 4, and 5. This group had the second highest incidence of both parents alive and divorced/separated (19.2%) and the highest rate of one or both parents being deceased (2.5%). The mean income range was 8.17.

The fourth variable, students whose parents had a college degree, indicated that 709 had a mean ACT score of 25.54, which was slightly higher than for the first three groups. The mean grade point average was 2.88. In this group, (1.9%) had one or both parents deceased, which was the lowest percentage of all groups. Percentage-wise, there were some differences among all groups concerning both alive-divorced/separate and both alive-living together parental statuses. This group (83.6%) had the second highest percentage of both parents alive and living together of the groups.

The last variable, students whose parents had a graduate degree, indicated that 399 students had a mean ACT score of 26.40, which was the highest of all groups. The mean grade point average for this group was 2.82, which was the second-lowest grade point average of the entire group. This group (17.6%) had the third largest percentage rate of parents both alive/divorced or separated. Among the five groups, this group also had the highest mean income range.

Analysis of variance

To determine if there were significant differences among students for the three dependent variables (grade point average, ACT score, parental income), three separate analysis of variance (ANOVA) variance models where estimated with marital status as the main effect.

Grade point average

Null Hypothesis 1: Students whose parents obtain higher educational attainment past high school will not earn a higher cumulative grade point average their first academic year than students whose parents only obtained a high school diploma.

The ANOVA model for academic achievement was estimated for comparing mean cumulative grade point average for first-year students across the five levels of parental education: less than or equal to a diploma, post-secondary other than college, some college, college degree, and earned post-undergraduate and graduate education.

As shown in Table 2, students (M=2.85) whose parents had less than or equal to a high school diploma had a lower mean grade point average than students (M=2.81) whose parents have a post-secondary other than college education. The difference between these groups was not significant (p<.05) in the Scheffé post-hoc analysis. Students (M=2.97) whose parents had less than or equal to a high school degree, had mean grade point averages that were lower than students whose parents had some college. There was no significant difference between the mean grade point average of students whose parents had less than or equal to a diploma

Source	Sum of squares	df	F	Sig.
Parent educational levels	3.829	4	1.279	.276
Within group	1324.371	1770		
Total	1328.199	1774		

 Table 2.
 ANOVA for grade point average

than students whose parents had some college. Students (M=2.88) whose parents had less than or equal to a high school diploma had a lower mean grade point average than students whose parents were categorized as having less than or equal to a high school diploma. Students whose parents were categorized as having less than or equal to a high school diploma had a lower mean grade point average than those students whose parents fell into the post-undergraduate or graduate level. There was no significant difference (p<.5) in all categories when the high school group was compared to all other groups. In summary, these results indicated that students whose parents obtained higher educational attainment past high school did not earn a higher cumulative grade point average their first academic year than students whose parents only obtained a high school diploma; thus, null Hypothesis 1 was retained.

ACT scores

Null Hypothesis 2: Students whose parents obtain higher educational attainment past high school will not score higher on the ACT/SAT than students whose parents only attended high school without earning a diploma.

The ANOVA for the effect of the highest educational attainment by mother or father on ACT scores is summarized in Table 3. The Scheffé post-hoc analysis showed that there were significant (p<.05) differences between groups. Students whose parents were categorized into the high school group had the lowest mean ACT of the five groups. Group 2 (24.76), Group 3 (24.82), Group 4 (25.54), and Group 5 (26.40) had higher mean ACT scores, respectively. Comparisons among the high school group (24.42), college (25.54) and graduate (26.40) group were significant at (p < 0.5). The some college group (24.82) comparison with the graduate school group (26.40) was significant. The college graduate group (25.54) and the high school group (24.42) were significant as well as the comparison between college graduate (25.54) and graduate school group (26.40). The graduate group (26.40) was significant when compared to the high school group (24.42), the postsecondary other than college group (24.76), the some college group (24.82), and the college graduate group (25.54). In summary, these results indicated that students whose parents obtained higher educational attainment past high school did score higher on the ACT/SAT than students whose parents only attended high school without earning a diploma; thus null Hypothesis 2 was rejected.

Source	Sum of squares	df	F	Sig.			
Parent educational levels	750.732	4	12.800	.356*			
Within group	24692.548	1684					
Total	25443.280	1688	······································				

T	able	3.	AN	10/	/ A	for	ACI	l score
---	------	----	----	-----	------------	-----	-----	---------

Significant at α =.05.

Income range

Null Hypothesis 3: Students whose parents have higher incomes will not achieve a higher cumulative grade point average than will students whose parents have lower incomes.

The ANOVA for the effect of the highest educational attainment by mother or father on income range is summarized in Table 4. The Scheffé post-hoc analysis showed that there were significant (p<.05) differences between groups. The results showed that there were significant differences in income across parental educational levels. Parents with high school diplomas had an income range of (M =7.44) when compared to parents with postsecondary other than college (M = 7.83), to the some college group (M=8.17), to the college graduate group (M= 9.13), and the graduate school group (M= 10.35). In summary, the results indicated that students achieved higher cumulative scores when their parents had higher educational levels and earned substantially more money than parents with lower educational attainment; thus null Hypothesis 3 was rejected.

Source	Sum of squares	df	F	Sig.
Parent educational levels	1612.425	4	66.285	.000*
Within group	10189.527	1677		
Total	11810.951	1681	<u> </u>	

Table 4.	ANOVA	for income	range
----------	-------	------------	-------

*Significant at α =.05.

Null Hypothesis 4: Students who have both parents in the household will not have greater achievement than students from single-parent homes.

A crosstabulation for parental education and parental status is presented in Table 5. Parental educational attainment and parental status were significantly associated with one another (p.<.05). There were fewer parents with a high school Degree (7; .02%) who were both alive—divorced or separated (53; 19%). Parents

Parent educational level	One or both deceased	Both alive- divorced or separated	Both alive – living together	Total		
High school						
Count	5	58	175	238		
Expected count	5.4	40.7	191.9	238.0		
Post-secondary other than college						
Count	4	11	86	101		
Expected count	2.3	17.3	81.4	101.0		
Some college						
Count	7	53	216	276		
Expected count	6.2	47.2	222.5	276.0		
College graduate						
Count	14	107	615	736		
Expected count	16.6	126.0	593.4	736.0		
Graduate school						
Count	10	75	340	425		
Expected count	9.6	72.7	342.7	425.0		
Total	40	304	1432	1776		
Expected count	40.0	304.0	1432.0	1776.0		
	Value	DF	ASYMP.SYG			
Pearson Chi-square	17.824	8	.023*			

Table 5. Crosstabulation for parent educational attainment and marital status

*Significant at α =.05.

who were college graduates with degrees, had a higher incidence of divorce than any other groups in this study. There were more parents with high school diplomas who were both alive and living together (191.9; 73%) versus parents with high school diplomas, both alive-divorced or separated (40.7; 24%). Fewer parents with post-secondary other than college experience were also deceased. There were substantially more parents with some college who were both alive and living together (216; 78%) than one or both deceased that are deceased (14; 19%), both alive-divorced or separated (107; 14%), and both alive-living together (615; 83%), respectively. Overall, parents with graduate degrees both alive and living together had the greatest numbers (340; 80%) over one or both deceased (10; 2.3%), or both alive divorced or separated statuses. In summary, students who had both parents in the household experienced greater achievement than students from single-parent homes, thus null Hypothesis 4 was rejected.

Findings

Parent educational level did not have an effect on grade point averages. The ANOVA for ACT scores among parents' educational levels indicated effects on parent educational attainment. When comparing the ACT scores for students whose parents have less than or equal to a high school diploma with students whose parents have post-secondary, not college ACT scores, no significant differences existed between groups. There were significant differences between ACT scores for students whose parents have less than or equal to a high school

diploma and scores for students whose parents are college graduates. There were significant differences (p<.05) between ACT scores for students whose parents have less than or equal to a diploma and students whose parents have a graduate education. Overall, the results confirmed that the higher the parental educational level, the higher the student's standardized test score as well as income. Even though current research has shown that parental education has an impact on student's academic achievement, the results of this study did not correlate with the many studies conducted on this topic.

Parent education does have a significant main affect on income. There were significant differences (p<.05) between parental educational level and the range of income among the levels. The high school level had the lowest mean range (M=7.44).

There were significant differences (p<.05) between the post-secondary, not college mean range (M=7.83) and the high school level range mean (M=7.44). These groups had slight income differences based on parent educational level. Comparisons between the high school level and the some college level was significant. The some college category had higher salary ranges than the high school level. The college graduate level had significant differences among the prior levels. There were more students whose parents were categorized on this level than any other level. With a total of 691 and an interval mean of M=9.13, this group was considered to be a middle-class socioeconomic status.

There were significant differences between the high school level (M=7.44) and the graduate level (M=10.35). There were 406 students whose parents were categorized on this level. Roughly, 24% of the total student/parent population were considered upper-middle class or wealthy. This level had the second highest total among the five groups. In addition, the significance between income level and parental educational level was meaningful. The results indicated that parental education level was significant when considering the income range. The higher the parental educational level was, the higher the income-range.

CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Discussion

The purpose of this research project was to discover the influences of parental educational levels on students' ACT scores, cumulative grade point averages and parental income levels. The study was conducted to gain an understanding of the impact that different parental educational levels have on the three dependent variables. In addition to adding new literature to the field, it was expected that this study would spark more interest in how parent-student dynamics heavily influence student academic achievement.

Past research has shown clearly that parental possession of a college degree leads to higher incomes, higher educational attainment, and a choice of more selective colleges for their children (Gruca et al, 1989). Student-parent dynamics are important to the success of a child's academic career in college.

No retention program could ever substitute for a parent's influence on the likelihood of student retention. Parental educational level, parental marital status, and parents' socioeconomic levels affect students academically.

ANOVA

Research on this topic has been divided with respect to the treatment of socioeconomic variables and their effect on academic achievement (Bronfenbrenner, 1985; Dubois, et al., 1994). Several researchers have argued that to effectively evaluate distal variables on academic achievement, they must be used

as a conglomerate. Others have argued that it does not capture the processes that take place within the environment. The ANOVA for grade point average resulted in no significant main effects on students whose families were categorized into one of the five parental educational levels. The results indicated that students whose families were categorized as having some college education had a higher mean grade point average than any other group. There were differences between all groups; however, students on these levels were not statistically or significantly different from one another, as shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Parental educational level and student grade point average

Contrary to these findings, other studies have found that there is a strong correlation between parents' educational level and student academic achievement. Authors, such as Hushak (1973) say that students whose parents have bachelors or graduate degrees, in a sense have private instructors who are probably have more knowledgeable in one or more areas than any of the students' high school or college instructors. Conclusions drawn from the results are that freshmen from any parental educational background have an equal opportunity of succeeding academically their first year in college.

The differences in ACT scores across parent educational level were statistically significant. As shown in Figure 2, students whose parents had a graduate degree had the highest ACT scores, followed by parents with a college degree, and parents with some college education. According to The College Board (1992), ACT/SAT scores are strongly related to parental educational levels. The College Board (1992) reported that a recent national ACT/SAT profile showed that the higher the academic degree earned by parents, the higher the test scores of their children. Students with the highest ACT/SAT scores are usually from families with the highest parental degree attainment. Parental income levels were significantly different among parental educational levels. There were no income differences between parents' high school educational level and the post-secondary, not college level.

There were slight but not statistically significant differences between parents' high school educational levels and parents' educational level of some college (Figure 2). There was a statistically significant difference between the great significance between parental education category of high school and the parental educational level of graduate degree. Most research supports these results.



Figure 2. Student ACT scores and parental educational level

According to Williamson (1994), parent's educational levels are strongly related to family income levels. Current research has tried to separate the effects of a parent's education and family income on a student, but it has been difficult to do so. Both variables are used as proxies for socioeconomic status. Because parental educational levels can be independent of income, parental educational level can influence the value that parents place on education. This could possibly influence a child's educational attainment.

There were significant differences between parent educational level and income range among the five groups. In Figure 3, the high school group had the lowest income range.



Figure 3. Parental educational level and income

Crosstabulation

Crosstabulations were performed between the five parental educational levels and three levels of parental marital statuses: one or both parents deceased, both parents alive-divorced or separated, and both parents alive-living together. The results indicated that each variable stands independently of each other. Marital status and parental educational level coupled together strongly impacts the academic achievement of students in the household.

According to the U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics (1995), different family structures are associated with educational outcomes. More than likely, the effects of family structure are compounded by family income, parental educational level and the amount of time that parents participate in their child's education. The results from this study have proven statistically what current literature has foretold.

Conclusion

This study provided evidence that home environment and parent-student dynamics would control the affect of distal variables on student achievement. Parents' educational levels impacted ACT scores, income and parental status. These were significant to this study. The implication of this study supports the premise of studying freshmen microsystems and students' environments to gain new understanding of the familial process. This body of research will make universities' services for students from all backgrounds more effective when preparing students to be academically successful at a post-secondary level.

Implications of the Study

The results of this study have strengthened and weakened the argument that distal variables are not important to the academic achievement of first year college students. Based on other studies by Husak (1973), The College Board (1992), Williamson (1994), and Gruca et al. (1989), variables such as parent education level, parental income level, and parental marital status have heavily influenced students' academic achievement during the first year of college. The results have shown that there are some factors that cannot be swayed by academic programming.

A college retention program cannot change factors such as parental marital status, parental educational level and parental income level. These environmental factors either help or hinder a student's academic performance. Bronfenbrenner (1985) suggests looking at environmental agents to predict academic success rather than looking strictly at objective characteristics. Without these environmental factors, certain issues related to culture, language, and belief systems go undetected and valuable information is lost.

This study has presented an extensive literature review integrating psychology, sociology, and educational research with demographic factors that contribute to the academic performance of students from diverse ethnic, racial, and gender backgrounds. While the structural factors affecting students are easily obtainable, it is the synergy of the home environment and its influences on academic achievement of first-time freshmen students that are the greatest concern to this study.

Scarr (1985) argues that distal variables (socioeconomic status) negatively influence academic outcomes. Gandara's (2000) book, *Over the Ivy Walls: The Educational Mobility of Low-Income Chicanos*, presents a strong argument for examining the forces that promote the high achievement of individuals who by society's standards should not be successful.

The focus of this study on parent educational levels and the cumulative grade point average showed that distal variables have some effect on a student's academic performance. Although current and past literature has supported the view

that different parental education levels positively or negatively affect their child's academic performance, that linkage was not proven in this study. When students' first year cumulative grade point averages were examined, students who had parents in one particular educational category had the same chance as any student in the study to perform well academically.

The distal variable (parental education level) did not have any influence on students. The results indicated that structural or objective measures like ACT/SAT scores were determinants in predicting success for students in this study. Based on current literature, it was expected that parental educational level would affect student performance on the SAT/ACT. Environmental factors were involved in the outcomes of this study. When the parent's educational level was high, so was the student's ACT score. Other studies have yielded the same results. According to (Young & Smith, 1997) children of parents with higher levels of education perform better on assessments of student achievement.

An environmental factor like parental income level also has always been heavily debated. Socioeconomic factors become hard to separate because there are so many extraneous variables involved like, education, marital status, and income, that it's difficult to decipher which factor is more influential. It was hypothesized that there would be differences between parental educational levels when it comes to parental income levels. Several studies have found that students' socioeconomic status is linked to their success in school (Young & Smith, 1997).

Another distal or environmental factor (parental marital status) is an important variable because this factor is directly associated with parental income and socioeconomics. Students who come from single-parent, separated/divorced or deceased parent homes have to struggle financially to even afford an education. This means that the student's attention is diverted from high academic performance to the financial concerns of staying in school.

There are strong relationships between a parent's education level and parental marital status. There's little research on the relationship between these two variables, but in this study the relationship is important because it is a distal variable that is associated with different outcomes. Despite the fact that the influence of the family structure is likely to be impacted by family income, parent's educational level, race/ethnicity and involvement of the parent in the student's education is paramount to two the student's success (National Household Education Survey, 1995).

Because family structures are associated with different educational outcomes, it was important to examine this factor in the study. The findings of this study supports Thomas' (1992) philosophy about the analysis of information gathered from the microsystem. He believed that because the components of a system tend to change, it is difficult to determine the shift from one system to another and the role of the participant.

Future research is needed to examine how other factors influence the subjects who are studied. With what we know about distal variables, how can parents provide their children with role models and a support system needed to

succeed in college when they are affected by parents' low levels of education, income, and single-parent homes? Can a retention or an intervention program at the post-secondary level be effective in dealing with these extraneous variables?

Recommendations for Practice and Further Research

The results of this and other studies related to first-generation college freshmen will become critical in the new millennium. As demographics change, new family structures will appear and alternative lifestyles will create new phenomena to investigate. It is imperative that educators, administrators, and policy makers have an in-depth understanding of the backgrounds of the student body they serve, or failure is inevitable. New approaches to the study of environmental influences are needed to capture the full essence of difficulties encountered and the successes achieved by students and their parents.

Bronfenbrenner (1979) believes more focus should be given to the everyday phenomena that influence students rather than focusing on the objective nature of student outcomes. With this in mind, research should also focus on the meanings and perceptions that students experience daily from interactions with family, friends, and their environment. Only after researching what makes all students successful, moving those findings into policy, and implementing them, will retention rates for first time freshmen from all parental educational levels, income, and martial status increase. When considering the relationship between faculty and students, this research should point to new understandings that faculty should keep in mind when considering the role that microsystems play in student educational attainment. Students bring their past experiences into the educational setting, thus higher educational goals should maximize strengths as well as fill in the gaps where they apply to student success in academic and social settings.

Perhaps pilot studies could be conducted to determine if involving parents earlier in the formative years of the student's educational career would benefit and improve the student's chances for success. A follow-up study of the current research should be conducted four years after the present study to determine if a new group of freshmen students would produce similar results.

APPENDIX: COOPERATIVE INSTITUTIONAL RESEARCH PROGRAM (CIRP) QUESTIONNAIRE

PLEAS	E PA	INI	(0	10	ett	HT C	N UC	mb	ar pi	je t	box)																								
		FUR	ST								_			M 1	LAST											_					hen we	-	n põi	m?	•
NAME:	[Π		Π	Τ		Τ		2	Π			Τ	\square	T	Τ	Π		Τ	Ι]] [] [
ADORE	ss:			_					\Box	·									Ц											(01-1	2) (0	01-31	<u>}</u>	Yeer	
CITY:					L										57/	NTE:		Z	* :					PHO	HE	:			-		-				
												1	1998 STUDENT INFORMATION FORM												Ι										
Mana				DU	TE (Л	ION	S			-			n de	1	54.5		35						5	1					A # C	1	-	5		
needed	: Yo	orne Kur			i Di pi q			nc nc	nor sot	1	CUL 0 1999	tew	2	5.0	-	dare o	e (j		- ⁴ -3	2	- 2.4	يە يەر	47	<u>م</u>	1	1		ي من		-	5-34	i a b	-	÷	ð
simple	i rul	88	n ili	be		xet	app	rec	;iete	đ.				3. T. J		5		Line.	نې د سرار م	i i	- <u>1</u>	- 	(1997) 1997 - 1997 1997 - 1997	- T	2	÷		120 1		13 - 19 13 - 19 13 - 19					4
Use only black lead pancil (No. 2 is ideal). Make heavy black merks that fill the oval.										5.5	×,				• 5	مذلية	у. Д		s e	24	1.30	-11°			- 1 72	e:		-	1.11	ŝ.					
· Eras	e ci		ly a	ny	ane		r ya	1 W	nsh t	0 0	han	78 .	1	1	يو بريد	****	- 52	-		7. T.	* * .	2.7. 	~	27	1	$\tilde{\mathbf{x}}$	\approx	نت م	7	• E^		يەرىيەت سەر يەر ي	-	5	
- Mek	8 NO 84 S) Str	ay :	1.8	kin	9 5	of ar	iy k	and.					ي. ويونيه		100	ر بر رو بر انتقال	- 1 m	20			-	-	-	-			L.						1	4
William	eriu	ii Landi	de	wi	th li	ali	nioa	t a	r feit	-11	5 (114	ricer			2.5		-	12			Č.	έŋ		λ÷€	×,		<u>``</u>	÷.	2	с I			3		
be pro	per	ty e		17	Y	85	c	2	N	5.)			2	-			-			4.4	ŝ	×.	Ŧ				-		6 - A		ų	æ	÷,
	PL	EA	SE	PR	OV	D	YO		K	ę,	1					25		SX	3	7	5	2		£.		1	1						Ē.		1
	Ť	4	7	Ť	쒸			Ť	ار	į.	4			55			6. j. j.	÷.	$\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{r}}$	84.) 1	22	Ð.,	2.5	× 1	-		, 1	.	52	-	- 4-			1	<u>-</u>
5		1				Ť		1	井	2	SP.	26		8. Wh	nat we	re you	JF 90	ore		the !	SAT				14,	Fre		thet	kind	ee to l	eondei	ry sc	shooi	điđ	
12	യം നംഗ്	90 (10 (90 57	ים הי	DV T	9) T	യം ന	100 100	2					S		RAL										you Duit	i gen Nilo	,	nen c	(www.sc					
∞	an c		20	້ວ	D D	D D	a a			ŝ				-						F	\square					Priv	vato	(der		nation	 ∎î}				õ
19	ā	D	D	Ð	D	Ð	œ c	Ð	ΣĜ			ð.		5/	AE MAA	i H	••••	• • • •		·L	+	-				Priv	vate	, (nor	n-reli	gious)	. 				0
	Ð	Ð	Ð	Ð	Ð	Ð	Ø	Ð	Ðġ	př	çia	Ó		AC	CT Ca	nposit	. .	• • • •	• • • •	. . .	Ŀ			1		Oth	var -	•••	••••	• • • • •	 .	· • • ·	••••	· • • • '	0
	Ð	D	D	D	3	Ð	@ (Ð	Ðĝ	K				9. CI	izens	hip st		:							15.	is ti	his (colie	1 9 0 }	our:	(Mark g	one)			-
ġ	Ð	D D		Ð	Ð	Ð	@ (D	200	۵¢ ن		9		0	0.5.0	dilzen								1		Firs	st c†	ioice 1 aba	•? 7	C) Le	SS IN	1201 th 	ird	\sim
	(U) (D)	D To a	ກ	יע ה	ക	ത	n con c	D		3				č) Neith	NAL.	1004		(ji ce	n ca						Thi	ind c	hoic	ање. 127.	Ē			cr		Ξ,
<u></u>	B	Ð	Ð	D	Ð	Ð	Ð	D	<u>o</u> la	Di	D a	20			rina t	nich s	cho	oi (a	rade	a 9-'	12) 1	iow :		1	18	Tal	ham			مالعمه	-	r the	n thi		
											_		' '	уı	ers di	d you	stu	dy e	ach d	ol th	e to	low	Ing	Ĩ.	10	did	i you	a api	ply 1	or adr	nission	n chis	s yez	7 ?	, I
1.	You	2 94	x:		0	Ma	ule -	\$	O F	ien	naie			34	oyec:	17 (M	ant ș	<u> 3 10</u> 1	ा व्य १	CD 9	(1711)					No	one (0	1	0	40	2		7-10	0
2.	Hou	v ol	d v	n Hit	you	b	e on	De	Cem	ibe	r 3 1			_	. .				đ.	2.	: -	-	-			1			2	0	5⊂	2 1	1 or r	nore	\bigcirc
	of t	hie 	yes	177 	(N			Ð	21.2	A		~		1 1 1	nglish atham		• • • •	•••	ぞう	しに		ž		5		Ma		ri una	u an	n U Salari si	u∵o. hnonu	J ber o	nilen	•	
	17.	* y.				ŏ			25-2	9			5	Fo	naion	Lance			õ	56	šŏ	5		3			- 1	siup	to ite	m 18.					1
	18.	•••	•••		· 	ō	1		30-3	9.		ō		1				000	ÓÓ	٦Î	ĬR	ŝ	Ð		17	. Ho	-		oth		eclanc	ae d	lidi va	KI .	
	19.			• •		0			40-5	4.	•••	0		P	hynica	i Scier	108 .	•••	ġ	⊃¢⊂	٥ć	Q	oj	Ð		rec	sivie	e thi	is ye	er? (1	Aark <u>on</u>	<u>10</u> }		-	_
	20.	• • •	• •	•••	· · ·	0			55 o	(0	lder	C		8	ologic	al Scie	nce	••••	Q		9C	Q	O g	2		No	one ·	0	1	0	40	2		7-10	0
-	In 5	•	ler+			. - ·	· · · · ·	I.a			~			H	story	Am. G	OVI.	•••	DO C		90	Ð	$\tilde{\mathbf{o}}$	2					2	20	_ 5 ⊂	ונ	il or i	nore	0
3.	18 E		veni Vor	yc	Uľ			NICO NICO	gua(10	(C A	omput na arv	er SCH Vor Mi	0000		ŝ			50		ŝ					3	с . С	ەر		E		r
	i a. ••		1.053		.													••••				 	- 1		18	. Wh	nat k	s the	e hig	hest a	caden	nic.	- }		j.
۹,	hig	h s	cho	iol'	, (A	na gi rk <u>or</u>			ः भग				11. P1 Cl		i for c	redi	t at 1	inie i	neti	turtic	n?				00		2	п уо		07 194		Ì	Ì	2
	199	8.	•••	•••	0		Did	not	grad	t.a	tte tu	đ) Yes		0		0	b -						(M	ark j	009	in ea	ich coi	umn)		1	Ă	ĩ
	199	7.	•••	•••	0		per	550	d G.	51). Ves	t.C	2	12.S	ince is ion c	ourse	i nig s at	11 80 804		, net r ini	i y	ban'	ver ?			Nic	908				• • • • • •	••••	.0.	. 0	
	199	ປ. 5 ~~	•••	 محا	$\frac{0}{2}$		Nev	er e	comp) iei c	ted	~		(A)	Aarix a	li that a	appt n)	ý		-	Fo	r_		br		- VQ - A-		iate :			maiam	 11)	. <u>.</u> .	ບ ດ	:)
	1.005 Area	ان ب مىر ر	دي م ري	_	س. سران		ي. سر مر	ps 8 Non	al and Al lease	* } *	••••	· · •	1	Y	. at a	COMP		y/jun	ior co	ilear	.C		a 	0		Ba	ichei	ior's	dean	ee (B.4	L, B.S.	etc.)	. <u>.</u> .		j
3.	(Ma	ark	one)		- 11	Full	·	ne st	UČ	ent?	c		Ye	3. M 8	4-97.0	olicy	e or	UNIV	hrsit))	••••	o		Ma	aster	rs de	agree	MA.	M.S., e	nc.).	.0.	Ö)
							Par	t-tin	ne si	ud	lent?	c	>	Ye	is, at s ichool	(For i	sther axan	pos noie	tech	nde nica	ry L					Pt	. D.	or Ei	d.D.		• • • • • •	• • • •	.0.	o)
6	. Ho	w n	180	yп	nile	e k	n thi		olie;) e '	from	1		Ĭ	ocatic	nal, b	usin	55}	••••		c)	• • •	0		М.	.D., I	D.O.	. 00	LS., or	D.V.M.	•••	.0.	<u>o</u>	1
	you	ur (t h		7 ((Mari	× Q 4 f	ne)	~ ~		13. W	here (do you	u pie	in to	live	duri	ing 1	he f	ali			L D		or J.i • ke r	U. (L: DR/ 4	21W)	•••••	••••	0.0	 	s 1
	2	ur i R	-33 -10	0		11 51-	100	2		ية. من	л - 30 ек 5/	້		01 V	nni? Nh cei	(NUBIK Index of	verne) vernel) Intius	K					_ ا		0	u. U ther		un w. (UN THE	y)	• • • •	.0		
_										سر			-	0	ther pi	ivate l	hom	e, ac	ertm	ento	or ro	om .	· • • •	0											
7	. 1611 301	hoo	17	, ye	nii (a ĝ	ji BQC	; 111	1.196	n	- {	c	ollega	dormi	tory			•••	••••	••••		0	11). Ar	e ye	our p		nts: ()	Aarix <u>or</u>	<u>10</u>)			
	(M	ark	one)	A ci	A .	-0		8 (0		⊂	2	Fi	atorna	ty or s	orori	ity ho	ouse	•••	••••	••••	••••	0		80	oth a	live	and	living	with ce	ch a	ther?	c	2
						A-	-0		B (0	. (2	0	ther ci	empus	; stut	dent	hous	ing	•••	••••	••••	0		Ba	oth a	alive,	, dive	proed (r iving	abs	rt?	C	2
						8-	•C		C+ (0			I	0	ther .	• • • •	•••	•••		•••	••••	• • •	· • • ·	0	I	O	ne c	x DO	in de	cease	d?	••••	• • • • •	C	÷

Ø.	How much of your first y	eer's educ	ational exp	00000
	(room, board, taition, an	d fees) de	you expect	10 *
	below? (Mark one answe	r tor each	- S.	æ.
	possible acurce)			31
8.	My Own or Femily		:2i	87 i
	Parante other relatives or	trianda		
	Source			
	Savinos from summer wo	nk .		
	Other savings			HO I
	Part-time job on camous .		.000	
	Pert-time job off campus .		.000	50
	Full-time job while in colle	ge	000	SO.
b.	Aid Which Need Not Be	Repaid		8
	Pell Grant	•••••	.ogo	2
	Supplemental Educationa	4	2	
	Opportunity Grant		000	÷.
	State Scholarship or Gran	t	.000	Ş
	College Work-Study Gran	t	000	ð.
	College Grant/Scholarship	2		.
	(other than above)	•••••	.050	30
	Vocational Rehabilitation	lunda	. ୦<u>୭</u>୦	50
	Other private grant	•••••	.ဝခ်ုဝ	ĝ0
	Other Government Aid (R	OTC,	14	3
	BIA, Gl/military benefits	, etc.)	.୦ଟ୍ରୁ୦	20
с.	Ald Which Must Se Reps	id	- <u></u>	2
	Stations Loan (GSL)	••••	000	
		• • • • • • • •		2
	Other Coulege Loan	•••••••		
	Other Loan	• - • • • • •		
				~
-				~
ห.	What is your <u>best estimations</u>	te of your	r parenta' lo	ital
ท.	What is your <u>best estimy</u> income last year? Consi sourses before taxas. (1	<u>de of your</u> der lacon derk <u>one</u>)	r parents' ic le from all	itel
ท.	What is your <u>best estima</u> income last year? Conal sources before taxes. (1 O Less than \$5,000	ider incom der incom derk <u>one</u>) 0 \$40,0	parents' to re trom all 100-49,999	ital
ท.	Whet is your <u>best estimation</u> income last year? Consi income last year? Consi ourse before taxes. (1 Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9.999	ite of your der lecon Merk <u>one</u>) O \$40,0 O \$50,0	parenta' ko ve from ati 100-49,999 100-59,999	igi Kal
ท.	What is your <u>best estima</u> income last year? Consi sources before taxes. (1 D Less than \$5,000 \$6,000-9.999 \$10,000-14,999	te of your der lacon Mark <u>one)</u> \$40,0 \$50,0 \$50,0	parenta' id re from all 100-49,999 100-59,999 100-74,999	igi Kal
ท.	What is your <u>best estima</u> income last year? Consi income last year? Consi income before taxes. (1 C Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9.999 \$10,000-14,999 \$15,000-19,999	te of your der lacon lark <u>one</u>) \$40,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$50,0	parents' to ve from all 00-49,999 00-59,999 100-74,999 100-59,999	nai X 5 1
ท.	What is your <u>best estima</u> income last year? Consi income last year? Consi income before taxes. (1 Less than \$5,000 \$6,000-9.999 \$10,000-14,999 \$15,000-19,999 \$20,000-24,999	ite of your der lacom Mark <u>one</u>) \$40,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$60,0 \$75,0 \$100,	r parents' ico e from all 000-49,999 000-59,999 000-74,999 000-99,999 000-149,999	itai X,r f
ท.	What is your best estimations income last year? Consistent year? Consistent sources before taxes. () Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9.999 \$10,000-14.999 \$10,000-14.999 \$15,000-19.999 \$20,000-24.999 \$25,000-29.999 \$25,000-29.999	te of your der lacom vierk <u>one</u>) \$40,0 \$40,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$575,0 \$100, \$150,0 \$150,0	r parenta' ic re from afi 100-49,999 100-59,999 100-74,999 100-89,999 100-149,999 100-199,999	itai X.5 1 9
ท.	What is your <u>best estima</u> income last year? Consi sources before taxes. (1 C Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9.999 \$10,000-14.999 \$15,000-19.999 \$15,000-24.999 \$20,000-24.999 \$25,000-29.999 \$25,000-39.999	te of your der incom Mark <u>one</u>) \$40,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$60,0 \$75,0 \$100, \$150, \$150, \$200,	r parenta' ic re from all 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-99,999 000-149,999 000-149,999 000-199,999	ntai X J T 9
מ .	What is your <u>best estima</u> income last year? Consi sources before taxes. (1 Less than \$6,000 \$10,000-14.999 \$10,000-14.999 \$15,000-19.999 \$20,000-24.999 \$25,000-29.999 \$25,000-39.999	te of your der incorr Mark <u>one</u>) S40,0 S50,0 S50,0 S50,0 S50,0 S50,0 S100, S150, S100, S150, S200,	r parents' to te from atl 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-74,999 00-149,999 000-149,999 000-199,989 000-0 r more	itai X.r.t 9 9
n. 22.	What is your best estimation income last year? Consistent year? sources before taxes. (I Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9,999 \$10,000-14,999 \$15,000-19,999 \$20,000-24,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-39,999 \$30,000-39,999 Current religious preference	te of your dar incom Mark one) Stoo,	r parenta' ito te from atl 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-74,999 00-149,999 000-199,999 000-199,999	itai XJII 9 9
27.	What is your best estimation income last year? Considered year? income last year? Considered year? income last year? Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9.999 \$10,000-14.999 \$15,000-19.999 \$15,000-19.999 \$20,000-24.999 \$25,000-29.999 \$30,000-39.999 Current religious preferent (Mark one in each column Rameist)	te of your dar incom dar incom sets one \$40,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$100, \$150, \$1	r parents' to te from atl 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-74,999 00-149,999 000-199,999 000-199,999	x
מ. 22.	What is your best estimation income last year? Considered year? sources before taxes. (I Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9.999 \$10,000-14.999 \$15,000-19.999 \$15,000-19.999 \$20,000-24.999 \$25,000-29.999 \$25,000-39.999 \$20,000-39.999 Current religious preferent (Mark one in each column Baptist Baptist	te of your dar incom dar incom ent one \$40,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$100, \$15	r parenta' ito te from atl 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-74,999 00-149,999 000-149,999 000-199,999 000-199,999	x
מ. 22.	What is your best estima income last year? Consistent year? Consistent before taxas. (I Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9.999 \$10,000-14.999 \$15,000-19.999 \$15,000-19.999 \$20,000-24.999 \$25,000-29.999 \$25,000-39.999 Current religious prefer (Mark one in each column Baptist	te of your dar lacon dar lacon (dar lacon (station) (sta	r parenta' ito te from atl 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-74,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-199,999	stat 9 9
מ. 2.	What is your best estima income last year? Consi sources before taxes. (I Less than \$5,000 \$10,000-14,999 \$10,000-14,999 \$15,000-19,999 \$20,000-24,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-39,999 Current religious prefer (Mark one in each column Baptist	te of your dar lacon dar lacon (dar lacon (station) (sta	r parents, to te from all 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-74,999 000-149,999 000-149,999 000-199,399 000-199,399 000 or more 000 0 more	x .s.s ⁻ 9
מ. 2.	What is your best estimu income last year? Conai sources before taxes. (1 Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9.999 \$10,000-14.999 \$10,000-14.999 \$15,000-19.999 \$25,000-29.999 \$25,000-29.999 \$30,000-39.999 Current religious prefere (Mark one in each column Baptist Buddhist Eastern Orthodox Episcopal	te of your dar lacon Mark <u>one</u>) \$40,0 \$50,0 \$60,0 \$100, \$150,0 \$150,0 \$200, mnce:	r parenta' to te from atl 000-49,999 000-59,999 000-74,999 000-149,999 000-149,999 000-149,999 000-199,399 000-199,399 000-0199,399 000 or more 000 000	x .:
2	What is your best estimu income last year? Consi sources before taxes. (1 Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9.999 \$10,000-14.999 \$15,000-19.999 \$25,000-29.999 \$25,000-29.999 \$25,000-29.999 \$30,000-39.999 \$30,000-39.999 Current religious prefere (Mark one in each column Baptist Buddhist Eastern Orthodox Episcopal	te of your der lacon der lacon der lacon seto. \$40.0 \$50.0 \$50.0 \$75.0 \$100, \$150, \$150, \$150, \$150, \$150, \$200, \$150, \$150, \$100, \$150, \$100, \$150, \$100,\$100,	r parents' to the from atl 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-74,999 00-149,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-199,990 000-199,990 000-199 000-100-199 0000	x / * * 99 9
2.	What is your best estimy income last year? Consi sources before taxes. (1 Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9,999 \$10,000-14,999 \$15,000-19,999 \$25,000-29,999	te of you der lacon (der lacon (serk orte) (stor,))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))	parents' to the from all 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-74,999 00-149,999 000-149,999 000-149,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-000 0000000000000000000000000	x /
2.	What is your best estimy income last year? Consi sources before taxes. (1 Cless than \$6,000 \$6,000-9,999 \$10,000-14,999 \$15,000-19,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$20,000-29,999	te of you der lacon lacri oran \$40,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$75,0 \$100, \$150,0 \$150,0 \$150,0 \$200, \$150,0 \$200,0 \$150,0 \$200,0 \$150,0 \$200,0 \$150,0 \$200,0 \$10,0 \$100,0	parents' to the from atl 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-74,999 00-149,999 000-199,999 000-149,999 000-199,999 000-000 or motel 000-000 or motel 000-000000000000000000	x /
27.	What is your best estimy income last year? Consi sources before taxes. (1 Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9.999 \$10,000-14,999 \$10,000-14,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$20	te of you der lecon leark <u>one</u>) \$40,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$75,0 \$100, \$150,0 \$150,0 \$150,0 \$200, \$150,0 \$200,0 \$150,0 \$200,0 \$150,0 \$200,0 \$150,0 \$150,0 \$200,0 \$150,0 \$10	parents' to the from all 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-74,999 00-149,999 00-199,999 00-199,999 00-199,999 00-199,990 00-199,900 00-199,900 00-199,900 00-199,900 00-199,900 00-199,900 00-199,900 00-199,900 00-199,900 00-199,900 00-199,900 00-199,900 00-199,900 00-199,900 00-199,9000 00-199,9000 00-199,900000000000000000000000000000000	x.r.t
2.	What is your best estima income last year? Consi sources before taxes. (1 Cless than \$6,000 \$6,000-9.999 \$10,000-14.999 \$10,000-14.999 \$25,000-29.999 \$25,00	te of you der lacon lacri (acon \$40,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$75,0 \$100, \$150,0 \$150,0 \$150,0 \$200, \$150,0 \$200,0 \$150,0 \$200,0 \$150,0 \$200,0 \$150,0 \$150,0 \$100,0 \$150,0 \$10,0 \$100,0	parents' to the from all 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-74,999 00-149,999 00-149,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 000-000-000 000-000-000 000-000-000 000-000-000 000-000-0000 000-000-000 000-000-000000	xxx 3 9 9
21.	What is your best estima income last year? Consi sources before taxes. (1 Cless than \$6,000 \$6,000-9.999 \$10,000-14.999 \$10,000-14.999 \$20,000-24.999 \$20,000-29.999 \$20,000-20,000-20,000 \$20,000-20,000-20,000 \$20,000 \$20,000 \$20,000 \$20,000 \$20,000 \$20,000 \$20,000 \$20,000 \$20,000 \$20,000 \$20,000 \$20,000 \$20,000 \$20,000 \$20,000 \$20,000	te of you der lacon lacri (acon \$40,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$100, \$150,0 \$150,0 \$150,0 \$150,0 \$150,0 \$200,0 \$150,0 \$200,0 \$150,0 \$10	parents' to the from all 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-74,999 00-149,999 00-199,999 00-0000 0000000000000000000000000	xr (
2.	Whet is your best estima income last year? Consi sources before taxas. (1 Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9.999 \$10,000-14.999 \$10,000-14.999 \$15,000-19.999 \$20,000-24.999 \$20,000-29.999 \$20,000-20.999 \$20	te of you der lecon leark <u>one</u>) \$40,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$150,0 \$	parents' to the from all 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-74,999 00-74,999 00-149,999 00-000 or more	xr*
2.	Whet is your best estima income last year? Consi sourses before taxas. (1 Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9.999 \$10,000-14,999 \$10,000-14,999 \$15,000-19,999 \$20,000-24,999 \$20,000-29,999 \$20,000-20,000-20,000-20,000 \$20,000-20,000-20,000-20,000 \$20,000-20,	te of you der lecom leark <u>one</u>) \$40,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$100, \$150,0 \$150,0 \$150,0 \$150,0 \$150,0 \$100,0 \$150,0 \$100,0 \$150,0 \$100,0 \$150,0 \$100,0 \$1	parents' to the from all 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-74,999 00-74,999 00-149,999 00-149,999 00-149,999 00-0000000000000000000000000000000	
a.	What is your best estima income test year? Consi sourses before taxes. (I Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9.999 \$10,000-14,999 \$15,000-14,999 \$15,000-24,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$20	te of you der incom (der incom) () \$40,0 () \$50,0 () \$50,0 () \$50,0 () \$50,0 () \$50,0 () \$50,0 () \$150,0 () \$150,0 () \$150,0 () \$200,0 () \$150,0 () \$200,0 () \$150,0 ()	parents' to the from all 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-90 00000000	
n.	What is your best estimations income test year? Constants ourses before taxes. (1) Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9,999 \$10,000-14,999 \$10,000-14,999 \$15,000-19,999 \$25,000-24,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$20,000-20,000 \$20	te of your der incom incom \$40,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$50,0 \$100, \$150,0 \$	parents' to the from atl 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-90 00-90 000 000 000 000 000 000	x / ** 9 9
2.	What is your best estimu income last year? Conal sources before taxes. (1 Less than \$6,000 \$6,000-9,999 \$10,000-14,999 \$10,000-14,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$25,000-29,999 \$30,000-39,999 Current religious pretent (Mark one in each column Baptist Buddhist Eastern Orthodox Episcopal Listamic LDS (Mormon) Lutheran Methodist Presbytarian Ousker Roman Catholic Seventh Day Adventist United Church of Christ Other Anesign	te of you der incom ider incom ider of you of state state state incom in	parents to te from att 00-49,999 00-59,999 00-59,999 00-74,999 00-149,999 00-74,999 00-149,999 00-149,999 00-149,999 00-149,999 000-199,999 000-199,999 <	

 For the activities below, indice once you did during the past engaged in an activity treques (D. If you engaged in an activ more times; but not begand (coopsionsity). Mark (D) (Not at if you have and conformed the if you have and conformed the 	the which war. If you by one or , sourk (E) all)
activity during the past year.	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
(Mark <u>one</u> for each tiem)	E Ri
Attended a religious service	0.0
Was bored in class	କ୍ଷିତ
Participated in organized	
	നക്ര
Studied with other students	.000
Was a guest in a teacher's home	
Smoked cigerettes	.0000
Drank beer	.0000
Drank wine or liquor	.0000
Felt overwhelmed by all had to do	
Performed volunteer work	.0 0 0
ASKED & 168Cher for advice after class	ക്ക
Overslent and missed class	
or appointment	രത്ത
Discussed politics	D D D
Voted in a student election	. କର୍ଷୁ କ
Socialized with someone of	5
another racial/ethnic group	.0000
Took a prescribed anti-depressant	.0000
	. Ba
Attended a public recital or	
Visited en art galary or museum	
Discussed religion	.020
Read the editorial ance in the	4
daily newspaper	
X * Checked Out & book of journal *	10 A
from the school Strary	.0000
Communicated via e-mail	.020
Used the Internet for research	
Daticizated in Internet of at another	
Played computer names	നൽന
Other internet une	
24. Are you: filteric all that anni-	
White/Caucasian	, o
Aincen American/Black	ō
American Indian	O
Astan American/Asian	
Mexican American Chicano	c
Puerto Hican	
25 Water sales adopted by second	
O No (skip to question 26)	nan na A. C
If Yes, place mark one of the	e following:
Yes, at age 00-2 03-	7
0 8-12 (0 1:	3 or older
25. Were you ever in foster can	e?

27. What is the highest level of formal education obtained by your perents? (Mark one in each column) Filter ave Grammar school or less ... O ...O Postsecondary school Some graduate school O ... O 25. in deciding to go to college, how important to you was each at the following Ŵ sons? 10 (Mark one answer for each possible reason) <u></u> My perents wanted me to go . . . @ @@ Wanted to get away from home $: \mathfrak{O} \begin{tabular}{c} \mathfrak{V} \begin{tabular}{c} \mathfrak{V} \end{tabular}$ To be able to get a better job.... @ 2000 To gain a general education and appreciation of ideas (2) (2) (2) - • · • To improve my reading and To make me a more cultured To be able to make more money . (2) (2) (2) A mentor/role model encouraged me to go (D) (D) To prove to others I could succeed. 20 10 10 To prepare myself for graduate Because my triends were going . 20 00 00 29. Rate yoursail on each of the following traits as compared with the average parson your age. We want the most accurate estimate of how you are yourset. (Mark one in each row) Leadership ability 000000 Mathematical ability 000000 Public speaking ability . OCOO Self-confidence Self-confidence (social). ODCOO Self-understanding OOOQO Understanding of others . OOOCC
30. M ¢

nin <u>yny prys</u> (18000085, <u>010</u> 1 okunt.	n (11)
(I) Your <u>mailter's</u> eccupatio	
The probably causes assessed as	, 1 E
IQTE: Il venir father or	
s decessed, please indicate	
we or ner last occupation.	
Accountant or actuary	
Actor or entertainer	000
Nonitect or urben planner	
191136	
Management erministration	.000
Jusinges owner or provider	.000 •
Business salesperson or buver	.000
Clergy (minister, priest)	.000
Clergy (other religioue)	.000
Clinical paychologist	.000
College administrator/staff	
Conservation and an and a second second	
Conservationies of investor	
Dentist (including orthogram)	
Distlian or home accounties	ک ب م ک ک
	.000
Farmer or rancher	.000
Foreign service worker	
(including diplomet)	
Homemaker (full-time)	
meiner deconster (including designer) 1. statemetet -	
Law acconcion or hygienist	
Leave amorgament officer	
Million service (course)	പതുള നയം പ
Musician (carder)	പെറെല്ല തത്ത
Nurse	
Optometrist	
Phermecist	
Physician	
Policymaker/Government	
School counselor	
School principal or superintendent	
Scientic researcher	
acces, weithre or recreation works	
(nerapist (physical, occupational apaech)	
Teacher or administration	لە بە ب
(elementary)	
Teacher or exteninistrates	U
(acconciery)	
Veterinarian	
Writer or journalist	
Skilled trades	
Other	
Undecided	D
Laborer (Uneldied)	@@
Semesialed worker	Ð
	@0
Unemployed	Т

St. Hark one in each row:

Mark <u>one</u> in each row: (D. Diago (D. Agus Sur (D. Agus Sur (D. Agus Surag)	in Summary
There is too much concern in the courts for the rights of criminals	
Abortion should be legal	
The death penalty should be abdiahed	
If two people really like each other, it's all right for them to have sax usen if	
they've known each other for only a very short time	
Marijuana shouki be legelized	
It is important to have laws prohibiling homosascuel relationships	
Employers should be allowed to require drug testing of employees or job applic	ants@@@@@
Just because a men thinks that a woman has "led him on" does not entitle him	10
have sex with her	
The federal government should do more to control the sale of handguns	
Recial discrimination is no longer a major problem in America	
Realistically, an individual can do little to bring about changes in our society	
Wealthy people should pay a larger share of taxes than they do now	
Collegee should prehibit recist/sediat speech on campus	
Same sex couples should have the right to legal marital status	
Meterial on the internet should be regulated by the government	

32. During your last year in high school, how much time did you apend during a typics weak doing the following activities?

Hours per week:

Studying/homework	go	Ìo	10	Įo
Socializing with triends .				
outside of cleas	ĝo	20	<u>jo</u> j	0
Partying				
Working (for pay)				0
Student clubs/groups				j0
Wesching TV				
Reading for pleasure	80	50		
Playing video games Prever/maditation				

33. Do you have any concern about your ab to finance your college education? (Mark <u>one</u>) None (I am confident that I will have sufficient tunce) Some (but I probably will have enough funds

Mejor (not sure 1 will have enough tunds to complete college)

34. Do you have a disability?

er in high school, how spend during a typical	36. How would you chemoterize your political views? (Mark <u>one</u>)
owing	O Farlet
.	C) Liberal
	O Middle-of-libe-road
御史家: 副三級の	O Conservative
	O Far right
	37. Below are some seasons that might
	have influenced your decision to
୍ଟ୍ରପ୍ରତ୍ରତ୍ରପ୍ରତ୍ରର	How important was such reason III
	in your decision to come here?
	(Mark one answer for each
	By relatives wanted me to come here . (2) (2) (2)
	This college has a very good
	This college has a good reputation
oncern about yoer ability	This college offers speciel educational renorance (72.00.00)
nege eaucendh?	This college has jour tuilion
t that I will have	High acheol counselor advised me
	Private college counterior advised me. (0) (0) (0)
will have enough funds). O	I wanted to live near tome

This college's graduates get good I was attracted by the religious efficient/orientation of the college . . (2) (2) (3)

Information in a multicollege guidebook . (1) (1) (1)

nt of d rgr fields grouped into genoral ceta one ovel to indicate your probe agories. Mark only

ARTS AND HUMANITIES
Art, fine and applied
English (language and literature)
History
Journalism
Language and Literature
Music
Philosophy
Speech
Theater or Drame
Theology or Fieligion
Other Arts and Humanides (1)
BIOLOGICAL SCIENCE
Biology (general)
Biochemistry or Biochysics
Botany
Environmental Science
Marine (Life) Science
Microbiology or Bacteriology
Zoology
Other Biological Science
BUSINESS
Accounting
Business Admin. (general) 🐲
Finance
International Business
Marketing
Management
Secretarial Studies
Other Business
EDUCATION
Munic or Art Education (1)
Developed Entreprise on
Recreation
Secondary Education
Special Education
Other Education
ENGINEERING
Aeronauticat or
Astronautical Eng 👁
Civil Engineering
Chemical Engineering @
Electrical or Electronic Engineering
: Industrial Engineering
• Mechanical Engineering
Other Engineering
r
,

1

ı, ī

PHYSICAL SCIENCE
Astronomy
Atmospheric Science (incl. Meteorology)
Chemistry
Earth Science
Marine Science (incl.
Mathematica A
Physics
Statistics
Other Physical Science
PROPESSIONAL
Architecture or Urban
Planning
Home Economics
Health Technology (medi-
Call, OBRIDI, IDDORSIORY)
Martine Design
Veterinarian
Nursing
Pharmacy
Therapy (occupational.
physical. speech)
Other Professional
SOCIAL SCIENCE
Geography
international relations)
Psychology
Social Work
Sociology
Women's Studies
Other Sociel Science
TECHNICAL
Building Trades
Data Processing or Computer Processing
Dratting or Decem
Electronics
Mechanics
Other Technical
OTHER RELDS
Agriculture
Communications
Computer Science
Law Enforcement
Other Sinkt
Undecided

	•			
30. Pla	ene indicate the impo	second to vibu	OD Het	Important
per	sonally of each of the	following:	(E) Some	
(M	ink one for each bem)	a ce		
Be	comina eccomplished in	one of the		
2	entorming arts (acting, o	tencing, etc.)		
Be	comina en authoritrio a	ny Said		
		.,		
0	taining recognition from	my colleeguee	lor -	~~~~
<u>د</u>	contractions to my spec		•••••••••••	
Int	uencing the political str		· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
init.	uencing social values			OD OD OD OD -
Ra	ising a lamily	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
ملز	vino administrativo reso	cosibility for the	work of others	30 4D (0) 4D (0)
	ion you well off factorie			തതതത
	and and a state of the second	ну	••••••••	
He	abing others who are in	cimculty	•••••••	
M	iting a theoretical contri	bution to eclenc	8 	
W	iting original works (poe	ims, novels, sho	nt stories, etc.)	
Cr	eating attistic work (peir	ting, sculpture,	decorating, etc.)
Be	comino successful in a	business of my		
			n the enderson	
	naming and the start of			
Ŭ	valoping a meeninglut (ABICOODITY OF BIC	•••••	
Pa	nticipating in a commun	ity action progra	m	
H	iping to promote racial	understanding		
Ke	eoing up to date with po	ditical affairs		
Be	coming a community in	ader		
			/1811.alie	
40. WI	net is your beet guese	es 1 0		the Change
th	o chances that you will	l:	D Some Cha	·····
()4	ank one tor each sem)	C	() Very Geed Ch	
ପ	nange major field?	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		
ଘ	hange career choice? .			
F	ill one or more courses?			
	nd -to with honors?			തതനത
		 	•••••	
	B GIECIEC TO & STUDERT OF	NC87	•••••••	
G	et a job to help pay for c	oliego expensad	i?	
W	iork full time while attend	sing college?		
يد ا	in a social fratemity, so	rority, or club?	
Р	av varadv/mencollegiate	athlencs?		
	a elected to an erademi	e henner anniak.	•	തതത
1				
M		P f · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
N	eed ears time to comple	ee your degree	requirements?	
j G	et a bechelor's degree (8.A., 8.S., etc.)	?	
P	articipate in student prof	lests or demons	trations?	
	rop out of this college te	mooranily (exclu	de transferring)	?
	no out netmonantly law	chain transform	1012	തതനത
1 -	and a here the second and any (the			
	analer to enother colleg	e neizie Gradina	wng:	
l B	e satisfied with your coll	ege?	• • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
G	et married while in colle	ge? (skip if man	rieci)	
P	enticipate in volunteer o	community ser	vice work?	
i s	eek personal courseling	2?		
m -				1000 A superior and a set
1 41.04	r yw'i grve ine regner i chute weur 10 euster	and Council 19899		which permanent to
	search analyses?			
1	-			
-				tened by your call
	maning orde are provided by the second second second second second second second second second second second s	na tot quettenti n Research inst	i upericitally des Index II years contain	nings of Jan could a
the o	tis, piezes chearve care	why the supplem	interiors	given to you.
00	00000		100 /100	5.000000
43.0				
1 44.0	00000	51.0000	B) (E)	
45.0	00000	52.®®©	00 OC	99.CCCCCCC
46.0	00000	S. D D D	B B	8.00000C
47 0		54.0000	10 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 0	
1 40.0	<u>y uu uu uu uu uu uu uu uu uu uu uu uu uu</u>	ຸມສຸມສຸມສຸມ	ست س	

C Proper of by the Higher Education Rean wrnin, Los Argoins, California 98 e, lin Ēγ 105-1521

THANK YOU!

REFERENCES

Acock, A. C., & Kiecolt, K. J. (1989). Is it family structure or socioeconomic status? Family structure during adolescence and adult adjustment. *Social Forces*, *68*(2), 553-571.

Alvarez, L. P. (1986). *Home and school contexts for language learning: A case study of two Mexican-American preschoolers*. Doctoral dissertation, Stanford University, CA.

Amato, P. R., & Keith, B. (1991). Parental divorce and the well-being of children: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *110*(1), 26-46.

Amber, A., & Saucier, J. (1984). Adolescents' academic success and aspirations by parental marital status. *Canadian Review of Sociology and Anthropology*, *21*(1), 62-71.

American Council on Education. (1990). *Minorities in higher education: Ninth annual report 1990*. Washington, DC: American Council on Education, Office of Minorities in Higher Education (formerly Office of Minority Concerns).

Astone, N. M., & McLanahan, S. S. (1991). Family structure, parental practices and high school completion. *American Sociological Review*, *56*, 309-320.

Bank, B. J., Slavings, R. L., & Biddle, B. J. (1990). Effects of peer, faculty, and parental influences on student's persistence. *Sociology of Education*, 63, 208-225.

Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *51*(6), 1173-1182.

Baumrind, D. (1991). Parenting styles and adolescent. In J. Brooks-Gunn, R. Lerner, & A. C. Peterson (Eds.), *The encyclopedia of adolescence*. New York: Garland.

Bean, J. P., & Metzner, B. S. (1985). A conceptual model of nontraditional undergraduate student attrition. *Review of Educational Research*, *55*, 485-540.

Bell, K. L., Allen, J. P., Hauser, S. T., & O'Conner, T. G. (1996). Family factors and young adults transitions: Educational attainment and occupational prestige. In J. A. Graber, J. Brooks-Gunn, & A. C. Petersen (Eds.), *Transitions Through adolescence: Interpersonal domains and context* (pp. 345-366). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Bell, N. J., Avery, A. W., Jenkins, D., Feld, J., & Schoenrock, C. J. (1985). Family relationships and social competence during late adolescence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 14*, 109-119.

Bem, S. L. (1974). The measurement of psychological androgyny. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *42*, 155-162.

Blau, P. M., & Duncan, O. D. (1967). *The American occupational structure*. New York: Wiley.

Bloom, B. (1964). *Stability and change in human characteristics*. New York: Wiley.

Blum, H. M., Boyle, M. H., & Offord, D. R. (1988). Single-parent families, child psychiatric disorder and school performance. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 27(2), 214-219.

Bradley, R. H., & Caldwell, B. M. (1984). The home inventory and family demographics. *Developmental Psychology*, 20, 315-320.

Bradley, R. H., Caldwell, B. M., & Elardo, R. (1977). Home environment, social status, and mental test performance. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 69, 697-701.

Bradley, R. H., Caldwell, B. M., & Elardo, R. (1979). Home environment and cognitive development in the first 2 years: A cross-lagged panel analysis. *Developmental Psychology*, *45*, 1011-1019.

British Psychological Society. (1986). Achievement in the primary school: Evidence to the Education, Science and Arts Committee of the House of Commons. Bulletin of the British Psychological Society, 39, 121-125.

Bronfenbrenner, U. (1985). Summary. In M. B. Spencer, G. K. Brookins, & W. R. Allen (Eds.), *Beginnings: The social an affective development of Black children* (pp. 67-73). Hillsdale, NJ: L. Erlbaum

Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human behavior*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

Bronfenbrenner, U. (1986). Ecology of the family as a context for human development: Research perspectives. *Developmental Psychology*, 22, 723-742.

Bronfenbrenner, U., Crouter, A.C. (1983). The evolution of environmental models in development research. In E. M. Hetherington (Ed.), P. H. Mussen (Series Ed.), *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 1. Socialization, personality and social development* (pp. 357-414). New York: Wiley.

Brooks-Gunn, J., Klebanov, P., Liaw, F., & Duncan, G. (1995). Toward an understanding of the effects of poverty upon children. In H. E. Fitzgerald, B. M. Lester, & B. Zuckerman (Eds.), *Childern of poverty: Research, health, and policy issues* (pp. 3-37). New York: Fordham University Hispanic Research Center Monograph No.4.

Brophy, J. E., & Good, T. (1974). *Teacher-student relationships: Cause and consequences*. New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.

Brophy, J. (1987, October). On Motivating Students. Occasional Paper No. 101. East Lansing, Michigan: Institute for Research on Teaching for Motivating Students to Learn. *Educational Leadership*: 40-48. EJ 362 226

Brown, L., L., & Robinson Kuripus, S. E. (1997). Psychosocial factors influencing academic persistence of American Indian college students. *Journal of College Student Development*, *38*, 3-8.

Caplan, N., Choy, M. H., & Whitmore, J. K. (1991). *Children of the boat people: A study of educational success*. Ann Arbor: The University of Michigan Press.

Carasquillo, A. L. (1994, Winter). A rationale for Hispanic representation in instruction material. *The Journal of Educational Issues of Language Minority Student*, *14*, 115-126.

Carter, J. (1991, March/April) Education for young children in inner-city classrooms. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *34*(4), 440-53. EJ 430 592.

Carter, D. B., & Middlemiss, W. A. (1992). The socialization of instrumental competence in families in the United States. In J. L. Roopnarine & D. B. Carter, *Parent-child socialization in diverse cultures: Advances in Applied Developmental Psychology*. Princeton, NJ: Ablex Publishing Corporation.

Caudill, W., & Weinstein, H. (1969). Maternal care and infant behavior in Japan and America. *Psychiatry*, *3*2, 12-43.

Center for Research and Evaluation. (1991). *The social values and behaviors of rural high school students*. Orono: University of Maine.

Cervantes, L. F. (1965). Family background, primary relations, and the high school drop-out. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 27(5), 218-223.

Chapa, J. (1988). The question of Mexican American assimilation: Socioeconomic parity or underclass formation? *Public Affairs Comment, 35*, 1-14. Chapa, J., & Valencia, R. R. (1993). Latino population growth, demographic characteristics, and education stagnation: An examination of recent trends. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, *15*, 165-187.

Chase-Lansdale, Lindsay, P., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (1995). *Escape from poverty: What makes a difference form children.* New York: Cambridge University Press.

Chavez, J. M., & Roney, C. E. (1990). Psychocultural fctors affecting the mental health status of Mexican American American adolescents. In A. R. Stiffman & L. E. Davis (Eds.), *Ethnic issues in adolescent mental health* (pp. 73-91). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Cicourel, A.V. & Kitsuse, J. I. (1963). *The educational decision-makers*. Indianapolis, Bobbs-Merrill .

Clark, R.M. (1983). Family life and school achievement: *Why poor black children succeed or fail*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Cobb, R. A., McIntire, W. G., & Pratt, P. A. (1969). Vocational and educational aspirations of high school students: A problem for rural America. In R. Quaglia (Eds.), *Research in rural Education*, 6(2), 11-23.

Cohen, D. L. (1993). New study links lower I.Q. at age 5 to poverty. *Education Week, 28*(4), 4-5.

Cohen, J. (1987). Parents as educational models, and definers. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 49, 339-349.

Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *American Journal of Sociology*, *94* (Suppl. S95-S120).

Collins, W. A. (1990). Parent-child relationships in the transition to adolescence: Continuity and change in interaction, affect, and cognition. In R. Montemayor, G. R. Adams, and T. P. Gullotta (Eds.), *From childhood to adolescence* (pp. 85-106). Newbury, CA: Sage.

Cowan, P. A., Cowan, C. P., & Schulz, M. S. (1996). Thinking about risk and resilience in families. In E. M. Hetherington & E. A. Blechman (Eds.), *Stress, coping, and resiliency in children and families* (pp. 1-39). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Danziger, H & Winberg, D. H. (1986). *Fighting poverty: What works and what doesn't*. Harvard University Press.

Datcher-Loury, L. (1988). Family background and school achievement among low income Blacks. *The Journal of Human Resources*, 24(3), 528-544.

Davies, M. & Kandel, D. B. (1981). Parental and peer influences on adolescences' educational plans: some further evidence. *American Journal of Sociology*, 87, 363-87.

DeBaryshe, B. D., Pattersoon, G. R., & Capaldi, D. M. (1993). A performance model for academic achievement in early adolescent boys. *Developmental Psychology*, *29*, 795-804.

Delgado-Gaitan, C. (1983). *Learning how: Rules for knowing and doing for Mexican children at home, play and school.* Doctoral dissertation, Stanford University, CA.

Delgado-Gaitan, C.(1990). Literacy for empowerment: The role of parents in children education. Philadelphia: Falmer Press.

Deutsch, C. P. (1973). Social class and child development. In Caldwell, B. M. & Ricciuti, H. N. (Eds.), *Review of child development research, Vol. 3.* (pp 12-40)Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Dixon, S., Tronick, E., Keefer, C. B. & Brazelton, T. B. (1981). Mother-infant interaction among the Gusii of Kenya. In T. M. Field, A. M. Sostek, P. Vietze, & P. H. Leiderman (Eds.), *Culture and early interaction* (pp.120–150). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Assoicates, Inc.

Dornbusch, S. M., & Wood, K. D. (1989). Family processes and educational achievement. In W. J. Weston (Ed.), *Education and the American family-A research synthesis* (pp.66-95). New York: New York University Press.

Dornbusch, S. M., Carlsmith, S. J., Bushwall, S. J., Ritter, P. L., Leiderman, H., Hastorf, A. H., & Gross, R. T. (1985). Single parents, extended households, and the control of adolescents. *Child Development*, *56*, 326-341.

Dornbusch, S. M., Ritter, P. L., Leiderman, P. H., Roberts, D. F., & Fraleigh, M. J. (1987). The relation of parenting of style to adolescent school performance. *Child Development*, *58*, 1244-1257.

Douvan, E. (1966). *The adolescent experience*. New York: Wiley.

Dubois, D. L., Eitel, S. K., Felner, R. D. (1994). Effects of family environment and parent-child relationships on school adjustment during the transition to early adolescence. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *56*, 405-414.

Duncan, G. J., Brooks-Gunn, J. & Klebanov, P. K. (1994). Economic deprivation and early-children. *Review of Educational Research*, *42*, 493-504.

Duncan, G., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (Eds.). (1997). *Consequences of growing up poor*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.

Duncan, G., & Rodger, W. (1988). Longitudinal aspects of childhood poverty. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *50*, 1007-1021.

Duncan, G., Yeung, W., Smith, J., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (in press). How much does childhood poverty affect the life chances of children? *American Sociological Review.*

Dunn, L. M. (1987). *Bilingual Hispanic children in the U.S. Mainland: A review of research on their cognitive, linguistic, and scholastic development.* Circle Pines, MN: American Guidance Service, Inc.

Eagle, E. (1989). Socioeconomic status, family structure, and parental involvement: the correlates of achievement. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service. No. ED307 332).

Eccles, J., & Midgley, C. (1989). Stage-environment fit: Developmentally appropriate classrooms for young adolescents. In C. Ames & R. Ames (Eds.) *Research on motivation in education Vol.* 3 (pp. 139-186). New York: Academic Press.

Eisenberg, N. & Lazarsfeld, P. F. (1983). The psychological effects of unemployment. *Psychological Bulletin, 35*, 358-90.

Elder, G. H. (1974). *Childern in the great depression: Social change in life experiences.* Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Entwisle, D., & Astone, N. (1994). Some practical guidelines for measuring youths' race/ethnicity and socioeconomic status. *Child Development*, *65*, 1521-1540.

Eskstrom, R. B., Goertz, M. E., Pollack, J. M., & Rock, D. A. (1986). Who drops out of high school and why? Findings from a national study. *Teachers College Record*, *87*, 356-373.

Featherstone, D. R., Cundick, B. P., & Jensen, L. C. (1992). Differences in school behavior and achievement between children from intact, reconstituted, and single-parent families. *Adolescence*, *27*(106), 1-12.

Felner, R. D., & Felner, T. Y. (1989). Primary prevention programs in the educational context: A transactional-ecological framework and analysis. In L. A. Bond & B. E. Compas (Eds.), *Primary prevention in the schools* (pp. 13-49). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Field, T. M., & Widmayer, S. M. (1981). Mother-infant interactions among lower SES Black, Cuban, Puerto Rican and South American immigrants. In T. M. Field, A. M. Sostek, P. Vietze, & P. H. Leiderman (Eds.), *Culture and early interactions* pp. 120-140. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum Findley, M. J., & Cooper, H. M. (1983). Locus of control and academic achievement: A literature review. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 44*, 419-427.

Finn, J. D. (1989). Withdrawing from school. *Review of Educational Research*, 59, 117-142.

Finn. J. D., & Rock, D. A. (1997). Academic success among students at risk for school failure. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *8*2, 221-234.

Fitzgerald, H. E., Lester, B. M., & Zuckerman, B. (Eds.), (1995). Children of poverty: Research, health, and policy issues. New York : Garland.

Flanagan, J. C. Shaycroft, M. F., Richards, J. M., & Claudy, G. J. (1971). *Five years after high school*. Palo Alto, Ca: American Institutes for Research.

Fletcher, A., & Steinberg, L. (1994, Februrary). *Generational status and country of origin as influences on the psychological adjustment of Asian-American Adolescents*. Paper presented as part of a symposium entitled "Psychological Adjustment of Asian-American Adolescents" at the meetings of the Society for Research on Adolescence, San Diego.

Forehand, R. L., Long, N., Brody, G., & Fauber, R. (1986). Home predictions of young adolescents' school behaviors and academic performance. *Child Development*, *57*, 1528-1533.

Fuligni, A. J. (1997). The academic achievement of adolescents from immigrant families: The roles of family background, attitudes, and behavior. *Child Development*, *68*, 261-273.

Galambos, N. L., & Silbereisen, R. K. (1987). Income change, parental life outlook, and adolescent expectations for job success. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 49, 141-149.

Gallimore R., & Goldenberg, C. (1993). Activity settings of early literacy: Home and school factors in children's word recognition skills. *Anthropology and Education Quarterly*, *18*, 149-179.

Gandara, P. (2000). Over the Ivy Walls: The educational mobility of lowincome Chicanos. Albany : State University of New York Press.

Garbarino, J. (1982). Sociocultural risk: Dangers to competence. In C. B. Kopps & J. B. Krakow (Eds.), *The child: Development in a social context* (pp.1-10). Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.

Garcia Coll, C. T., Lamberty, G., Jenkins, R., Pipes McAdoo, Crinic, K., Hanna Wasik, B., & Vazquez Garcia, H. (1996). An integrative model for the study of development competencies in minority children. *Child Development*, *67*, 1891-1914.

Garcia Coll, C. T., Meyer, E. C., Brillon, L. (1995). Ethnic and minority parenting. In M. Bornstein (Eds.), *Handbook of parenting: Vol. 2. Biology and ecology of parenting* (pp. 189-209). Mahwah, NJ:Erlbaum.

Getzels, F. W. (1974). Socialization and education: A note on discontinuities. *Teachers College Record*, *76*, 218-225.

Gibson, M. A. (1991). Ethnicity, gender, and social class: The school adaptation patterns of West Indian youths. In M. A. Gibson & J. U. Ogbu (Eds.), *Minority status and schooling: A comparative study of immigrant and involuntary minorities* (pp. 169-204). New York: Garland.

Gibson, M. A., & Bhachu, P. K. (1991). The dynamics of educational decision making: A comparative study of Sikhs in Britain and the United States. In M. A. Gibson & J. U. Ogbu (Eds.), *Minority status and schooling: A comparative study of immigrant and involuntary minorities* (pp. 63-96). New York: Garland.

Gloria, A., & Robinson, S. (1994). *Factors influencing the academic persistence of Chicanola undergraduates*. Poster session presented at the annual meeting of the American Psychological Association, Los Angeles.

Goldenberg, C. N., & Gallimore, R. (1991). Local knowledge, research knowledge, and educational change: A case study of early Spanish reading improvement. *Educational research*, *11*, 2-14.

Goldenberg, C. N. (1987). Low income Hispanic parents, contributions to their first-grade children's word recognition skills. *Anthropology and Education Quarterly*, *18*, 149-179.

Goldenberg, C. N. (1993). The home-school connection in bilingual education. In M. B. Arias & U. Cassanova (Eds.), *Bilingual education: Politics, practice, and research* (pp. 225-250). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Gormley, E. (1983). Breaking the Language Barrier: Parents as Teachers. *Momentum*, *14*(1): 32-34.

Gottfried, A. W., & Gottfried, A. E. (1984). Home environment and cognitive development in young children of middle-socioeconomic status families. In W. Gottfried (Ed.), *Home environment and early cognitive development* (pp.57-115). Orlando, FL: Academic Press, Inc.

Grissmer, D. W., Kirby, S .N, Berends, M & Williamson, S. (1994). *Student* Achievement and the Changing American Family, Santa Monica: RAND.

Gruca, J. M. et al. (1989). Intergenerational effects of parents' college graduation: Comparative path analyses for four racial-gender groups. San Francisco, CA: American Educational Research Association Meeting, March 27-31. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 309 688)

Halsey, A. H. (1975). Sociology and the equality debate. Oxford Review of Education, 1, 9-23.

Hanushek, (1989). The impact of differential expenditures on student performance. *Educational Researcher*, *18*(4), 45-51. EJ 390 070.

Harp (1993). Dollar and sense: Reformers seek to rethink school financing to make it a powerful lever of change. *Education Week*, *12*(27):9-14.

Harrison, A. O. Wilson, M. N., Pine, C. J., Chan, S. Q., & Buriel, R. (1990). Family ecologies of ethnic minority children. *Child Development*, *61*, 347-362.

Harwood, R., Schoelmerich, A., Ventura-Cook, E., Schulze, P. A., & Wilson, S. P. (1996). Culture and class influences on Anglos and Puerto Rican mothers' beliefs regarding long-term socialization goals and child behavior. *Child Development*, *67*, 2246-2461.

Hathaway, S. R. & Monachesi, E. D. (1963). *Adolescent personality and behavior*. Minneapolis: The University of Minnesota Press.

Henderson, A. (1988). Parents are a school's best friends. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 70(2)148-153.

Henderson, R., W. (1981). *Parent-child interactions: Theory, research, and prospects.* New York: Academic Press.

Herzog, E., & Sudia, C. (1973). Children in fatherless families. In B. V. Caldwell & H. N. Ricutti (Eds.) *Review of Child Development Research, Vol. 3: Child development and child policy* (pp. 99-120). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Hess, R. D., & Holloway, S. D. (1984). Family and school as educational institutions. In R. D. Parke (Ed.), *Review of Child Development*, Vol 7. (pp.23-30). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Hess, R. D., & McDewitt, T. M. (1984). Some cognitive consequences of maternal intervention techniques: A longitudinal study. *Child Development*, 55, 2017-2030.

Hetherington, E. M. (1992). *Coping with marital transition*. Chicago: Society for research in child development.

Hetherington, E. M., Camara, K. A., & Featherman, D. L. (1983). Achievement and intellectual functioning of children in one-parent households. In J. T. Spence (Ed.), *Achievement and achievement motives* (pp. 205-284). San Francisco: W. H. Freeman.

Hewlett, B. S. (1992). The parent-infant relationship and social-emotional development among AKA Pygmies. In J. L. Roopnarine & D. B. Cater (Eds.), *Parent-child socialization in diverse cultures: Annual advances in applied developmental psychology*, Vol. 5 (pp. 223-244). Norwood, NJ: Ablex Publishing Corporation.

Hill, C. R. (1979). Capacities, opportunities, and educational investments: The case of the high school dropout. *Reviewing of Economics and Statistics*, *61*, 9-20.

Hines, C. Y. (1992). *The home environment of gifted Puerto Rican children: Family factors which support high achievement*. Washington, DC: Office of Bilingual Education and Minority Languages Affairs.

Hoffman. L. W & Weiss, B. (1987). Family dynamics and presenting problems in college students. *Journal of Counseling Pyschology*, *34*, 157-163.

Hoffman, L. W. (1984). Work, family, and the socialization of the child. In D. Parke (Ed.), *Review of child development* Vol. 7. (pp. 4-16.) Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Hoffman, M. L. (1975). Altruistic behavior and the parent-child relationship. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 5, 45-57.

Hollingshead, A. B. (1949). Elmtown's youth. New York: Wiley.

Hudson, J. B. (1991). *The long-term performance and retention of preparatory division transfer students: 1983-1990.* (ERIC Document Reproduction Services No. ED 334 918)

Hushak, L. J. (1973). *The contribution of school and non-school inputs to student achievement*. Final Report.

Jackson, N. F. (1983). *Getting along with others: teaching social effectiveness to children*. Champaign, IL: Research Press.

Jensen, L., & Chitose, Y. (1984). Today's second generation: Evidence from the 1990 U.S. Census International Migration Review, 28, 714-735.

Kao, G., & Tienda, M. (1995). Optimism and achievement: The educational performance of immigrant youth. *Social Science Quarterly*, *76*, 1-9.

Kobak, R. R., & Sceery, A. (1988). Attachment in late adolescence: Working models, affect regulation, and representation of self and others. *Child Development, 59*, 135-146.

Kohn, M. L. (1979). The effects of social class on parental values and practices. In H. A. Hoffman (Ed.), *The American family: Dying or developing.* (pp. 176-133). New York: Plenum Press.

Kohut, H. (1971). *The analysis of self*. New York: International Universities Press.

Lam, S. L. (1997). How the family influences children's academic achievement. New York: Garland Publishing.

Laosa, L. M. (1975). Bilingualism in three United States Hispanic groups: Contextual use of language by children and adults in their families. *Journal of Education Psychology*, 67, 617-627.

Laosa, L. M. (1977). Socialization, education, and continuity: The importance of the sociocultural context. *Young Children; 4*, 21-27.

Laosa, L. M. (1979). Estrategies de ensenanza maternas en familias Chicanas y Angloamericans: La influencia de la cultura y la escolaridad en la conducta materna. Paper presented at the XVII Interamerican Congress of Psychology, Lima, Peru.

Laosa, L. M. (1980). Maternal teaching strategies in Chicano families and Anglo-American families: The influence of culture and education on maternal behavior. *Child Develvopment*, *51*, 759-765.

Laosa, L. M. (1982). School, occupation, culture, and family: The impact of parental schooling on the parent-child relationship. *Journal of Education Psychology*, 74, 791-827.

Laosa, L. M. (1984). Ethnic, socioeconomic, and home language influences upon early performance on measures of abilities. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 76, 1178-1198.

Lareau, A. (1987). Social class differences in family-school relationships: The importance of cultural capital. *Sociology of Education, 60*, 73-85.

Lavin, D. (1965). *The prediction of academic performance*. New York: Russell Sage.

Lee, R. M., & Peng, S. S. (1992). *Measuring student at-riskness by demographic characteristics*. San Francisco, CA: American Educational Research

Association Meeting, April 20-24, 1992. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 347 679)

LeVine, R. A. (1980). Influences of woman's schooling on maternal behavior in the third world. *Comparative Education Review*, 9, pp. S78-S105.

Liang, B., & Bogat, G. A. (1994). Culture, control, and coping: New perspectives on social support. American Journal of Community Psychology, 22, 123-147.

Lin, R. (1990). Perception of family background and personal characteristics among Indian college students. *Journal of American Indian Education*, 29, 19-28.

Lopez, F. G. (1991). Patterns of family conflict and their relation to college student development. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 69, 257-260.

Luster, T., & McAdoo, H. (1994). Factors related to the achievement and adjustment of young African American children. *Child Development,* 65, 1080-1094.

MacDermott, K. G. et al. (1987). The influence of parental education level on college choice. *Journal of College Admission*, *115*: 3-10.

Majoribanks, K. (1979). *Families and their learning environments*. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.

Majoribanks, K. (1988). Perceptions of family environments, educational and occupational outcomes: Social status differences. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 66, 3-9.

Martin, G & VanOss Marin, B. (1991). *Research with Hispanic populations*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.

Marion, S., Mirochnik, D., McCaul, E., & McIntire, W. (1991). *The educational and work experiences of rural youth: A contextual and regional analysis*. Orono, ME: University of Maine, Center for Research and Evaluation.

Matute-Bianchi, M. E. (1991). Situational ethnicity and patterns of school performance among immigrant and non-immigrant Mexican-decent students. In M. A. Gibson & J. U. Ogbu (Eds.), *Minority status and schooling: comparative study of immigrant and involuntary minorities* (pp. 205-248). New York: Garland.

McCaul, E. J. (1989). Rural public school dropouts: Findings from High School and Beyond. *Research in Rural Education*, 6(1), 19-24.

McClelland, D. C. (1975). *Power: the inner experience*. New York : Irvington Publishers : distributed by Halsted Press.

McClelland, D.C., & Pilon, D. A. (1983). Sources of adult motives in patterns of parent behavior in early childhood. *Journal of personality and Social Psychology*, *44*, 564-74.

McCormick, K. (1989). An equal chance: Educating at-risk children to succeed. Alexandria, VA: National School Board Association; ED 307 359.

McGranahan, D. A. (1988). Rural workers at a disadvantage in job opportunities. *Rural Develoment Perspectives*, *4*, 7-12.

McLeod, J. D., & Shanahan, M. J. (1993). Poverty, parenting, and children's mental health. *American Sociological Review*, *58*, 351-366.

McLoyd, V. C. (1998). Socioeconomic disadvantage and child development. *American Psychologist*, 53, 185-204.

McLoyd, V. C. (1990). The impact of economic hardship on black families and children: Psychological distress, parenting and socio-emotional development. *Child Development*, *61*, 311-346.

Melby, J. N., & Conger, R. D. (1996). Parental behaviors and adolescent academic performance: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *6*, 133-137.

Melendez, S. E., & Petrovich, J. (1989). Hispanic women students in higher education: Meeting the challenge of diversity. In C. S. Pearson, D. Shavlik, & J. Touchton (Eds.), *Educating the majority: Women challenge tradition in higher education* (pg. 39-90). Washington DC: American Council of Education/Macmillan Series on Higher Education.

Menaghan, E. G., & Parcel, T. L. (1991). Determining children's home environments: The impact of maternal characteristics and current occupational and family conditions. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, **57**, 69-84.

Merton, K., & Kitt, A. S. (1950). Contributions to the theory of reference group behavior. In R. K. Merton and P. F. Lazarsfeld (Eds.), *Continuities in social research: Studies in the scope and method of The American Soldier.* New York: Free Press.

Miller, S. A. (1988). Parent's beliefs about children's cognitive development. *Child Development*, *59*, 259-285.

Milne, A. M. (1989). Family structure and the achievement of children. In W.J. Weston (Ed.), Education and the American family- A research synthesis (pp.32-65). New York: New York University Press.

Milne, A., Myers, D., Rosenthal, A., Ginsburg, A. (1986). Single parents, working mothers and the educational achievement of school children. *Sociology of Education*, 59, 125-140.

Miner, J. B. (1957). Intelligence in the United States. New York: Springer.

Montague, A. (1964). The concept of race. Toronto: Collier-Macmillan.

Mueller, D. P., & Cooper, P. W. (1986). Children of single parent families: How they fare as young adults. *Family Relations*, *35*, 169-176.

Mullis, I. V. S., & Jenkins, L. B. (1990). *The reading report card, 1971-88: Trends from the nation's reading report card* (Report No. 19-R-01). Princeton, NJ: National Assessment of Educational Progress, Educational Testing Service.

Myerhoff, B. G., & Larson, W. R. (1965). Primary and formal aspects of family organization; Group consensus, problem perception, and adolescent school success. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 27(5), 213-217.

National Center for Childern in Poverty. (1990). *Five million children: Statistical profile of our poorest young citizens*. New York: Author.

Natriello, G., McDill, E. L., & Pallas, A. M. (in press). Schooling disadvantaged children: Racing against catastrophe. New York: Teachers College Press.

Naylor, M. (1986). *Family Influences on employment and education*. *Overview*. ERIC Digest No. 56.

Nieves-Squares, S. (1991). *Hispanic women: Making their presence on campus less tenuous*. Washington DC: Association of American Colleges Project on the Status and Education of Women.

Nowicki, S., & Segal, W. (1974). Perceived parental characteristics, locus of control orientation, and behavioral correlates of locus of control. *Developmental Psychology*, *10*, 33-7.

O'Hara, W. P.(1988). *The rise of poverty in rural America*. Washington, DC: Population Reference Bureau, (ED 302 350)

Office of Institutional Research. (1998). *Fall 1998 Iowa State University freshmen Cooperative Institutional Research Program (C(RP) survey results.* Ames: Iowa State University.

Ogbu, J. U. (1988). Cultural diversity and human development. In D. Slaughter (Ed.), *Black children and poverty: A development perspective* (pp. 11-28). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Ogbu, J. U. (1991). Immigrant and involuntary minorities in comparative perspective. In M. A. Gibson & J. U. Ogbu (Eds.), *Minority status and schooling: A comparative study of immigrant and involuntary minorities* (pp. 3 -36). New York: Garland.

Oh-Hwang, Y. (1994). A cross-cultural study: Linkages among intelligence, psychosocial maturity, parenting practices, and academic achievement of adolescents. Doctoral dissertation, Purdue University, Lafayette, IN.

Okagaki, L., & Sternberg, R. (1993). Parental beliefs and children's school performance. *Child Development*, 64, 36-56.

Okun, M. A., Benin, M., & Brandt-Williams, A. (1996). Staying in college: Moderators of the relation between intention and institutional departure. *Journal of Higher Education*, 67, 577-596.

Otto, L. B., & Call, V. R. A. (1985). Parental Influences on young people's career development. *Journal of Career Development*, *12*(1), 55-64.

Pagani, L., Boulerice, B., & Tremblay, R. (1997). The influence of poverty on children's classroom placement and behavior problems. In G. Duncan & J. Brooks-Gunn (Eds.), *Consequences of growing up poor* (pp. 311-339). New York: Russell Sage Foundation.

Pallas, A. M. (1989) Making schools more responsive to at-risk. *ERIC/CUE Digest, No.60. pp.* 100-120.

Patterson, C. J., Kupersmidt, J. B., & Vaden, N. A. (1990). Income level, gender, ethnicity, and household composition as predictors of children's school-based competence. *Child Development*, *55*, 1299-1307.

Peng, S. S. (1994). Understanding resilient students: The use of

national longitudinal database. In M.C. Wang & E.W. Gordon (Eds.), *Educational resilience in inner-city America: Challenges and prospects* (pp. 73-84). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Phinney, J. S., & Rosenthal, D. A. (1992). Ethnic identity in adolescence: Process, context, and outcome. In G. R. Adams, T. P. Gullotta, & R. Montemayor (Eds.), *Adolescent identity formation* (pp. 145-172). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Polk, K. (1965). *Those who fail, Mimeographed Report of the Lane County Youth Project.* Eugene, OR: Castalia Publishing Company.

Pollard, K. M., & O'Hare, W. P.(1990). *Beyond high School: The experience of rural and urban youth in the 1980's*. Staff working paper. Washington, DC: Population Reference Bureau, (ED 326 363).

Reissman, L (1953). Levels of Aspiration and Educational Attainment: A cross national analysis. *American Sociological Review*, *30*(2), 81-96.

Renchler, R. (1993). *Poverty and learning*. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service. No. ED 83)

Rice, P. F. (1978). *The adolescent: Development, relationships, and cultural.* University of Maine, Portland.

Riehl, R. J. (1994). The academic preparation, aspirations, and first-year performance of First-Generation Students. *College and University*, 70(1), 14-19.

Rivera-Batiz, F. L. & Santiago, C. (1994). *Puerto Ricans in the United States:* A changing reality. Washington, DC: National Puerto Rican Coalition.

Rollins, B. C., & Thomas, D. L. (1979). Parental support, power, and control techniques in the socialization of children. In W. R. Burr, R. Hill, F. I. Nye, & I. L. Reiss (Eds.), *Contemporary theories about the family* Vol. 1. p. 317-364). New York: Macmillan.

Rosenthal, D. A., & Feldman, S. S. (1991). The influence of perceived family and personal factors on self-reported school performance of Chinese and Western high school students. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *1*, 135-154.

Rumbaut, R. (1994). The crucible within: Ethnic identity, self-esteem, and segmented assimilation among children of immigrants. *International Migration Review*, *28*, 748-794.

Rumbaut, R. G. (1995). The new Californians: Comparative research findings on the educational progress of immigrant children, In R. G. Rumbaut & W. A. Cornelius (Eds.), *California's immigrant children: Theory, research, and implications for educational policy* (pp. 17-70). San Diego: Center for U.S. Studies, University of California.

Rumberger, R. W. (1983). Dropping out of high school: The influences of race, sex, and family background. *American Educational Research Journal*, 20, 199-220.

Scarr, S. (1995). Constructing psychology: Making facts and fables for our times. *American Psychologist, 40*, 499-512.

Scarr, S., & Weinberg, R. A. (1978). The influence of family background on intellectual attainment. *American Sociological Review*, *43*, 674-692.

Seginer, R. (1983). Parent's educational expectations and children's academic achievements: A literature review. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 29, 1-23.

Sewell, W. H., & Hauser, R. M. (1975). *Education, occupation and earning:* Achievement in the early career. New York: Academic Press.

Sewell, W. H., & Hauser, R. M. (1980). The Wisconsin longitudinal study of social and psychological factors in aspirations and achievements. *Research in Sociology of Education and Socialization*, *1*, 59-99.

Shaw, L. B. (1982). High school completion for young women: Effects of lowincome and living with single parent. *Journal of Family Issues*, *3*, 147-163.

Shinn, M. (1978). <u>Father absence and children's cognitive development</u>. *Psychological Bulletin, 85*, 295-324.

Siegal, M. (1985). *Children, parenthood and social welfare*. Oxford: Clarendon Press.

Slaughter-DeFoe, D., Makagawa, K., Takanishi, R., & Johnson, D. J. (1990). Toward cultural and ecological perspectives on schooling and achievement in African American and Asian-American children. *Child Development*, *61*, 363-383.

Smith, J., Brooks-Gunn, J., & Klebanov, P. (1997). Consequences of living in poverty for young children's cognitive and verbal ability and early school achievement. In G. Duncan & J. Brooks-Gunn (Eds.), *Consequences of growing up poor* (pp.132-189). New York: Russell Sage Foundation.

Smith, T. E. (1989). Mother-father differences in parental influences on school grades and educational goals. *Sociological Inquiry*, *59*(1) 88-98.

Smith, T. M. (1995). *Findings from the condition of education 1995, No. 4: The educational progress of Hispanic students.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. Office of Educational Research and Improvement.

Splete, H. & Freeman-George.(1985). Family influences on the Career development of young adults. *Journal of Career Development*, *12*(1), 55-64.

Spenner, K. I. & Featherman, D. L. (1978). Achievement ambitions. In (Eds.) R. Turner, J. S. Coleman, and R. Fox, *Annual Review of Sociology, Vol. 4*, (pp.56-79). Reviews. Palo Alto, CA.

Staats, S. et al. (1991). *Intent to get a degree, expectations, and attitude change*. Dayton, OH: Wright State University.

Steinberg, L. (1990). Interdependency in the family: Autonomy, conflict, and harmony in the parent-adolescent relationship. In S. Feldman & G. Elliot (Eds.), *At the threshold: The developing adolescent* (pp 143-160) Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Steinberg, L. Mounts, N. S., Lamborn, S. D., Dornbusch, S. M. (1991). Authoritative parenting and adolescent adjustment across varied ecological niches. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *1*(1), 19-36.

Sternberg, R. J. (1988). The triarchic view of intelligence in cross-cultural perspective. In S. H. Irvine & Berry (Eds.) *Human abilities in cultural context* (pp. 420-455). New York: Cambridge University Press.

Stevenson, D., & Baker, D. (1987). The family-school relation and the child's school performance. *Child Development, 58,* 1348-1357.

Suarez-Orozco, M. M. (1989). Central American refugees and U. S. high schools: A psychosocial study of motivation and achievement. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.

Tesser, A. (1980). Self-esteem maintenance in family dynamics. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 39, 77-91.

The College Board (1992). *Profile of SAT and achievement test takers-National report*. New York: College Entrance Exam Board.

Thomas, A, (1992). *Children's needs II : development, problems, and alternatives*. Bethesda, MD: National Association of School Psychologists.

Toby, J. (1957). Orientation to education as a factor in the school maladjustment of lower-class children. *Social Forces*, *35*(3), 266-270.

Trotman, F. (1977). Race, IQ, and the middle class. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 69, 266-273.

Turiel, E. (1983). *The development of social knowledge; morality and convention*. New York : Cambridge University Press

U.S. Bureau of the Census. (1993). *We the American: Foreign born.* Washington, DC: The Urban Institute Press.

U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, (1995). *Student strategies to avoid harm at school* (NCES 95-203). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census. (1991, March). Educational attainment in the United States (Current Population Reports, Series p-20, No. 451). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

U.S. Bureau of the Census. (1996). *Statistical abstract of the United States: 1996.* Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

U.S. Bureau of Census. (1997). Current population reports: The foreign-born population: 1996. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census (1991). *Census* Bureau releases refined estimates from post-enumeration survey of 1990 Census coverage. U.S. Department of Commerce News (Press Release CB91-221). Washington, DC: Author.

U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census (1996). *Census* Bureau releases refined estimates from post-enumeration survey of 1990 Census coverage Washington, DC: Author.

U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (1985). *National Household Education Survey*. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Vasquez, O. A. (1990). Connecting oral language strategies to literacy: An ethnographic study among four Mexican immigrant families. Doctoral dissertation, Stanford University, CA.

Velez, W. (1989). High school attrition among Hispanic and non-Hispanic White youths. *Sociology of Education, 62*, 119-133.

Volk, D. (1994). A case study of parent involvement in the homes of three Puerto Rican kindergartners. *Journal of Educational Issues of Language Minority Students*, *14*, 89-114.

Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processess*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Press.

Walters, M. (1988). Single-parent, female headed households. In M. Walters (Ed.), *The invisible web: gender patterns in family relationships* (pp. 124-135). New York: Guilford Press.

Water, M. C. (1994). Ethnic and racial identities of second-generation black immigrants in New York City. *International Migration Review*, 28, 795-820.

Watson, T., Brown, M., & Swick, K. J. (1983). The relationship of parents' support to children's school achievement. *Child Welfare*, *62*, 175-180.

Weinhert, F. E., & Trieber, B. (1982). School socialization and cognitive development. In W. Hartup (Ed.), *Review of child development research* (Vol. 6), (pp. 704-758). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

White, K. R. (1982). The relation between socioeconomic status and academic achievement. *Psychological Bulletin*, *91*, 461-481.

Whiting, B. B., & Whiting, J. W. M. (1975). *Children of six cultures*. Cambridge: Harvard University.

Whitmire, R. (1999, October 26). Minority priority in school districts: Nationwide coalition targets middle-class Blacks and Latino. USA TODAY, p. 8D.

Williams, P. (1963). School drop-outs. NEA Journal. 52(2), 10-12.

Williamson, S. (1994). *Student achievement and the changing America family*. Santa Monica: RAND.

Winfield, L. F. (1991). Resilience, schooling, and development in African-American youth: A conceptual framework. *Education and Urban Society*, 24, 5-14.

Winocur, S. & Siegal, M. (1982). Adolescents' judgements of economic arrangements. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, *5*, 351-65.

Wolf, R. M. (1964). The identification and measurement of environmental process variables related to intelligence. Doctoral dissertation. University of Chicago.

Young, B. A. & Smith., T. M (1997). The social context of education. *The Condition of Education*, *3*, 1-27.

Youniss, J. & Smollar, J. (1985). *Adolescent relations with mothers, fathers, and friends*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Zayas, L. H., & Palleja, J. (1988). Puerto Rican familism: Considerations for family therapy. *Family Relations*, *37*, 260-264.

Zea, M. C., Jarama, S. L., & Bianchi, F. T. (1995). Social support and psychosocial competence: Explaining the adaptation to college of ethnically diverse students. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 23, 509-531.

Zimilies, H., & Lee, V. E. (1991). Adolescent family structure and educational progress. *Development Psychology*, 27(5), 314-320.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to my co-major professors, Drs. Dan Robinson and George Jackson, for their belief in me and persistence to see me through to completion, from 1995 – 2001. To my committee, Drs. Larry Ebbers, Beverly Kruempel, Martin Miller, and Mack Shelley, thank you for your support of this research and valuable suggestions.

To my editor, Pat Hahn, thank you for your tireless efforts to improve the quality of the written dissertation. I learned a lot about the editing process to publish my research.

To my children, Nadia and Amir, my success is your success. If the outcomes of this research find their way home, you have an exciting future ahead of you. May you delight in education as I have.

To my mom, thank you for your prayers, and especially for providing the building blocks to my educational and spiritual growth. To my dad, I know you're looking down on your family. Even though you are not here, your presence is felt.

Finally to my wife, Velma, the road may have been rocky at times, but the journey was better because of you. Your love and companionship made a difference!